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Q4 2024
HIGHLIGHTS

$103.4M
Investments

7.93%
Weighted Average 

Cap Rate

~98%
Occupancy Rate

$0.33
AFFO Per Share

Dear Shareholders,
It is with gratitude and appreciation that we present you with our first annual shareholder letter as a publicly traded
company. 2024 was no doubt a transformative period for FrontView, marking a successful initial public offering in a
high-interest rate environment to pave the way to begin our journey as a listed real estate investment trust. We are
honored by the trust you have placed in us and are committed to delivering long-term shareholder value through
disciplined investment, strategic growth, and steadfast operational execution.

Our public listing has provided us with increased financial flexibility and access to the capital markets, providing us with
strategic growth opportunities. Our entry into the public markets reflects the strength of our portfolio, our experienced
leadership team and our ability to source and capitalize on value enhancing opportunities in the net-lease real estate
sector.

At FrontView, we are dedicated to identifying and investing in high-quality, income-producing properties with frontage
that deliver sustainable, long-term returns. Our portfolio is diversified across key categories such as industry, geography,
tenant and credit. We maintain our disciplined approach to acquisitions to ensure that we maximize value for our
shareholders while maintaining financial prudence.

2024 was largely a foundational year for us. During Q4, our first quarter as a public company, we were successfully
able to acquire over $103 million of properties with frontage and heavy diversification at an average cap rate of
approximately 7.93%. At year end, our portfolio grew to 307 investments covering 2.4 million square feet of retail
space across 35 states. The ABR weighted average lease term, pursuant to leases on properties in the portfolio as of
December 31, 2024, was 7.2 years. As we move forward, we will continue to focus on prudent capital allocation,
operational efficiencies, and optimizing our portfolio to drive shareholder returns.

As we enter 2025, we continue to see opportunities in the fragmented marketplace where we typically compete against
less sophisticated investors with capital constraints, rather than established, well capitalized REITs -- providing us the
opportunity to take advantage of favorable acquisition pricing. In the normal course of business, certain properties will
be re-tenanted or disposed of, and our management team has the operational expertise and experience to successfully
repurpose, rebalance and recycle certain assets in the portfolio to minimize down times and maximize their values. Further
we continue to actively monitor and review credit for both new acquisitions and existing assets.

We are confident in our ability to execute on our strategy and deliver consistent results even in the tumultuous economic
landscape we are currently working through. Our leadership team remains committed to transparency, disciplined
growth, productive asset management and strong corporate governance, ensuring that FrontView remains a trusted
investment for our shareholders, regardless of market conditions.

We are grateful to our investors, employees and partners who have supported us on our journey. Your confidence and
belief in FrontView fuel our passion, ambition and dedication for our Company. We look forward to building a
prosperous future together and appreciate your continued trust in our vision.

Best,

Stephen Preston Randall Starr

Chairman, Co-Chief Executive Officer, and Co-President Co-Chief Executive Officer and Co-President

FrontView REIT FrontView REIT
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements, which reflect our current views regarding our 
business, financial performance, growth prospects and strategies, market opportunities, and market trends, that are intended to be 
made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and 
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Forward-looking statements include all 
statements that are not historical facts. In some cases, you can identify these forward-looking statements by the use of words such 
as “outlook,” “believes,” “expects,” “potential,” “continues,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “seeks,” “approximately,” 
“projects,” “predicts,” “intends,” “plans,” “estimates,” “anticipates,” or the negative version of these words or other comparable 
words. All of the forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are subject to various risks and 
uncertainties. Assumptions relating to the foregoing involve judgments with respect to, among other things, future economic, 
competitive and market conditions, and future business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict accurately and 
many of which are beyond our control. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are 
based on reasonable assumptions, our actual results, performance, and achievements could differ materially from those expressed 
in or by the forward-looking statements and may be affected by a variety of risks and other factors. Accordingly, there are or will 
be important factors that could cause actual outcomes or results to differ materially from such forward-looking statements.

Important factors that could cause results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements are described in Item 1. 
“Business,” Item 1A. “Risk Factors,” and Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The “Risk Factors” section should not be construed as exhaustive and should be 
read in conjunction with other cautionary statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K. All forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the risk that actual results, 
performance, and achievements will differ materially from the expectations expressed in or referenced by this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K will increase with the passage of time. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or review any forward-looking 
statement, whether as a result of new information, future developments, or otherwise, except as required by law.

Regulation FD Disclosures

We use any of the following to comply with our disclosure obligations under Regulation FD: U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission (“SEC”) filings, press releases, public conference calls, or our website. We routinely post important information on 
our website at www.frontviewreit.com, including information that may be deemed material. We encourage our shareholders and 
others interested in our company to monitor these distribution channels for material disclosures. Our website address is included in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K as a textual reference only and the information on the website is not incorporated by reference 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Explanatory Note and Certain Defined Terms

Unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms and phrases are used throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K as 
described below:

“50/50 Joint Venture” means the joint venture previously held by our predecessor and entities representing certain 
Canadian investors for the ownership of 54 properties;

“50/50 Joint Venture Acquisition” means our predecessor’s acquisition, for cash, of the remaining 50% interest held 
indirectly by our predecessor in the 50/50 Joint Venture;

"ABS Notes" means the $264.0 million net-lease mortgage notes, dated December 9, 2019 and among the Predecessor, 
50/50 Joint Venture and the Indenture Trustee.

“Adjusted SOFR” means the referenced SOFR rate plus an adjustment of 0.10% based on market convention at the 
time of entering into our Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan;

“annualized base rent” or “ABR” means the annualized contractual cash rent due for the last month of the reporting 
period, and adjusted to remove rent from properties sold during the month and to include a full month of contractual 
cash rent for properties acquired during the last month of the reporting period;

“Canadian Investment Entities” means the intermediate entities through which Canadian investors will hold interests 
in the OP that will be issued pursuant to the REIT Contribution Transactions;

“cash capitalization rate” represents the estimated first year cash yield to be generated on a real estate acquisition, 
which was estimated at the time of acquisition based on the contractually specified cash base rent for the first full year 
after the date of the acquisition, divided by the purchase price for the property excluding capitalized costs;
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“CIBC Revolving Credit Facility” means the $202.5 million secured revolving credit facility, dated March 8, 2021 and 
amended on July 31, 2021 by and among the OP, CIBC Bank USA, as Administrative Agent and the other Lenders 
parties thereto, as amended from time to time;

“CIBC Term Loan” means the $17.0 million loan and security facility, dated as of March 31, 2022 by and among the 
50/50 Joint Venture and CIBC Bank USA, as Administrative Agent, and the other parties thereto, as amended from 
time to time;

“Contribution Agreements” means (i) the Contribution Agreement, dated as of the closing date of our initial public 
offering, by and between certain individual investors in our predecessor and the OP, (ii) the Contribution Agreement, 
dated as of closing date of our initial public offering, by and between the individual investors in one of the Subsidiary 
REITs and the OP, (iii) the Contribution Agreement, dated as of the closing date of our initial public offering, by and 
between one of the Canadian Investment Entities and the OP, and (iv) the Contribution Agreement, dated as of the 
closing date of our initial public offering, by and between the other Canadian Investment Entity and the OP;

“CPI” means the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U): U.S. City Average, All Items, as published 
by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, or other similar index which is a measure of the average change over time in 
the prices paid by urban consumers for a market basket of consumer goods and services;

“Internalization” means the internalization of the external management team, assets and functions previously performed 
for our predecessor by our external manager and its affiliates, pursuant to the terms of the Internalization Agreement, 
which closed contemporaneously with the closing of our initial public offering;

“occupancy” or a specified percentage of our portfolio that is “occupied” or “leased” means as of a specified date (i) 
the number of properties that are subject to a signed lease divided by (ii) the total number of properties in our portfolio;

“Predecessor” means NADG NNN Property Fund LP, a Delaware limited partnership, and its subsidiaries;

“properties” means individual building properties (small or large formats) leased to one or more tenants that are in 
locations with direct frontage on high-traffic roads that are visible to consumers;

“REIT Contribution Transactions” means the contributions of the interests in entities within our Predecessor's private 
REIT fund structure that directly or indirectly own our Predecessor's properties pursuant to the terms of the Contribution 
Agreements, which closed contemporaneously with the closing of our initial public offering;

“Revolving Credit Facility” means our $250 million unsecured revolving credit facility under the Credit Agreement 
that became effective concurrently with the completion of our initial public offering;

“SOFR” means the Secured Overnight Financing Rate, which is the applicable reference rate for borrowings under the 
Company’s Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan. SOFR durations used by the Company include daily simple 
SOFR and 1-month term SOFR, representing published market rates;

“Term Loan” means our $200 million unsecured term loan under the Credit Agreement that became effective 
concurrently with the completion of our initial public offering; and

“we,” “our,” “us,” “FrontView,” and “Company” mean FrontView REIT, Inc., a Maryland corporation, together with 
its consolidated subsidiaries, including the OP, after giving effect to the REIT Contribution Transactions and 
Internalization, except where it is clear from the context that the term only means FrontView REIT, Inc. before giving 
effect to such transactions.
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PART I

Item 1. Business.

BUSINESS AND PROPERTIES

Our Company

FrontView is an internally-managed net-lease real estate investment trust ("REIT") that is experienced in acquiring, owning 
and managing properties with frontage that are net leased to a diversified group of tenants. We have chosen the name “FrontView” 
to represent our differentiated “real estate first” investment approach focused on properties that are in prominent locations with 
direct frontage on high-traffic roads that are highly visible to consumers. We are a growing net-lease REIT and own a well-
diversified portfolio of 307 properties with direct frontage across 35 U.S. states as of December 31, 2024. Our tenants include 
service-oriented businesses, such as restaurants, cellular stores, financial institutions, automotive stores and dealers, medical and 
dental providers, convenience and gas stores, car washes, home improvement stores, grocery stores, professional services, fitness 
operators as well as general retail tenants. 

We focus on investing primarily in well-located, net-leased properties with frontage that provide high visibility to consumers. 
We believe our tenants value the prominent location of our properties with frontage on high-traffic roads that are highly visible to 
consumers and drive demand for their core business operations. In addition, our tenants are able to retain operational control of 
their strategically important locations through long-term net leases.

As of December 31, 2024, our portfolio comprised approximately 2.4 million rentable square feet of operational space and 
was highly diversified based on tenant, industry, and geography. As of December 31, 2024, our properties were located in 109 
MSAs in 35 U.S. states, with no single state exceeding 13.2% of our ABR. Our portfolio’s occupancy rate was 97.7% as of 
December 31, 2024. Our properties were leased to 320 tenants that represented 150 different brands, with no single tenant brand 
accounting for more than 2.9% of our ABR. As of December 31, 2024, approximately 33.1% of our tenants had an investment-
grade credit rating. As of December 31, 2024, approximately 97.3% of our leases (based on ABR) had contractual rent escalations, 
including, in some cases, pursuant to option terms. As of December 31, 2024, the ABR weighted average remaining term of our 
leases was approximately 7.2 years, excluding renewal options, and approximately 96.1% of such leases (based on ABR) have 
renewal options. As of December 31, 2024, no more than 11.7% of our rental revenue was derived from leases that expire in any 
single year prior to 2030. For the year ended December 31, 2024, we had total rental revenues of $59.9 million, a net loss of $31.2 
million and funds from operations (“FFO”) of $2.0 million.

Our History

FrontView REIT, Inc. was formed on June 23, 2023 as a Maryland corporation. FrontView Operating Partnership LP (the 
“OP”), is the entity through which the Company conducts its business and owns all of the Company’s properties either directly or 
indirectly through subsidiaries. Upon the closing of the initial public offering (“IPO”), the Company is the sole managing member 
of the OP. The units not owned by the Company in the OP are referred to as OP Units or non-controlling interests. 

On October 2, 2024, the Company, through a series of REIT Contribution Transactions and completion of the Internalization, 
created an umbrella partnership real estate investment trust (“UPREIT”) structure with a publicly-traded REIT that is internally 
managed and owns all of its assets and conducts all of its business through the OP. 

On October 3, 2024, the Company completed its IPO on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol "FVR" 
and issued 13,200,000 shares of Common Stock at an initial public offering price of $19.00 per share (the “IPO Price”). As part of 
the IPO, the underwriters were granted an option, exercisable within 30 days from October 3, 2024, to purchase up to an additional 
1,980,000 shares of Common Stock at the IPO Price, less underwriting discounts and commissions. On October 23, 2024, the 
underwriters partially exercised their option by purchasing an additional 1,090,846 shares of common stock. We received total net 
proceeds of $271.5 million, net of transaction costs and underwriting discounts of $24.1 million.

Our Real Estate Investment Portfolio

To achieve an appropriate risk-adjusted return, we intend to maintain a highly-diversified portfolio of properties that are in 
prominent locations with direct frontage on high-traffic roads that are highly visible to consumers and maintain diversity across 
geographic locations, tenants, and brands and that have cross-diversification within each. We discuss below our portfolio 
diversification based on several different metrics and information provided as of December 31, 2024.
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Diversification by Tenant Brand

We primarily seek tenants that operate service-oriented businesses, such as restaurants, cellular stores, financial institutions, 
automotive stores and dealers, medical and dental providers, pharmacies, convenience and gas stores, car washes, home 
improvement stores, grocery stores, professional services, fitness operators as well as general retail tenants. As of December 31, 
2024, our properties were occupied by 320 tenants that operated 150 different brands, with no single tenant brand accounting for 
more than 2.9% of our ABR.

The following table sets forth information with respect to each of our top 20 tenant brands (based on ABR) as of December 31, 
2024:

(in thousands, except for percentages and # of properties)

Tenant Brand # of Properties(1) Square Feet ABR % of ABR % of Square Feet
Fast Pace Urgent Care 8 29 $ 1,723 2.9% 1.2%
Verizon 8 35 1,581 2.7% 1.5%
Adams Auto Group 3 29 1,412 2.4% 1.3%
Oak Street Health 5.5 66 1,314 2.2% 2.8%
IHOP 6 33 1,213 2.1% 1.4%
Mammoth Car Wash 6 22 1,205 2.0% 0.9%
Raising Canes 6 21 1,202 2.0% 0.9%
Dollar Tree 8 95 1,096 1.9% 4.0%
CVS 4 42 1,081 1.8% 1.7%
AT&T 4 24 1,063 1.8% 1.0%
T-Mobile 7.5 26 1,031 1.8% 1.1%
Chili's 3 18 973 1.7% 0.7%
Bank of America 4 21 966 1.6% 0.9%
Wendy's 7 21 942 1.6% 0.9%
Wells Fargo 2.5 13 871 1.5% 0.5%
Advance Auto Parts 7 66 857 1.5% 2.7%
Walgreens 3 38 854 1.5% 1.6%
St. Joseph Hospice 2 37 832 1.4% 1.5%
Heartland Dental 5 20 792 1.3% 0.8%
Burger King 5 20 762 1.3% 0.8%
Other 202.5 1725 37,073 63.0% 71.8%
Total 307 2,401 $ 58,843 100.0% 100.0%

(1) Includes two-tenant properties.
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Diversification by Tenant Industry

The following chart shows a breakdown of our ABR by the tenant industries that comprised our portfolio as of December 31, 
2024:

Industry Pie Chart
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Diversification by Geography

As of December 31, 2024, our properties were located in 109 MSAs in 35 U.S. states, with no single state exceeding 13.2% 
of our ABR. The following table sets forth information with respect to geographic diversification by state in our portfolio (based 
on ABR) as of December 31, 2024:

(in thousands, except for percentages and # of properties)

State # of Properties(1) Square Feet ABR % of Square Feet % of ABR
IL 32 313 $ 7,794 13.0% 13.2%
TX 23 131 4,748 5.5% 8.1%
GA 24 150 4,425 6.3% 7.6%
NC 17 94 3,350 4.0% 5.7%
OH 22 129 3,163 5.4% 5.4%
TN 17 93 3,125 3.9% 5.4%
PA 8 145 2,494 6.0% 4.3%
VA 15 76 2,382 3.2% 4.1%
IN 14 77 2,338 3.2% 4.0%
FL 14 96 2,087 4.0% 3.5%
NY 8 242 2,082 10.1% 3.5%
MO 10 60 1,872 2.5% 3.2%
AL 11 49 1,776 2.0% 3.0%
NJ 10 55 1,658 2.3% 2.8%
SC 10 73 1,588 3.0% 2.7%
OK 8 38 1,543 1.6% 2.6%
AZ 7 43 1,490 1.8% 2.5%
MN 7 72 1,445 3.0% 2.5%
MD 6 46 1,313 1.9% 2.2%
LA 4 47 1,193 2.0% 2.0%
KY 8 40 1,067 1.7% 1.8%
MI 7 34 1,051 1.4% 1.8%
ME 3 186 907 7.7% 1.5%
KS 5 25 668 1.0% 1.1%
CT 3 9 590 0.4% 1.0%
CO 3 13 469 0.5% 0.8%
ID 1 6 424 0.2% 0.7%
MS 2 13 417 0.5% 0.7%
UT 2 22 336 0.9% 0.6%
NV 1 4 246 0.2% 0.4%
AR 1 3 218 0.1% 0.4%
RI 1 1 182 0.0% 0.3%
NE 1 9 144 0.4% 0.2%
MA 1 2 143 0.1% 0.2%
WI 1 5 115 0.2% 0.2%
Total 307 2,401 $ 58,843 100.0% 100.0%

(1) Includes two-tenant properties.

Property Acquisitions

Our acquisitions team presents potential transactions to the Real Estate Investment Committee for approval. Subsequent to 
December 31, 2024, the board of directors approved revisions to the thresholds that the Real Estate Investment Committee is 
required to approve. The Real Estate Investment Committee is now responsible for approving (i) the acquisition or disposition of 
any single property greater than $5.0 million, (ii) the acquisition of properties in the aggregate amount up to $150.0 million in any 
one calendar quarter, and (iii) the disposition of properties in an aggregate amount up to $30.0 million in any one calendar quarter, 
in each case, prior to consulting with our board of directors. Further, the Real Estate Investment Committee is responsible for 
recommending that the full board of directors approve, (i) individual property acquisitions or dispositions that exceed $25.0 million 
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in value, (ii) the acquisition of properties that exceed an aggregate amount of $150.0 million in any one calendar quarter and (iii) 
disposition of properties that exceed an aggregate amount of $30.0 million in any one calendar quarter.

Our Leases

Lease Maturity

Our portfolio was approximately 97.7% leased as of December 31, 2024. Our cash flows from operations are primarily 
generated through our real estate investment portfolio and the monthly lease payments received under our long-term leases with 
our tenants. As of December 31, 2024, the ABR weighted average remaining term of our leases was approximately 7.2 years, 
excluding renewal options, and approximately 96.1% of such leases (based on ABR) have renewal options. As of December 31, 
2024, no more than 11.7% of our rental revenue was derived from leases that expire in any single year prior to 2030.

Substantially all of our leases are net, meaning our tenants are generally obligated to pay all expenses associated with the 
leased property (such as real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance, repairs and capital costs). As of December 31, 2024, the ABR 
weighted average remaining term of our leases was approximately 7.2 years, excluding renewal options. One lease representing 
approximately 0.2% of our ABR expired prior to December 31, 2024, but approximately 100% of such leases (based on ABR) have 
renewal options which they can exercise to extend their lease terms. As of December 31, 2024, approximately 3.9% of our rental 
revenue was derived from the properties in our portfolio that are subject to leases without at least one renewal option.

The following chart sets forth our annual lease expirations based upon the terms of our leases in place as of December 31, 
2024 (percentages based on rental revenue):
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The following table presents certain information as of December 31, 2024 based on lease expirations by year.

(in thousands, except for percentages)

Year ABR % of ABR Square Feet % of Square Feet
2024 $ 159 0.2% 3 0.1%
2025 1,631 2.8% 43 1.8%
2026 3,198 5.4% 108 4.5%
2027 6,875 11.7% 382 16.0%
2028 4,587 7.8% 159 6.6%
2029 6,048 10.3% 210 8.7%
2030 5,885 10.0% 194 8.1%
2031 4,729 8.0% 149 6.2%
2032 5,344 9.1% 415 17.3%
2033 2,786 4.7% 85 3.5%
2034 3,623 6.2% 133 5.5%
2035 894 1.5% 49 2.0%
2036 1,645 2.8% 46 1.9%
2037 2,160 3.7% 88 3.7%
2038 2,939 5.0% 167 7.0%
2039 1,954 3.3% 39 1.6%
Thereafter 4,386 7.5% 104 4.4%
Untenanted Properties 0 0.0% 27 1.1%
Total $ 58,843 100.0% 2,401 100.0%

We typically purchase properties that are subject to existing long-term net leases with a variety of remaining lease years (initial 
terms of 10 years or more at lease signing that often have renewal options as well). Substantially all of our leases are net leases, 
meaning our tenant generally is obligated to pay customary expenses associated with the leased property (such as real estate taxes, 
insurance, maintenance, and in many cases, repairs and capital costs, subject to caps and exclusions in leases). For the year ended 
December 31, 2024, we incurred an aggregate of approximately $1.7 million of expenses not reimbursed or paid by our tenants.

Approximately 97.3% of our leases (based on ABR) have rent escalations, including in some cases, pursuant to options terms, 
and generally ranging from 1.0% to 3.0% annually.
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The following chart breaks down the type of rent increase provided in our leases (based on ABR) as of December 31, 2024:

Lease Escalations

(1) Includes 9.8% of leases that have rent escalations during their renewal periods.

In general, when negotiating a new lease or an amendment to an existing lease in connection with an acquisition, 
redevelopment or new development, we seek to negotiate, among other things, relatively long lease terms and tenant renewal 
options; market rents; annual rent escalation provisions; landlord-favorable going dark, assignment, change of control provisions; 
limited or no exclusive or co-tenancy clauses that favor the tenant, and obligations for certain tenants and certain guarantors to 
periodically provide us with financial information.

We may seek to use master lease structures where it fits market practice in the particular property type, pursuant to which we 
seek to lease multiple properties to an individual tenant on an all or none basis. In a master lease structure, a tenant is responsible 
for a single lease payment relating to the entire portfolio of leased properties, as opposed to multiple lease payments relating to 
individually leased properties. The master lease structure prevents a tenant from “cherry picking” locations, where it unilaterally 
gives up underperforming properties while maintaining its leasehold interest in well-performing properties.

Competition

The market for properties with frontage and other properties in the U.S. is highly competitive. We compete for tenants to 
occupy our properties in all of our markets with other owners and operators of commercial real estate, as well as owner-occupied 
businesses. We compete based on a number of factors that include but are not limited to location, market and trade area, 
demographics, rental rates, security, tenant type and credit, suitability of the property’s design and configuration to prospective 
tenants’ needs, land size, building size, and the manner in which the property is operated and marketed. The number of competing 
properties in a particular market could have a material effect on our occupancy levels, rental rates, and the operating expenses of 
certain of our properties.
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In addition, we compete for acquisition opportunities with a diverse group of other entities engaged in real estate investment 
activities to locate suitable properties to acquire and purchasers to buy our properties. These competitors include other REITs, 
private and institutional real estate investors, sovereign wealth funds, banks, mortgage bankers, insurance companies, investment 
banking firms, lenders, specialty finance companies, individuals, family offices, and other entities. Some of these competitors, 
including larger REITs, have substantially greater financial resources, including lower cost of capital, than we have. The relative 
size of their portfolios may allow them to absorb properties with lower returns or allow them to accept more risk on properties than 
we can prudently manage. In addition, these same entities may seek financing through similar channels to us. Competition from 
these REITs and other third-party real estate investors may limit the number of suitable investment opportunities available to us. It 
also may result in higher prices, lower yields, and a narrower spread of yields over our borrowing costs, making it more difficult 
for us to acquire new investments on attractive terms.

Human Capital 

As of December 31, 2024, we employed 15 full-time employees comprised of professional employees engaged in origination, 
underwriting, closing, accounting and financial reporting, portfolio and asset management, capital markets, and other corporate 
activities essential to our business. In addition, we have an outsourcing agreement with North American Asset Management Corp. 
(“NAAM”), an affiliate of our Predecessor. NAAM provides us with services limited to (i) property accounting and (ii) human 
resources support. 

Our commitment to our employees is central to our ability to continue to deliver strong performance and financial results for 
our stockholders and other stakeholders. We are as passionate about our people as we are about real estate. We seek to create and 
cultivate an engaging work environment for our employees, which allows us to attract, retain, and develop top talent to manage our 
business. To do that, we believe it is essential that we develop and maintain a culture that lives up to our values of performance 
excellence, integrity, respect, leadership, humility, and transparency. We are committed to providing our employees with an 
environment that is free from discrimination and harassment, that respects and honors their differences and unique life experiences, 
and that enables every employee the opportunity to develop and excel in their role and reach their full potential. We believe that 
we have created a collaborative, creative workplace where people with unique talents can flourish, where their opinions are valued, 
and where their contributions are rewarded.

We have focused on building a diverse team and will continue with this methodology as our team expands. Our work 
environment reflects a high regard for employees’ health and safety, both physically and emotionally. In addition, we hold the 
highest standards to ensure we use accurate and transparent accounting methods, pursues integrity and diversity and are accountable 
to our stockholders, partners, investors and lenders.

As part of our commitment to our employees, we are focused on the following:

Career Development. We strive to create an engaging work experience that allows for career development and related 
opportunities. We offer numerous opportunities for our employees to engage in personal and professional development, 
including participating in industry conferences and networking events, individual leadership and management training, 
lunch and learn meetings with our co-Chief Executive Officers and senior management team, group training 
(e.g., underwriting, real estate fundamentals, cybersecurity, ethics, harassment, computer skills), and mentorship 
opportunities. We work hard to find new talent early in their career, provide extensive training on procedures and systems 
unique to us with a goal to promote from within. Senior management annual performance reviews strive to create pay 
equity amongst equal level employees regardless of age or background.
Employee Wellness. We believe our employees are our most valuable asset and their individual and group contributions 
will drive our performance and success. As a result, we are focused on and invest in our team’s overall health, wellness, 
and engagement. We expect to employ certain strategies and initiatives to support our employees’ well-being, including, 
among other things, competitive employee health and other benefits, transparent communications between senior 
executives and employees, opportunities to participate in social events, including family-friendly corporate events, 
fitness classes, flexible work schedules, and access to other mental health resources, including an employee assistance 
program.
Community Engagement. Giving back to our communities is important to us and our employees. We encourage volunteer 
opportunities and fundraising initiatives throughout the year that provide our employees with meaningful civic 
involvement. Our community engagement efforts are led by our employees through a dedicated committee that is 
responsible for planning and organizing for our employees our various volunteer opportunities, civic involvement with 
non-profit organizations, and corporate donations.
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Principal Executive Offices

Our principal executive offices are located at 3131 McKinney Avenue, Suite L10, Dallas, TX 75204 and our telephone number 
is (214) 796-2445. We believe that our offices are adequate for our present and currently planned future operations and that adequate 
additional space will be available if needed in the future.

Insurance

Our tenants are generally required to maintain liability and property insurance coverage for the properties they lease from us 
pursuant to net leases. These leases generally require our tenants to name us (and any of our lenders that have a mortgage on the 
property leased by the tenant) as additional insureds on their liability policies and additional named insureds and/or loss payees (or 
mortgagee, in the case of our lenders) on their property policies. Depending on the location of the property, losses of a catastrophic 
nature, such as those caused by casualty, earthquakes and floods, may be covered by insurance policies that are held by our tenant 
with limitations such as large deductibles or co-payments that a tenant may not be able to meet. In addition, losses of a catastrophic 
nature, such as those caused by wind/hail, hurricanes, terrorism or acts of war, may be uninsurable or not economically insurable. 
In the event there is damage to our properties that is not covered by insurance and such properties are subject to recourse 
indebtedness, we will continue to be liable for the indebtedness, even if these properties are irreparably damaged.

In addition to being a named insured on our tenants’ liability policies, we separately maintain commercial general liability 
coverage and, in certain instances, general or specific (e.g., flood) property-level insurance coverage on certain properties or 
pursuant to the terms of certain of our leases. We also maintain full property coverage on all untenanted properties and other 
property coverage as may be required by our lenders, which are not required to be carried by our tenants under our leases.

Regulation

General

Our investments are subject to various laws, ordinances, and regulations, including, among other things, fire and safety 
requirements, zoning regulations, land use controls, and environmental controls relating to air and water quality, noise pollution, 
and indirect environmental impacts. We believe that we have the permits and approvals necessary under current law to operate our 
investments.

Americans with Disabilities Act

Under Title III of the ADA, and rules promulgated thereunder, in order to protect individuals with disabilities, public 
accommodations must remove architectural and communication barriers that are structural in nature from existing places of public 
accommodation to the extent “readily achievable.” In addition, under the ADA, alterations to a place of public accommodation or 
a commercial facility are to be made so that, to the maximum extent feasible, such altered portions are readily accessible to and 
usable by disabled individuals. The “readily achievable” standard takes into account, among other factors, the financial resources 
of the affected site and the owner, lessor or other applicable person.

Compliance with the ADA, as well as other federal, state, and local laws, may require modifications to properties we currently 
own or may purchase, or may restrict renovations of those properties. A significant portion of our leases provide that the landlord 
is responsible for any modifications required to cause the properties to comply with the ADA, and the costs of compliance with the 
ADA are typically excluded from common area expenses that can be passed through to the tenants. If changes are required to cause 
those properties to comply with the ADA, we would be required to expend our own funds to comply therewith without 
reimbursement by tenants, which could materially and adversely affect us. If changes are required at properties where the tenants 
are responsible for compliance with the ADA, but those changes involve greater expenditures than anticipated or if the changes 
must be made on a more accelerated basis than anticipated, the ability of our tenants to cover costs could be adversely affected and 
we could be required to expense our own funds to cause the properties to comply with the ADA, which could materially and 
adversely affect us. Failure to comply with these laws or regulations could result in the imposition of fines or an award of damages 
to private litigants, as well as the incurrence of the costs of making modifications to attain compliance, and future legislation could 
impose additional obligations or restrictions on our properties. Although our tenants are generally responsible for all maintenance 
and repairs of the property pursuant to our lease, including compliance with the ADA and other similar laws or regulations, we 
could be held liable as the owner of the property for a failure of one of our tenants to comply with these laws or regulations.
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Tax Regulation

We intend to elect to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, (as amended, the “Code”) beginning with 
our short taxable year ending December 31, 2024. We believe that as of such date we have been organized and have operated in a 
manner to qualify for taxation as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We intend to continue to be organized and operate 
in such a manner. In order to qualify as a REIT, we are required under the Code, among other things, to distribute annually at least 
90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding any net capital gain. In 
addition, we will be subject to income tax at the corporate rate to the extent that we distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable 
income, determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and including any net capital gain. As a result of our distribution 
requirements, we rely, in part, on third-party sources to fund our capital needs. Additionally, if we were to lose REIT status we 
would face significant tax consequences that would substantially reduce our cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

Environmental Matters

Federal, state, and local environmental laws and regulations regulate, and impose liability for, releases of hazardous or toxic 
substances into the environment. Under various of these laws and regulations, a current or previous owner, operator or tenant of 
real estate may be required to investigate and clean up or otherwise address hazardous or toxic substances, hazardous wastes or 
petroleum product releases or threats of releases at the property, and may be held liable to a government entity or to third parties 
for property damage and for investigation, clean-up, and monitoring costs incurred by those parties in connection with the actual 
or threatened contamination. These laws may impose clean-up responsibility and liability without regard to fault, or whether or not 
the owner, operator, or tenant knew of or caused the presence of the contamination. The liability under these laws may be joint and 
several for the full amount of the investigation, clean-up, and monitoring costs incurred or to be incurred or actions to be undertaken, 
although a party held jointly and severally liable may seek to obtain contributions from other identified, solvent, responsible parties 
of their fair share toward these costs. These costs may be substantial and can exceed the value of the property. In addition, some 
environmental laws may create a lien on the contaminated site in favor of the government for damages and costs it incurs in 
connection with the contamination. As the owner of real estate, we also may be liable under common law to third parties for 
damages and injuries resulting from environmental contamination emanating from the real estate. The presence of contamination, 
or the failure to properly remediate contamination, on a property may adversely affect the ability of the owner, operator or tenant 
to sell or rent that property or to borrow using the property as collateral and may adversely impact our investment in that property.

Some of our properties contain, have contained, or are adjacent to or near other properties that have contained or currently 
contain storage tanks for the storage of petroleum products or other hazardous or toxic substances, such as perchloroethylene or 
other chemicals used in dry cleaning facilities. Similarly, some of our properties currently are or were used in the past for 
commercial or industrial purposes that involve or involved the use of petroleum products or other hazardous or toxic substances, or 
are adjacent to or near properties that have been or are used for similar commercial or industrial purposes. These operations create 
a potential for the release of petroleum products or other hazardous or toxic substances, and we could potentially be required to pay 
to clean up any contamination whether occurring on-site or on off-site if such substances have migrated from our properties. Further, 
we note that these past and current uses may prevent the use of the affected properties for certain uses in the future. In addition, 
environmental laws regulate a variety of activities that can occur on a property, including the storage of petroleum products or other 
hazardous or toxic substances, air emissions, water discharges, and exposure to lead-based paint. Such laws may impose fines or 
penalties for violations and may require permits or other governmental approvals to be obtained for the operation of a business 
involving such activities. Any of the foregoing matters could have a material adverse effect on us.

Environmental laws also govern the presence, maintenance, and removal of ACM. Federal regulations require building owners 
and those exercising control over a building’s management to identify and warn, through signs and labels, of potential hazards 
posed by workplace exposure to installed ACM in their building. The regulations also have employee training, record keeping, and 
due diligence requirements pertaining to ACM. Significant fines can be assessed for violation of these regulations. As a result of 
these regulations, building owners and those exercising control over a building’s management may be subject to an increased risk 
of personal injury lawsuits by workers and others exposed to ACM. The regulations may affect the value of a building containing 
ACM in which we have invested. Federal, state, and local laws and regulations also govern the removal, encapsulation, disturbance, 
handling, and/or disposal of ACM when those materials are in poor condition or in the event of construction, remodeling, 
renovation, or demolition of a building. These laws may impose liability for improper handling or a release into the environment 
of ACM and may provide for fines to, and for third parties to seek recovery from, owners or operators of real properties for personal 
injury or improper work exposure associated with ACM.
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When excessive moisture accumulates in buildings or on building materials, mold growth may occur, particularly if the 
moisture problem remains undiscovered or is not addressed over a period of time. Some molds may produce airborne toxins or 
irritants. Indoor air quality issues can also stem from inadequate ventilation, chemical contamination from indoor or outdoor 
sources, and other biological contaminants such as pollen, viruses, and bacteria. Indoor exposure to airborne toxins or irritants 
above certain levels can be alleged to cause a variety of adverse health effects and symptoms, including allergic or other reactions. 
As a result, the presence of significant mold or other airborne contaminants at any of our properties could require us to undertake a 
costly remediation program to contain or remove the mold or other airborne contaminants from the affected property or increase 
indoor ventilation. In addition, the presence of significant mold or other airborne contaminants could expose us to liability from 
our tenants, employees of our tenants, or others if property damage or personal injury occurs.

Before completing any property acquisition, we typically obtain environmental assessments in order to identify potential 
environmental concerns at the property. These assessments are carried out in accordance with the Standard Practice for 
Environmental Site Assessments (ASTM Practice E 1527-21) as set by ASTM International, formerly known as the American 
Society for Testing and Materials, and generally include a physical site inspection, a review of relevant federal, state, and local 
environmental and health agency database records, one or more interviews with appropriate site-related personnel, review of the 
property’s chain of title, and review of historical aerial photographs and other information on past uses of the property. These 
assessments are limited in scope. However, if recommended in the initial Phase I environmental site assessments, we may undertake 
additional assessments, such as soil and/or groundwater sampling or other limited subsurface investigations and ACM or mold 
surveys, to test for substances of concern. A prior owner or operator of a property or historical operations at or near our properties 
may have created a material environmental condition that is not known to us or the independent consultants preparing the site 
assessments. Material environmental conditions may have arisen after the review was completed or may arise in the future, and 
future laws, ordinances, or regulations may impose material additional environmental liability. We have obtained environmental 
insurance policies to insure against potential environmental risk or loss on certain properties in our initial portfolio, subject to each 
policy’s coverage conditions and limitations. Under certain circumstances we may obtain environmental insurance policies to insure 
against potential environmental risk or loss on additional properties, depending on the type of property, the availability and cost of 
the insurance, and various other factors we deem relevant. Our ultimate liability for environmental conditions may exceed the policy 
limits on any environmental insurance policies we obtain.

Generally, our leases require the lessee to comply with environmental law and provide that the lessee will indemnify us for 
any loss or expense we incur as a result of lessee’s violation of environmental law or the presence, use or release of hazardous 
materials on our property attributable to the lessee. If our lessees do not comply with environmental law, or we are unable to enforce 
the indemnification obligations of our lessees, our results of operations would be adversely affected. Our leases generally require 
the landlord or a third-party to undertake remediation for the presence, use or release of hazardous materials on our property by the 
landlord or by any party other than the lessee, provided that the lessee was not responsible for the contamination of the property. 
Of that subset of leases, most do not permit the landlord to pass the costs of remediation through to the tenant(s), and some permit 
the applicable to terminate the lease if remediation is not completed within a certain timeframe or if the tenant’s use of its premises 
is interrupted for a certain period of time. If we are required to undertake remediation or if a tenant is permitted to terminate its 
lease, we could be materially and adversely affected.

We cannot predict what other environmental legislation or regulations will be enacted in the future, how existing or future 
laws or regulations will be administered or interpreted, or what environmental conditions may be found to exist on the properties 
in the future. Compliance with existing and new laws and regulations may require us or our tenants to spend funds to remedy 
environmental problems. If we or our tenants were to become subject to significant environmental liabilities, we could be materially 
and adversely affected.

Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company

We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the JOBS Act, and as such we are eligible to take advantage of certain 
exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth 
companies, including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy 
statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and 
stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. The JOBS Act permits an emerging growth 
company such as us to take advantage of an extended transition period to comply with new or revised accounting standards 
applicable to public companies. We have elected to take advantage of this extended transition period. As a result of this election, 
our financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with public company effective dates for such new or 
revised standards. We may elect to comply with public company effective dates at any time, and such election would be irrevocable 
pursuant to Section 107(b) of the JOBS Act.
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We expect to remain an “emerging growth company” until the earliest to occur of (i) the last day of the fiscal year during 
which we have total annual gross revenue of $1.235 billion or more (subject to adjustment for inflation), (ii) the last day of the 
fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the first sale of our Common Stock pursuant to an effective registration statement, (iii) 
the date on which we have, during the previous three-year period, issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt, or (iv) the 
date on which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer.”

Company Information 

Our filings with the SEC, including our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 
8-K, and amendments to those reports, filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as well as our 
proxy statements, are accessible free of charge at https://investor.frontviewreit.com as soon as reasonably practicable after we 
electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. You may access materials we file with the SEC through the EDGAR 
database at the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov.

We have adopted our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct Policy to ensure that our business is conducted in accordance with 
the highest moral, legal, and ethical standards by our officers, directors, and employees. The Code of Ethics and Business Conduct 
Policy is available on our website, together with the charters of the Board of Director’s, Audit Committee, Compensation 
Committee, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, as well as other corporate governance policies and documents. 
Amendments to, and waivers granted to our directors and executive officers under our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct Policy, 
if any, will be posted in this area of our website. Copies of these materials are available in print to any stockholder who requests 
them. Stockholders should direct such requests in writing to Investor Relations Department, FrontView REIT, Inc., 3131 McKinney 
Avenue, Suite L10, Dallas, TX 75204. Investors may also call (214) 796-2445.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The following are some of the risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those 
presented in our forward-looking statements. You should consider carefully the risks described below and the other information in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes. The risks and uncertainties 
described below are not the only ones we face but do represent those risks and uncertainties that we believe are material to us. 
Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also harm our business.

Summary Risk Factors

Properties involve significant risks of tenant defaults and tenant vacancies, which could materially and adversely affect 
us.

We have limited opportunities to increase rents under our long-term leases with tenants, which could impede our growth 
and materially and adversely affect us.

Our financial results have and may continue to fluctuate in the future, which makes predicting our revenues, costs and 
expenses difficult, and any volatility in our future financial results could materially and adversely affect us.

We may not be able to achieve growth through acquisitions at a rate that is comparable to our historical results, which 
could materially and adversely affect us.

We may not be able to effectively manage our growth and any failure to do so could materially and adversely affect us.

As we continue to acquire properties pursuant to our growth strategy, our portfolio may become less diversified which 
could materially and adversely affect us.

The departure of any of our key personnel with long-standing business relationships could materially and adversely 
affect us.

Our portfolio is concentrated in certain states and MSAs and any adverse developments and/or economic downturns in 
these geographic markets could materially and adversely affect us.

Our portfolio of properties is also concentrated in certain tenant brands and industries, and any adverse developments 
relating to one or more of these brands or industries could materially and adversely affect us.

Our portfolio of properties is concentrated among tenants with non-investment grade credit ratings, and any adverse 
developments affecting the credit of these tenants could materially and adversely affect us.

The decrease in demand for restaurant properties may materially and adversely affect us.
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We may be unable to renew leases, re-lease properties as leases expire, or lease vacant spaces on favorable terms or at 
all, which, in each case, could materially and adversely affect us.

Our business is subject to significant re-leasing risk, particularly for specialty properties that are suitable for only one 
use, which could materially and adversely affect us.

We may experience tenant defaults, particularly from tenants that do not have an investment grade credit rating, which 
could materially and adversely affect us.

Security breaches and other technology disruptions could disrupt our operations, compromise our confidential 
information or information systems and expose us to liability, which could materially and adversely affect us.

The use of artificial intelligence, including the potential risk of use of AI by cybercriminals, presents risks and 
challenges that may adversely impact our business and operative results or that of our tenants.

Increases in interest rates may decrease the value of our properties, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Inflation may materially and adversely affect us and our tenants, which could materially and adversely affect us.

As of December 31, 2024, we had approximately $266.5 million principal balance of indebtedness outstanding (net of 
fees), which may expose us to the risk of default under our debt obligations.

Market conditions could adversely affect our ability to refinance existing indebtedness on acceptable terms or at all, 
which could materially and adversely affect us.

An increase in market interest rates could increase our interest costs on existing and future debt and could adversely 
affect our stock price, and a decrease in market interest rates could lead to additional competition for the acquisition of 
real estate, any of which could materially and adversely affect us.

Our Revolving Credit Facility and Delayed Draw Term Loan contain various covenants which, if not complied with, 
could accelerate our repayment obligations, thereby materially and adversely affecting us.

We are a holding company with no direct operations and rely on funds received from the OP to pay liabilities.

Failure to qualify as a REIT would materially and adversely affect us and the value of our Common Stock.

The market price and trading volume of shares of our Common Stock may be volatile.

We may not be able to make distributions to our stockholders at the times or in the amounts we expect, or at all.

Increases in market interest rates may result in a decrease in the value of shares of our Common Stock.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS AND PROPERTIES

Properties involve significant risks of tenant defaults and tenant vacancies, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Our portfolio consists of properties that are leased to one or more tenants, most of which are in a single building. As a result, 
our success depends on our tenants for substantially all of our revenue. The ability of our tenants to meet their obligations to us, 
including their obligations to pay rent, maintain certain insurance coverage, pay real estate taxes, and maintain the properties in a 
manner so as not to jeopardize their operating licenses or regulatory status depends on the performance of their business and 
industry, as well as general market and economic conditions, which are outside of our control. At any given time, any tenant may 
experience a downturn in its business that may weaken its operating results or the overall financial condition of individual properties 
or its business as a whole. As a result, a tenant may fail to make rental payments when due, decline to extend a lease upon its 
expiration, become insolvent, or declare bankruptcy. The financial failure of, or default in payment by, an individual tenant under 
its lease is likely to cause a significant or complete reduction in our rental revenue from that property, increased expenses incurred 
by that property, and a reduction in the value of the property. We may also experience difficulty or a significant delay in re-leasing 
or selling such property. The occurrence of one or more tenant defaults could materially and adversely affect us.

We have limited opportunities to increase rents under our long-term leases with tenants, which could impede our growth 
and materially and adversely affect us.

We typically purchase properties that are subject to existing long-term net leases with a variety of remaining lease years (initial 
lease terms of 10 years or more that often have renewal options as well). As of December 31, 2024, the ABR weighted average 
remaining term of our leases was approximately 7.2 years, excluding renewal options. As of December 31, 2024, approximately 
97.3% of our leases (based on ABR) had contractual rent escalations, including, in some cases, pursuant to options terms, with an 
ABR weighted average minimum increase of approximately 1.6%, as follows: (i) approximately 95.1% of our leases (based on 
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ABR) contained fixed annual rent increases or periodic escalations over the term of the lease (e.g., a 10% increase every five years), 
(ii) approximately 2.2% of our leases (based on ABR) contained annual lease escalations based on increases in the CPI, and (iii) 
the remaining approximately 2.7% of our leases (based on ABR) did not contain rent escalation provisions. However, these built-
in increases may be less than what we otherwise could achieve in the market. Most of our leases contain rent escalators that increase 
rent at a fixed amount on fixed dates, which may be less than prevailing market rates over the lease duration. For those leases that 
contain rent escalators based on CPI changes, our rent increases during periods of low inflation or deflation may be less than what 
we otherwise could achieve in the market. As a result, the long-term nature of our leases could impede our growth and materially 
and adversely affect us.

The weighted average remaining term of our leases is 7.2 years, excluding renewal options, which will require us to undertake 
more re-leasing efforts that could materially and adversely affect us.

The weighted average remaining term of our leases is 7.2 years, excluding renewal options, which is shorter than some other 
publicly-traded net-lease REITs. Because any of our tenants may not renew their lease, we anticipate our rental revenues may be 
affected by declines in market rental rates more quickly than if our leases were for longer terms. Additionally, short-term leases 
may result in the turnover of our tenants sooner than our competitors. Consequently, we may need to undertake re-leasing efforts 
sooner and at shorter intervals than our competitors. The associated costs with these re-leasing efforts, which may, among other 
things, include repositioning costs, repair costs and re-tenanting costs, and the time our management team spends on the foregoing, 
may materially and adversely affect us.

Our financial results have and may continue to fluctuate in the future, which makes predicting our revenues, costs and expenses 
difficult, and any volatility in our future financial results could materially and adversely affect us.

Our quarterly and annual operating results have and may continue to fluctuate for a variety of reasons, including as a result of 
changes in the volume of real estate transactions, the availability of acquisition financing, capitalization rates, interest rates, 
competition, rental rates and other factors. If our financial results continue to fluctuate, our operations could be materially and 
adversely affected. As a result, our financial results that we report on a quarterly basis may not meet investors’ expectations and 
could materially and adversely affect us.

We may not be able to achieve growth through acquisitions at a rate that is comparable to our historical results, which could 
materially and adversely affect us.

Our growth strategy depends significantly on acquiring new properties. From inception in 2016 to December 31, 2024, our 
team has acquired more than $889.5 million of net-leased real estate, net of dispositions. Our ability to continue to grow requires 
us to identify and complete acquisitions that meet our investment criteria and depends on general market and economic conditions.

Changes in the volume of real estate transactions, the availability of acquisition financing, capitalization rates, interest rates, 
competition, market conditions or other factors may negatively impact our acquisition opportunities in 2025 and beyond. If we are 
unable to achieve growth through acquisitions at a rate that is comparable to our historical results, it could materially and adversely 
affect us. Furthermore, our acquisition volume within each year has not always been consistent on a quarterly basis, nor can we 
guarantee it will be consistent in the future. As a result, our acquisition results that we report on a quarterly basis may not meet 
investors’ expectations and could materially and adversely affect us.

We have experienced net losses for the past three years and we may experience additional net losses in the future.

We recorded net losses of approximately $31.2 million and $1.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. We may continue to experience net losses in the future, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

We may not achieve the total returns we expect from our future acquisitions, which could materially and adversely affect us.

As we pursue our growth strategy, we may encounter increasingly difficult market conditions that place downward pressure 
on the total returns we can achieve on our investments. In 2024, we experienced an increase in the cost of capital to finance our 
acquisitions, which may continue in the foreseeable future. In addition, as part of our strategy, we may pursue investments with 
lower capitalization rates, which are safer but more expensive investments. Accordingly, our future acquisitions may have lower 
returns on equity than our acquisitions completed in 2022 and earlier. To the extent that our future growth is achieved through 
acquisitions that yield lower returns, it could materially and adversely affect us. In addition, if we fund future acquisitions with 
equity issuances, the dilutive impact could outweigh the benefits of acquisitions that achieve lower returns, which also could 
materially and adversely affect us.
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We may not be able to obtain acquisition financing or obtain other capital from third-party sources on favorable terms or at all, 
which could materially and adversely affect our growth prospects and our business.

In order to qualify as a REIT, we are required under the Code, among other things, to distribute annually at least 90% of our 
REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding any net capital gain. In addition, 
we will be subject to income tax at the corporate rate to the extent that we distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income, 
determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and including any net capital gain. Because of these distribution 
requirements, we may not be able to fund future capital needs, including any necessary acquisition financing, or repay debt 
obligations from operating cash flow. Consequently, we expect to rely, in part, on third-party sources to fund our capital needs. We 
may not be able to obtain the financing on favorable terms or at all. Our access to third-party sources of capital depends, in part, 
on:

general market conditions, including, but not limited to, credit availability, marketplace liquidity, inflation and 
increasing and/or fluctuating interest rates;
the market’s perception of our growth potential;
our current cash and debt levels;
our current and expected future earnings;
the composition and performance of our portfolio;
our cash flow and cash distributions; and
the market price per share of our Common Stock.

If we cannot obtain capital from third-party sources, we may not be able to acquire individual tenant net-leased properties 
when strategic opportunities exist, meet the capital and operating needs of our existing properties, or satisfy our debt service 
obligations, any of which could materially and adversely affect us.

We may not be able to effectively manage our growth and any failure to do so could materially and adversely affect us.

We have grown rapidly and our growth strategy depends significantly on continued growth through acquisitions. Our future 
operating results will depend on our ability to effectively manage this growth. To accomplish this, we will need to:

invest in enhanced operational systems that can scale as our portfolio grows in size, including recent investments in 
updated systems;
attract, integrate, and retain operations personnel as our Company grows in complexity, including our recent hires of 
additional employees that could add to our expenses; and
identify, supervise and/or implement a number of suitable third-parties to provide services to us.

We cannot provide any assurance that we will be able to effectively manage our growth, which could materially and adversely 
affect us.

As we continue to acquire properties pursuant to our growth strategy, our portfolio may become less diversified which could 
materially and adversely affect us.

In pursuing our growth strategy, we may acquire properties that cause our portfolio to become less diversified based on tenants, 
brands or geographic reach. If our portfolio becomes less diverse in any respect, our business may become subject to greater risk, 
including tenant bankruptcies, adverse industry trends, and economic downturns in a particular industry or geographic area. As a 
result, if any such risks of a less diversified portfolio are realized, we could be materially and adversely affected.

We face increasing competition for acquiring properties from publicly traded REITs and companies, private institutional 
investors and business operators that may or may not have greater resources than we do, which could materially and adversely 
affect us.

The market for and other properties in the United States is highly competitive. We are facing increasing competition for 
properties from a diverse group of other entities engaged in real estate investment activities, including publicly traded and privately 
held REITs, public companies, private institutional real estate investors, sovereign wealth funds, banks, mortgage bankers, 
insurance companies, investment banking firms, lenders, specialty finance companies, individuals, family offices and other entities. 
In addition, we face competition for acquisition opportunities from business operators that prefer to own, rather than lease space. 
Some of our competitors are larger and may have considerably greater financial, technical, leasing, underwriting, marketing, and 
other resources than we do. Some competitors may have a lower cost of capital and access to funding sources that may not be 
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available to us. In addition, other competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different risk assessments and may not be subject 
to the same operating constraints, including maintaining REIT status or maintaining lower yield requirements. This competition 
may result in fewer acquisitions, higher prices, lower yields, less desirable properties, and acceptance of greater risk. As a result, 
we cannot provide any assurance that we will be able to successfully execute our growth strategy. Any failure to grow through 
acquisitions as a result of the increasing competition we face could materially and adversely affect us.

We face significant competition for tenants, which could materially and adversely affect us, including our occupancy, rental 
rates, and results of operations.

We compete for tenants to occupy our properties in all of our markets with numerous developers, owners, and operators of 
properties, as well as owner occupied businesses, many of which own properties in the same markets in which our properties are 
located. If our competitors offer space at rental rates below current market rates or below the rental rates we currently charge our 
tenants, we may lose existing or potential tenants or we may be pressured to reduce our rental rates or to offer more substantial rent 
abatements, tenant improvements, early termination rights, or below-market renewal options to retain tenants when our leases 
expire. Competition for tenants could decrease the rental rates we achieve and/or negatively impact the occupancy rates of our 
properties, which could materially and adversely affect us.

The departure of any of our key personnel with long-standing business relationships could materially and adversely affect us.

Our success and our ability to manage anticipated future growth depend, in large part, upon the efforts of our key personnel, 
particularly Messrs. Preston and Starr, our co-Chief Executive Officers. Messrs. Preston and Starr have extensive market knowledge 
and relationships and exercise substantial influence over our operational, financing, acquisition, and disposition activity. If we lost 
either of their services, our network of external relationships and resources would be materially diminished.

Our senior management team has significant net-lease real estate, acquisition, development, finance, and capital markets 
experience, including working together since 2016 to collectively build our portfolio and manage our operations from the ground 
up. Our senior management team has a strong investment track record with long-standing experience with properties beginning in 
1999. During this time, our team has developed a reputation as a proven and focused buyer of properties. The departure of either 
of our co-Chief Executive Officers or any other member of our senior management team, or our inability to attract and retain highly 
qualified personnel, could adversely affect our business, diminish our investment opportunities, and weaken our relationships with 
lenders, business partners, existing and prospective tenants, and industry personnel, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Our management team has limited prior experience in operating a public company, which could materially and adversely affect 
us.

Our management team has limited prior experience in managing a publicly traded company. As such, our management team 
may encounter difficulties in successfully managing our business in a public company environment, including, among other things, 
effectively complying with our reporting and other obligations under federal securities laws and other regulations and in connection 
with operating as a public company. Our management team’s limited lack of prior experience operating a public company could 
materially and adversely affect us.

Tenant demand for properties may decline, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Tenant demand for properties historically has been adversely affected by, among other things, weakness in the national, 
regional and local economies, including in regions in which we operate, the adverse financial condition of our tenants, consolidation 
in the industries in which our tenants operate and an excess amount of properties in some markets and rents and operational costs 
that make unattractive to tenants. Any of these conditions may arise in the future and are likely to negatively affect demand for 
properties and could materially and adversely affect us.

Our portfolio is concentrated in certain states and MSAs and any adverse developments and/or economic downturns in these 
geographic markets could materially and adversely affect us.

As of December 31, 2024, approximately 40.0% of our ABR came from properties in our top five states: Illinois (13.2%), 
Texas (8.1%), Georgia (7.6%), North Carolina (5.7%), and Ohio (5.4%). Also, as of December 31, 2024 approximately 30.3% of 
our ABR came from properties in our top five MSAs: the Chicago area (12.4%), the Atlanta area (7.0%), the Philadelphia area 
(4.0%), the Charlotte area (3.7%) and the Dallas-Fort Worth area (3.3%). These geographic concentrations could adversely affect 
our operating performance if conditions become less favorable in any of the states or markets within which we have a concentration 
of properties. We can provide no assurance that any of our markets will grow, will not experience adverse developments, or that 
underlying real estate fundamentals will be favorable to owners and operators of service-oriented businesses, such as restaurants, 
cellular stores, financial institutions, automotive stores and dealers, medical and dental providers, pharmacies, convenience and gas 
stores, car washes, home improvement stores, grocery stores, professional services as well as general retail tenants. A downturn in 
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the economy in the states or regions in which we have a concentration of properties, or markets within such states or regions 
including MSAs, or a slowdown in the demand for our tenants’ businesses caused by adverse economic, regulatory, or other 
conditions could adversely affect our tenants’ operating businesses in those states, regions or MSAs and impair their ability to pay 
rent to us, which, in turn could materially and adversely affect us.

Our portfolio of properties is also concentrated in certain tenant brands and industries, and any adverse developments relating 
to one or more of these brands or industries could materially and adversely affect us.

As of December 31, 2024, approximately 15.4% of our ABR came from casual dining tenants, 15.2% from QSR tenants, 
14.1% from medical & dental providers, 9.4% from general retail tenants, and 9.3% from banking tenants. Any adverse 
developments in one or more of these industries could materially and adversely affect us. For example, labor shortages, wages, 
including changes in the minimum wage, supply chain issues and general operational costs have particularly affected the restaurant, 
healthcare services and automotive sectors. Changes in technology could impact the viability of many of our tenant industries. In 
addition, we are subject to increased risks related to the concentration of specific restaurant brands such as IHOP, Wendy’s and 
Chili’s. If our QSR, full-service restaurant, banking, medical and dental, cellular or automotive tenants suffer weakening demand 
for their goods or services, it could adversely affect their ability to meet their rent and other obligations under their leases with us. 
It also may be difficult and expensive to re-tenant an property designed for a particular industry with a new tenant that operates in 
an industry requiring a different property type. As a result, any adverse developments in one or more of our concentrated industries 
could materially and adversely affect us.

Our portfolio of properties is concentrated among tenants with non-investment grade credit ratings, and any adverse 
developments affecting the credit of these tenants could materially and adversely affect us.

As of December 31, 2024, approximately 67% of our tenants had a credit rating below investment-grade, or were unrated, as 
a percentage of our ABR. Any adverse developments in the business or prospects of these tenants could materially and adversely 
affect us. For example, according to S&P Global Ratings Credit Research and Insights, as of September 30, 2023, in every year 
since 1981 speculative-grade rated companies defaulted at higher rates than investment-grade rated companies. Similarly, in 
Moody’s Investor Services Annual Corporate Default Study: Corporate Default and Recover Rates, 1920-2015, the cumulative 
five-year average default rate is linearly correlated with a company’s credit rating. If tenants with credit ratings below investment-
grade, or tenants without credit ratings, suffer weakening demand for their goods or services, it could adversely affect their ability 
to meet their rent and other obligations under their leases with us. As a result, any adverse developments to one or more of our 
tenants that have credit ratings below investment-grade, or tenants without credit ratings, could materially and adversely affect us.

Our assessment that many of our tenants’ businesses are e-commerce resistant may prove to be incorrect, which could materially 
and adversely affect us.

Our tenants, including restaurants, pharmacies, financial institutions, convenience and gas stores, general retail stores, and 
other industries are increasingly affected by ecommerce and changes in customer buying habits, including the delivery or curbside 
pick-up of items ordered online. Many retail tenants sell goods that have historically been less likely to be purchased online (such 
as restaurants, pharmacies, automotive stores and dealers and gas stations), however, the continuing increase in ecommerce sales 
in all retail categories (including online orders for immediate delivery or pick-up in store) may cause retailers to adjust the size or 
number or character of retail locations in the future or close stores. Changes in shopping trends as a result of the growth in 
ecommerce may affect the profitability of retailers, including our tenants, that do not adapt to changes in market conditions. We 
cannot predict with certainty what consumers will want, what future retail spaces for properties will look like, or how much revenue 
will be generated at traditional brick and mortar. If we or our tenants are unable to anticipate and respond promptly to trends in the 
market (such as space for a drive through or curbside pickup), we may be materially and adversely affected.

The decrease in demand for restaurant properties may materially and adversely affect us.

As of December 31, 2024, tenants in the restaurant industry represented approximately 30.6% of our ABR. In the future, we 
may acquire additional restaurant properties. Accordingly, decreases in the demand for restaurant properties may have a greater 
adverse effect on us than if we had fewer investments in this industry. The market for restaurant properties has been, and could 
continue to be, adversely affected by weakness in the national, regional, and local economies, the adverse financial condition of 
some large restaurant companies, the ongoing consolidation in the restaurant industry, local, state or federal mandated closures or 
occupancy changes and the excess amount of restaurant properties in a number of markets. For example, in recent years a number 
of companies in the restaurant industry have declared bankruptcy, gone out of business, or significantly reduced the number of their 
locations. As a result, we have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, challenges with some of our restaurant tenants, 
and have recorded asset impairments, which were immaterial on a consolidated basis, on certain assets as a result of increased credit 
losses.
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To the extent that these conditions continue in the restaurant industry, they are likely to negatively affect market rents for such 
properties and could materially and adversely affect us.

If one or more of our top 20 tenant brands, which together represented approximately 37.0% of our ABR as of December 31, 
2024, suffers a downturn in their business, it could materially and adversely affect us.

As of December 31, 2024, our top 20 tenant brands together represented approximately 37.0% of our ABR. Our largest tenant 
brand is Fast Pace Urgent Care, which leased eight properties that in the aggregate represent approximately 2.9% of our ABR as of 
December 31, 2024. One or more of our top 20 tenant brands may experience a material business downturn weakening their 
financial position and resulting in their failure to make timely rent payments and/or default under their leases. Further, many of our 
tenant brands, like Verizon, operate more than one property. Any financial difficulties experienced by a tenant brand that operates 
multiple properties, whether resulting from macroeconomic conditions, management performance or other causes, could also affect 
other properties operated by that tenant brand. As a result, if one or more of our top 20 tenant brands suffers a downturn, it could 
materially and adversely affect us.

We may be unable to renew leases, re-lease properties as leases expire, or lease vacant spaces on favorable terms or at all, which, 
in each case, could materially and adversely affect us.

Our results of operations depend on our ability to continue to successfully lease our properties, including renewing expiring 
leases, re-leasing properties as leases expire, leasing vacant space, optimizing our tenant mix, or leasing properties on more 
economically favorable terms. As of December 31, 2024, 10 leases representing approximately 2.8% of our ABR are scheduled to 
expire during 2025 and 22 leases representing approximately 5.4% of our ABR are scheduled to expire during 2026. Current tenants 
may decline, or may not have the financial resources available, to renew their current leases, and we cannot assure you that leases 
that are renewed will have terms that are as economically favorable to us as the expiring lease terms. If our tenants do not renew 
their leases as they expire, we cannot provide any assurance that we will be able to find new tenants at rental rates equal to or above 
the current average rental rates or that substantial rent abatements, leasing commissions, tenant improvement allowances, early 
termination rights, or below-market renewal options will not be required to attract new tenants. We may experience significant 
costs in connection with re-leasing a significant number of our properties, which could materially and adversely affect us. As of 
December 31, 2024, seven of our properties remained unoccupied. We may experience difficulties in leasing these vacant spaces 
on favorable terms or at all. Any failure to renew leases, re-lease properties as leases expire, or lease vacant space could materially 
and adversely affect us.

Our business is subject to significant re-leasing risk, particularly for specialty properties that are suitable for only one use, 
which could materially and adversely affect us.

The loss of a tenant, either through lease expiration or tenant bankruptcy or insolvency, may require us to spend significant 
amounts of capital to renovate and or reposition the property before it is suitable for a new tenant and cause us to incur significant 
costs. In particular, our specialty properties are designed for a particular type of tenant or tenant use. If tenants of specialty properties 
do not renew or default on their leases, we may not be able to re-lease such properties without substantial capital improvements, 
which may require significant cost and time to complete. Alternatively, we may not be able to re-lease or sell the property without 
such improvements or may be required to reduce the rent or selling price significantly. These re-leasing risks could materially and 
adversely affect us. Further, certain of the current specialty uses may prevent future use of such properties for other purposes. For 
example, the use of a property as a gas station or car wash may prevent such property from being used for food and beverage service 
in the future.

We may experience tenant defaults, particularly from tenants that do not have an investment grade credit rating, which could 
materially and adversely affect us.

We depend on the ability of our tenants to meet their obligations to pay rent to us due under our lease for substantially all of 
our revenue. As of December 31, 2024, approximately 33.1% of our ABR came from tenants that had an investment grade credit 
rating. A portion of our properties are leased to unrated tenants. Our investments in properties leased to such tenants may have a 
greater risk of default than investments in properties leased to investment grade tenants. The ability of an unrated tenant to meet its 
rent and other obligations under its lease with us may be subject to greater risk than our tenants that have an investment grade rating. 
When we invest in properties where the tenant does not have a publicly available credit rating, we use certain credit-assessment 
tools as well as our own estimates of the tenant’s credit rating which includes reviewing the tenant’s financial information (e.g., 
financial ratios, net worth, revenue, cash flows, leverage, and liquidity, if applicable). Our methods, however, may not adequately 
assess the risk of an investment and, if our assessment of credit quality proves to be inaccurate, we may be subject to defaults and 
investors may view our cash flows as less stable. If one or more of our tenants defaults, it could have a material adverse effect on 
us.
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Our underwriting and risk management procedures that we use to evaluate a tenant’s credit risk may fail, or otherwise not 
accurately reflect the risk of our investment, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Our underwriting and risk management procedures that we use to evaluate a tenant’s credit risk may not be sufficient to identify 
tenant problems in a timely manner or at all. For tenants without published financial data, it can be difficult to properly monitor or 
manage changes in credit quality, increasing the possibility of credit risk within the portfolio. Tenant credit ratings, public or 
implied, however, are only one component of how we assess the risk of tenant insolvency. We also use our own internal estimate 
of the likelihood of an insolvency or default, based on the regularly monitored performance of our properties and rent collections, 
our assessment of a tenant’s financial health, including profitability, liquidity, indebtedness, and leverage profile, and our 
assessment of the health and performance of a tenant’s particular industry. If our assessment of credit quality proves to be inaccurate, 
we may experience one or more tenant defaults, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

Any failure of one or more tenants to provide accurate or complete financial information could prevent us from identifying 
tenant problems that could materially and adversely affect us.

We rely on information from our tenants to determine a potential tenant’s credit risk as well as for on-going risk management. 
As of December 31, 2024, approximately 34.7% of our ABR came from tenants that were required to periodically provide us with 
specified financial information and approximately 42.0% of our ABR came from tenants that were not required to provide us with 
specified financial information under the terms of our lease, but were required to file financial statements publicly, either through 
SEC filings or otherwise. Ratings or conclusions derived from both credit-assessment tools and our internal teams rely on such 
information provided to us by our tenants and prospective tenants without independent verification on our part, and we are at risk 
to the extent the estimates and judgments that were made by the party preparing the financial information are not reliable or 
appropriate. A tenant’s failure to provide appropriate information may interfere with our ability to accurately evaluate a potential 
tenant’s credit risk or determine an existing tenant’s default risk, the occurrence of either could materially and adversely affect us.

If one or more of our tenants declares bankruptcy or becomes insolvent, then we may encounter significant difficulties in 
navigating those bankruptcy proceedings, which could materially and adversely affect us.

If a tenant, or the guarantor of a lease of a tenant, commences, or has commenced against it, a bankruptcy proceeding, we may 
be unable to collect all sums due to us under that tenant’s lease or be forced to “take back” a property as a result of a default or a 
rejection of a lease by a tenant in a bankruptcy proceeding. If a tenant becomes bankrupt or insolvent, federal law may prohibit us 
from evicting such tenant based solely upon such bankruptcy or insolvency. In addition, a bankrupt or insolvent tenant may be 
authorized to reject and terminate its lease or leases with us. Any claims against such bankrupt tenant for unpaid future rent would 
be subject to statutory limitations that would likely result in our receipt of rental revenues that are substantially less than the 
contractually specified rent we are owed under the lease or leases. Any or all of the lease obligations of our tenants, or any guarantor 
of our tenants, could be subject to a bankruptcy proceeding which may bar our efforts to collect pre-bankruptcy debts from these 
entities or their properties, unless we are able to obtain an enabling order from the bankruptcy court. If our lease is rejected by a 
tenant in bankruptcy, we may only have a general unsecured claim against the tenant and may not be entitled to any further payments 
under the lease. In addition, one or more tenants may be partnerships or limited liability companies. Under certain circumstances, 
the bankruptcy of the general partner in a partnership or a member of a limited liability company may result in the dissolution of 
such partnership or limited liability company. The dissolution of a tenant structured as a partnership or a limited liability company, 
the winding-up of its affairs and the distribution of its assets could result in a default on the related lease. We may also be unable 
to re-lease a terminated or rejected space or to re-lease it on comparable or more favorable terms. A bankruptcy proceeding could 
hinder or delay our efforts to collect past due balances and ultimately preclude collection of these sums, resulting in a decrease or 
cessation of rental payments, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Some of our leases may require us to pay or reimburse tenants for property-related expenses, which could materially and 
adversely affect us.

Under the terms of some of our leases, we may be required to pay or reimburse specified expenses of the property, such as the 
costs of roof and structural repairs, real estate taxes, insurance, certain non-structural repairs, maintenance, off-site improvements, 
and remediation activities (unless necessitated by the tenant), especially if a property becomes vacant. In addition, under some of 
our leases, the tenant reimbursement obligations for costs related to the operation of the property are subject to caps and exclusions 
contained within the underlying lease. For the year ended December 31, 2024, we incurred a total of approximately $1.7 million of 
non-reimbursable expenses. If, however, our properties incur significant expenses in the future that must be paid by us under the 
terms of our leases, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected and the amount of cash 
available to meet expenses and to make distributions to our stockholders and unitholders may be reduced.
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Some of our tenants operate their businesses under franchise or license agreements, which, if terminated or not renewed prior 
to the expiration of their leases with us, would likely impair their ability to pay us rent, which could materially and adversely 
affect us.

As of December 31, 2024, approximately 11.2% of our tenants operated their businesses under franchise or license agreements. 
Generally, these franchise agreements have terms that end earlier than the respective expiration dates of our leases with these 
tenants. In addition, a tenant’s rights as a franchisee or licensee typically may be terminated by the franchisor or licensor and the 
tenant may be precluded from competing with the franchisor or licensor upon termination. Usually, we have no notice or cure rights 
with respect to a tenant’s termination and have no rights to assignment of any such franchise agreement. A franchisor’s or licensor’s 
termination or refusal to renew a franchise or license agreement would likely have a material adverse effect on the ability of the 
tenant to make payments under its lease, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Security breaches and other technology disruptions could disrupt our operations, compromise our confidential information or 
information systems and expose us to liability, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Information security risks generally have increased significantly in recent years due to the increased technological 
sophistication and activities of perpetrators of cyber-attacks. Our business involves the storage and transmission of numerous classes 
of sensitive and confidential information, including intellectual property, tenants’ information, private information about our 
stockholders and our employees, and financial and strategic information about us. We face cybersecurity risks that include, among 
other things: theft, unauthorized monitoring, release, misuse, loss, destruction or corruption of confidential and highly restricted 
data; malware; ransomware; denial of service attacks; phishing and other social engineering compromises; unauthorized access to 
relevant systems; compromises to networks or devices; or operational disruption or failures in the physical infrastructure or 
operating systems of our information systems. We also face risks from significant disruptions of our information systems, including 
external networks and systems hosted by third-party service providers. As artificial intelligence (“AI”) technologies become more 
advanced, cybercriminals are developing more sophisticated attack methods. Such methods include the use of AI to automate and 
enhance phishing schemes, create advanced malware, and carry out more effective cyberattacks. AI-driven cyber threats could be 
harder to detect and counteract, which may pose significant risks to our data security and the integrity of our information systems. 
If such AI-enhanced cyberattacks are successful, they could lead to substantial data breaches, loss of sensitive and confidential 
information, and significant financial and reputational damage. The risk of a security breach or disruption, particularly through 
cyber-attack or cyber-intrusion, including by company insiders, computer hackers, foreign governments, and cyber terrorists, has 
generally increased as the number, intensity, and sophistication of attacks and intrusions from around the world have increased. If 
we fail to assess and identify cybersecurity risks associated with our operations, we may become increasingly vulnerable to such 
risks. Additionally, the measures we have implemented to prevent security breaches and cyber incidents may not be effective. The 
theft, destruction, loss, misappropriation, or release of sensitive or confidential information, or interference with or disruptions of 
our networks and related systems or those of third parties on which we rely, could result in business disruption, negative publicity, 
reputational damage, increased cybersecurity protection, insurance costs and compliance costs, violation of privacy laws, loss of 
tenants, potential liability, litigation, regulatory actions,  and competitive disadvantage. Laws and regulations governing data 
privacy are constantly evolving. Many of these laws and regulations contain detailed requirements regarding collecting and 
processing personal information, restrict the use and storage of such information, require notification in the event of a data breach, 
and govern the effectiveness of consumer consent. Any of the above risks could materially and adversely affect us.

The use of artificial intelligence presents risks and challenges that may adversely impact our business and operating results or 
that of our tenants.

We may adopt and integrate generative artificial intelligence and machine learning (collectively, “AI”) tools into our 
operations to enhance efficiencies and streamline existing systems. However, the deployment and maintenance of AI tools may 
entail substantial risks. While these tools hold promise in optimizing processes and driving efficiencies, as with many technological 
innovations, they also pose inherent risks. These include, but are not limited to, the potential for inaccuracy, bias, intellectual 
property infringement, or misappropriation, as well as concerns regarding data privacy and cybersecurity.  Any of the above risks 
could materially and adversely affect us.

Our properties may be subject to impairment charges which could materially and adversely affect us, including our financial 
condition.

We routinely evaluate our real estate investments for impairment indicators. The judgment regarding the existence of 
impairment indicators is based on factors such as market conditions and tenant performance. For example, the early termination of, 
or default under, a lease by a tenant may lead to an impairment charge. Since our investment focus is on properties leased to one or 
two tenants, the financial failure of, or other default by, tenants under their lease(s) may result in a significant impairment loss. If 
we determine that an impairment has occurred, we would be required to make a downward adjustment to the net carrying value of 
the property, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations in the period in which the impairment charge 
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is recorded. Negative developments in the real estate market may cause management to reevaluate the business and macro-economic 
assumptions used in its impairment analysis. Changes in management’s assumptions based on actual results may have a material 
impact on the Company’s financial statements. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations-Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates-Impairment of Long-Lived Assets” for a discussion of real estate 
impairment charges.

We face risks associated with repositioning or construction of real estate projects, which may materially and adversely affect us.

From time to time we expect to engage in repositioning or construction of real estate projects and will therefore face significant 
risks relating to such activities. We must rely on expected rental income, expense projections and estimates of the fair market value 
of a property upon completion of repositioning or construction when determining a property’s most economical use. If our 
projections are inaccurate, or we may pay too much for a property, our return on capital could suffer. Additionally, we may incur 
costs for construction or repositioning of properties that exceed our original estimates due to factors beyond our control, including, 
among other things, increased material costs, labor costs, material shortages, supply chain delays or disruptions, or unanticipated 
technical difficulties. Any occurrence of these events could impact our ability to achieve the expected value of a repositioning or 
construction project, including, among other things, because of our inability to timely deliver properties in a way that meets tenant 
needs or because market rents may not increase sufficiently to compensate for the increase in construction or repositioning costs. 
We may even suspend repositioning or construction projects after construction has begun due to changes in economic conditions 
or other factors, and this may result in the write-off of costs, payment of additional costs or increases in overall costs if the 
development project is ever restarted. To the extent any of these events occur, such events may materially and adversely affect us.

Changes in accounting and reporting standards may materially and adversely affect us.

From time to time the FASB and the SEC may change the financial accounting and reporting standards or their interpretation 
and application of these standards that will govern the preparation of our financial statements. These changes could materially and 
adversely affect our reported financial condition and results of operations. In some cases, we could be required to apply a new or 
revised standard retroactively, resulting in restating prior period financial statements. Similarly, these changes could materially and 
adversely affect our tenants’ reported financial condition or results of operations and affect their preferences regarding leasing real 
estate.

We may acquire properties or portfolios of properties through tax deferred contribution transactions, which could result in 
stockholder dilution and limit our ability to sell such assets and materially and adversely affect us.

In the future, we may acquire properties or portfolios of properties through tax deferred contribution transactions in exchange 
for OP Units, which may result in stockholder dilution. This acquisition structure may have the effect of, among other things, 
reducing the amount of tax depreciation we could deduct over the tax life of the acquired properties, and may require that we agree 
to protect the contributors’ ability to defer recognition of taxable gain through restrictions on our ability to dispose of the acquired 
properties and/or the allocation of debt to the contributors to maintain their tax bases. These restrictions could limit our ability to 
sell certain assets of the OP at a time, or on terms, that would be favorable absent such restrictions. As a result, any acquisitions we 
complete using OP Units could result in stockholder dilution and limit our ability to subsequently sell such assets, which could 
materially and adversely affect us.

Certain provisions of our leases or loan agreements may be unenforceable, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Our rights and obligations with respect to the leases at our properties, mortgage loans, or other loans are governed by written 
agreements. A court could determine that one or more provisions of such agreements are unenforceable, such as a particular remedy, 
a loan prepayment provision or a provision governing our security interest in the underlying collateral of a borrower or lessee. We 
could be materially and adversely impacted if this were to happen with respect to an asset or group of assets.

We may become subject to litigation, which could materially and adversely affect us.

In the future, we may become subject to litigation, including, but not limited to, claims relating to our operations, past and 
future securities offerings, corporate transactions, and otherwise in the ordinary course of business. Some of these claims may result 
in significant defense costs and potentially significant judgments against us, some of which are not, or cannot be, insured against. 
We generally intend to vigorously defend ourselves. However, we cannot be certain of the ultimate outcomes of any claims that 
may arise in the future. Resolution of these types of matters may require us to pay significant fines, judgments, or settlements, 
which, if uninsured, or if the fines, judgments, and settlements exceed insured levels, could materially and adversely impact us, 
including our earnings and cash flows. Some litigation matters and/or their resolution may adversely affect the availability or cost 
of some of our insurance coverage, which could materially and adversely impact us, expose us to increased risks that would be 
uninsured, and materially and adversely impact our ability to attract directors and officers.
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We previously identified a material weakness and a significant deficiency in our internal control over financial reporting and 
may identify additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in the future, which could materially and adversely affect 
us and our ability to accurately and timely report our financial results.

As defined in standards established by the PCAOB, a “material weakness” is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or 
interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The identified material weakness required 
adjustments to our financial statements during the audit. The PCAOB defines “significant deficiency” as a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a 
misstatement of the financial statements that is more than inconsequential will not be prevented or detected. While a significant 
deficiency is considered less severe than a material weakness, it is important enough to merit attention by those responsible for 
oversight of financial reporting, including the audit committee of a company's board of directors.

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2022, we and our independent registered public accounting firms identified a 
material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting relating to our predecessor’s control activities, which were not 
designed and implemented effectively with respect to the evaluation and review of significant assumptions used in the purchase 
price allocation of tangible assets and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities for our acquisitions of properties. This material 
weakness resulted in errors that were identified in connection with the audit of our predecessor’s consolidated financial statements 
to record the acquisition of certain tangible assets and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities. The identified material weakness 
required adjustments to our financial statements.

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2022, we and our independent registered public accounting firms also identified a 
significant deficiency in our predecessor’s internal control over financial reporting relating to management’s review of manual 
journal entries. Specifically, our predecessor’s control activities were not designed and implemented effectively with respect to the 
review of manual journal entries. This deficiency may result in journal entries being recorded which are not accurate.

As part of our remediation plan for the material weakness during 2023, we engaged a third-party valuation expert to assist in 
the preparation of the purchase price allocations. The remediation plan included implementation of a documented review to verify 
the completeness, accuracy and assumptions used in the purchase price allocations. During 2023, we designed and implemented a 
manual journal entry review control that validated that the journal entries were accurate and supported with the requisite 
documentation. Based on the implementation of these controls, we believe the material weakness and significant deficiency have 
been remediated as of December 31, 2023.

If our material weakness and significant deficiency were not successfully remediated, or if we identify any future material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies, we could experience decreased investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our 
financial reports and public disclosures, civil litigation, or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities, and we could 
fail to meet our reporting obligations, which could materially and adversely affect us.

The costs of environmental contamination or liabilities related to environmental laws may materially and adversely affect us.

There may be known or unknown environmental liabilities associated with properties we previously owned, currently own, or 
may acquire in the future. Under various federal, state, and local laws and regulations relating to the environment, as a current or 
former owner or operator of real property, we may be liable for costs and damages resulting from environmental matters, including 
the presence or discharge of hazardous or toxic substances, waste, or petroleum products at, on, in, under or migrating from such 
property, including costs to investigate or clean up such contamination and liability for personal injury, property damage, or harm 
to natural resources. Certain uses of some properties may have a heightened risk of environmental liability because of the hazardous 
materials used in performing services on those properties, such as industrial properties, car washes, gasoline stations, or auto parts 
and auto service businesses using petroleum products, paint, machine solvents, and other hazardous materials. Our due diligence 
team typically undertakes customary environmental diligence prior to our acquisition of any property, including obtaining Phase I 
environmental site assessments. The Phase I environmental site assessments are limited in scope and therefore may not reveal all 
environmental conditions affecting a property. For example, Phase I environmental assessments do not include soil sampling or 
subsurface investigations. Therefore, there could be undiscovered environmental liabilities on the properties we own.

The known or potential presence of hazardous substances on a property may adversely affect our ability to sell, lease, or 
improve the property, or to borrow using the property as collateral. In addition, environmental laws may create liens on 
contaminated properties in favor of the government for damages and costs it incurs to address such contamination. Moreover, if 
contamination is discovered on our properties, environmental laws may impose restrictions on the manner in which they may be 
used or which businesses may be operated, and these restrictions may require substantial expenditures.



25

Our environmental liabilities may include property and natural resources damage, personal injury, investigation, and clean-up 
costs, among other potential environmental liabilities. These costs could be substantial. Although we obtain insurance for 
environmental liability in excess of tenant indemnification for certain properties that are deemed to warrant coverage, our insurance 
may be insufficient to address any particular environmental situation and we may be unable to continue to obtain insurance for 
environmental matters, at a reasonable cost or at all, in the future. If our environmental liability insurance is inadequate, we may 
become subject to material losses for environmental liabilities. Our ability to receive the benefits of any environmental liability 
insurance policy will depend on the financial stability of our insurance company and the position it takes with respect to our 
insurance policies. If we were to become subject to significant environmental liabilities, we could be materially and adversely 
affected.

Although our leases generally require our tenants to operate in compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local 
environmental laws, ordinances, and regulations, and to indemnify us against any environmental liabilities arising from the tenants’ 
activities on the property, we could nevertheless be subject to liability as a current or previous owner of real estate, including strict 
liability, by virtue of our ownership interest and may be required to remove or remediate hazardous or toxic substances on, under, 
or in a property. Further, there can be no assurance that our tenants, or the guarantor of a lease, could or would satisfy their 
indemnification obligations under their leases. We may face liability regardless of our knowledge of the contamination, the timing 
of the contamination, the cause of the contamination, or the party responsible for the contamination of the property. Our leases 
generally require the landlord or a third-party to undertake remediation for the presence, use or release of hazardous materials on 
the property by the landlord or by any party other than the lessee, provided that the lessee was not responsible for the contamination 
of the property. Of that subset of leases, most do not permit the landlord to pass the costs of remediation through to the tenant, and 
some permit the tenant to terminate the lease and seek reimbursement of the tenant’s unamortized development costs if remediation 
is not completed within a certain timeframe or if the tenant’s use of its premises is interrupted for a certain period of time. If we are 
required to undertake remediation or if a tenant is permitted to terminate its lease, we could be materially and adversely affected. 
The cost of compliance, remediation or defense against claims from a contaminated property could materially and adversely affect 
us.

We could become subject to liability for asbestos-containing building materials in the buildings on our property, which could 
cause us to incur additional expenses.

Some of our properties may contain, or may have contained, asbestos-containing building materials. Environmental, health, 
and safety laws require that owners or operators of or employers in buildings with ACM properly manage and maintain these 
materials, adequately inform or train those who may come into contact with ACM, and undertake special precautions, including 
removal or other abatement, in the event that ACM is disturbed during building maintenance, renovation, or demolition. These laws 
may impose fines and penalties on employers, building owners, or operators for failure to comply with these laws. In addition, third 
parties may seek recovery from employers, owners, or operators for personal injury associated with exposure to asbestos. If we 
become subject to any of these penalties or other liabilities as a result of ACM at one or more of our properties, it could have a 
material adverse effect on us.

Our properties may contain or develop harmful mold or suffer from other adverse conditions, which could lead to liability for 
adverse health effects and costs of remediation.

When excessive moisture accumulates in buildings or on building materials, mold growth may occur, particularly if the 
moisture problem remains undiscovered or is not addressed over a period of time. Certain uses of our properties are more susceptible 
to giving rise to mold. Some molds may produce airborne toxins or irritants. Indoor air quality issues also can stem from inadequate 
ventilation, chemical contamination from indoor or outdoor sources and other biological contaminants such as pollen, viruses, and 
bacteria. Indoor exposure to airborne toxins or irritants above certain levels can be alleged to cause a variety of adverse health 
effects and symptoms, including allergic or other reactions. As a result, the presence of significant mold or other airborne 
contaminants at any of our properties could require us to undertake a costly remediation program to contain or remove the mold or 
other airborne contaminants from the affected property or increase indoor ventilation. In addition, the presence of significant mold 
or other airborne contaminants could expose us to liability from our tenants, employees of our tenants, and others if property damage 
or personal injury occurs. Thus, conditions related to mold or other airborne contaminants could have a material adverse effect on 
us.

Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate

Our operating results are affected by economic and regulatory changes that impact the commercial real estate market in 
general, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Our core business is the ownership of properties that are net leased on a long-term basis to businesses generally in the 
restaurant, cellular store, financial institution, automotive store and dealer, medical and dental provider, pharmacy, convenience 
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and gas store, car wash, home improvement store, grocery stores, professional services and general retail sectors. Accordingly, our 
performance is subject to risks generally attributable to the ownership of properties, including:

inability to collect rents from tenants due to financial hardship, including bankruptcy, financial difficulties, or lease 
defaults by tenants;
changes in global, national, regional, or local economic, demographic, or real estate market conditions in the markets 
in which we operate, including the supply and demand for individual tenant properties in the restaurant, cellular store, 
financial institution, automotive store and dealer, medical and dental provider, pharmacy, convenience and gas store, 
car wash, home improvement store, professional services and general retail sectors;
competition from other properties;
changes in consumer trends and preferences that affect the demand for products and services offered by our tenants;
inability to lease or sell properties upon expiration or termination of existing leases and renewal of leases at lower rental 
rates;
the subjectivity of real estate valuations and changes in such valuations over time;
the illiquid nature of real estate compared to most other financial assets;
changes in laws, government rules, regulations, and fiscal policies, including changes in tax, real estate, environmental, 
access closure or changes, condemnation proceedings and zoning laws;
changes in interest rates and availability of financing, including changes in the terms of available financing such as 
more conservative loan-to-value requirements and shorter debt maturities;
unexpected expenditures relating to age of building, quality of construction, construction defects and physical or 
weather-related damage to properties;
labor shortages, supply chain issues and increased material and labor costs;
the potential risk of functional obsolescence of properties over time;
acts of terrorism and war;
pandemics and natural disasters;
acts of God and other factors beyond our control; and
increased competition for real property acquisitions targeted by our investment strategy.

The factors described above are out of our control, and we are unable to predict future changes in such factors. Any negative 
changes in these factors may cause the value of our real estate to decline, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Global and U.S. financial markets and economic conditions may materially and adversely affect us.

A significant portion of our portfolio is leased to tenants operating businesses that rely on discretionary consumer spending. 
The success of most of these businesses depends on the willingness of consumers to use discretionary income to purchase their 
products or services. Our results of operations are sensitive to changes in the overall economic conditions that impact our tenants’ 
financial condition and leasing practices and a downturn in the economy could cause consumers to reduce their discretionary 
spending, which could result in tenant bankruptcies or otherwise have an adverse impact on our tenants’ ability to successfully 
manage their businesses and pay us amounts due under our lease agreements, thereby materially and adversely affecting us. 
Accordingly, adverse economic conditions such as high unemployment levels, an increase in interest rates, a decrease in available 
financing, high inflation, labor and workforce shortages, supply chain issues, tax rates, and fuel and energy costs may have an 
impact on the results of operations and financial conditions of our tenants. During periods of economic slowdown or recession, 
rising interest rates and declining demand for real estate may result in a general decline in rents or an increased incidence of defaults 
under existing leases. A lack of demand for properties could adversely affect our ability to maintain our current tenants and gain 
new tenants, which may affect our growth and results of operations. Accordingly, a decline in economic conditions could materially 
and adversely affect us.

Our real estate investments are illiquid, which could materially and adversely affect us, including our financial condition and 
cash flows.

Because real estate investments are relatively illiquid, our ability to adjust our portfolio promptly in response to economic, 
financial, investment, or other conditions may be limited. Return of capital and realization of gains, if any, from an investment 
generally will occur upon disposition or refinancing of the underlying property. We may be unable to realize our investment 
objective by sale, other disposition, or refinancing at attractive prices within any given period of time, or we may otherwise be 
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unable to complete any exit strategy. In particular, these risks could arise from weakness in or even the lack of an established market 
for a property, changes in the financial condition or prospects of prospective purchasers, changes in national or international 
economic conditions, and changes in laws, regulations, or fiscal policies of the jurisdiction in which the property is located. Further, 
certain significant expenditures generally do not change in response to economic or other conditions, such as (i) debt service, (ii) 
real estate taxes, and (iii) operating and maintenance costs. The inability to dispose of a property at an acceptable price or at all, as 
well as the combination of variable revenue and relatively fixed expenditures may result, under certain market conditions, in reduced 
earnings and could materially and adversely affect us, including our financial condition and cash flows.

Increases in interest rates may decrease the value of our properties, which could materially and adversely affect us.

During periods of increasing interest rates, real estate valuations have generally decreased as a result of rising capitalization 
rates, which tend to be positively correlated with interest rates. Consequently, prolonged periods of higher interest rates may 
negatively impact the valuation of our portfolio which could materially and adversely affect us.

Inflation may materially and adversely affect us and our tenants, which could materially and adversely affect us.

As of January 2024, the CPI rose 3.0% year over year before seasonal adjustment. Federal policies and recent global events, 
such as the rising price of oil and the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, may have exacerbated, and may continue to exacerbate, 
increases in the CPI.

A sustained or further increase in inflation could have a negative impact on variable-rate debt we and our tenants currently 
have or that we or our tenants may incur in the future. During times when inflation is greater than the increases in rent provided by 
many of our leases, rent increases will not keep up with the rate of inflation. Because tenants are typically required to pay all 
property operating expenses, increases in property-level expenses at our leased properties generally do not affect us. However, 
increased operating expenses at vacant properties and the properties for which we are responsible for reimbursing tenants for a 
limited number of specified expenses could cause us to incur additional operating expenses, which could increase our exposure to 
inflation. Increased costs may have an adverse impact on our tenants if increases in their operating expenses exceed increases in 
revenue, which may adversely affect the tenants’ ability to pay rent owed to us, which in turn could materially and adversely affect 
us. Inflation may also have an adverse effect on consumer spending, which could impact our tenants’ revenues and their ability to 
pay rent owed to us. Any of these factors could materially and adversely affect us.

Natural disasters, terrorist attacks, other acts of violence or war, or other catastrophic events could materially and adversely 
affect us.

Natural disasters, terrorist attacks, other acts of violence or war, or other catastrophic events (e.g., hurricanes, floods, 
earthquakes, or other types of natural disasters or wars or other acts of violence) could cause damage to our properties, materially 
interrupt our business operations (or those of our tenants), cause consumer confidence and spending to decrease, or result in 
increased volatility in the U.S. and worldwide financial markets and economy. Such occurrences also could result in or prolong an 
economic recession in the United States. We own properties in regions that have historically been impacted by natural disasters and 
it is probable such regions will continue to be impacted by such events. If a disaster occurs, we could suffer a complete loss of 
capital invested in, and any profits expected from, the affected properties. Any of these occurrences could materially and adversely 
affect us.

We face risks associated with climate change, which could materially and adversely affect us.

As a result of climate change, our properties in certain markets could experience increases in storm intensity, flooding, drought, 
wildfires, rising sea levels, and extreme temperatures. The potential physical impacts of climate change on our properties are 
uncertain and would be particular to the geographic circumstances in areas in which we own property. Over time, these conditions 
could result in volatile or decreased demand for certain of our properties or, in extreme cases, the inability of our tenants to operate 
the properties at all. Climate change may also have indirect effects on our business by increasing the cost of insurance (or making 
insurance unavailable), increasing the cost of energy at our properties, or requiring us to spend funds to repair and protect our 
properties against such risks. In addition, we also face business trend-related climate risks as investors, employees and other 
stakeholders are increasingly taking into account ESG factors, including climate risks. Our reputation and investor relationships 
could be damaged as a result of our involvement with certain industries or assets associated with activities perceived to be causing 
or exacerbating climate change, as well as any decisions we make to continue to conduct or change our activities in response to 
considerations relating to climate change. Moreover, compliance with new laws or regulations related to climate change, including 
compliance with “green” building codes, water use measures or other laws or regulations relating to reduction of carbon footprints, 
greenhouse gas emissions or land use, may require us to make improvements to our existing properties or increase taxes and fees 
assessed on us or our properties. Any of these occurrences could materially and adversely impact us.
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Our inability to effectively monitor and respond to the rapid and ongoing developments and expectations regarding our ESG 
practices may materially and adversely affect us.

There is an increasing focus from certain investors and other stakeholders concerning corporate responsibility, specifically 
related to ESG factors. Some investors may use these factors to guide their investment strategies and, in some cases, may choose 
not to invest in our securities if they believe our policies relating to corporate responsibility are inadequate. Third-party providers 
of corporate responsibility ratings and reports on companies have increased in number, resulting in varied and in some cases 
inconsistent standards. In addition, the criteria by which companies’ corporate responsibility practices are assessed are evolving, 
which could result in greater expectations of us and cause us to undertake costly initiatives to satisfy such new criteria. Alternatively, 
if we elect not to or are unable to satisfy such new criteria or do not meet the criteria of a specific third-party provider, some 
investors may conclude that our policies with respect to corporate responsibility are inadequate. We may face reputational damage 
in the event that our corporate responsibility procedures or standards do not meet the standards set by various constituencies. 
Furthermore, if our competitors’ corporate responsibility performance is perceived to be greater than ours, potential or current 
investors may elect to invest with our competitors instead. In addition, in the event that we communicate certain initiatives and 
goals regarding ESG matters, we could fail, or be perceived to fail, in our achievement of such initiatives or goals, or we could be 
criticized for the scope of such initiatives or goals. If we fail to satisfy any of the expectations of third-party providers of corporate 
responsibility ratings, investors, tenants and other stakeholders, or our initiatives are not executed as planned, our reputation and 
financial results could be materially and adversely affected.

Insurance on our properties may not adequately cover all losses and any uninsured losses could materially and adversely affect 
us.

Our tenants are generally required to maintain comprehensive insurance coverage for the properties they lease from us pursuant 
to our net leases. Pursuant to such leases, our tenants are generally required to name us (and any of our lenders that have a mortgage 
on the property leased by the tenant) as additional insureds on their liability policies and additional named insureds and/or loss 
payees (or mortgagee, in the case of our lenders) on their property policies. To the extent that our tenants do not name us as 
additional insureds on their liability policies, this may create a risk for us regarding coverage for any losses or liabilities associated 
with such properties. Additionally, most tenants are required to maintain casualty coverage and most are required to carry limits at 
100% of replacement cost, although some of our leases allow tenants to self-insure their insurance obligations for casualty losses. 
Depending on the location of the property, losses of a catastrophic nature, such as those caused by casualty, earthquakes and floods, 
may be covered by insurance policies that are held by our tenant with limitations such as large deductibles or co-payments that a 
tenant may not be able to meet. In addition, losses of a catastrophic nature, such as those caused by wind/hail, hurricanes, terrorism, 
or acts of war, may be uninsurable or not economically insurable. In the event there is damage to our properties that is not covered 
by insurance and such properties are subject to recourse indebtedness, we will continue to be liable for the indebtedness, even if 
these properties are irreparably damaged. In addition, if uninsured damage to a property occurs or a loss exceeds policy limits and 
we do not have adequate cash to fund repairs, we may be forced to sell the property at a loss or to borrow capital to fund the repairs.

Inflation, changes in building codes and ordinances, environmental considerations, and other factors, including terrorism or 
acts of war, may make any insurance proceeds we receive insufficient to repair or replace a property if it is damaged or destroyed. 
In that situation, the insurance proceeds received may not be adequate to restore our economic position with respect to the affected 
real property. Also, if we experience a substantial or comprehensive loss of one of our properties, we may not be able to rebuild 
such property to its existing specifications without significant capital expenditures which may exceed any amounts received 
pursuant to insurance policies, as reconstruction or improvement of such a property would likely require significant upgrades to 
meet zoning and building code requirements. The loss of our capital investment in or anticipated future returns from our properties 
due to material uninsured losses could materially and adversely affect us.

Our costs of compliance with laws and regulations may require us or our tenants to make unanticipated expenditures that could 
reduce the investment return of our stockholders.

All real property and the operations conducted on real property are subject to numerous federal, state, and local laws and 
regulations. We cannot predict what laws or regulations will be enacted in the future, how future laws or regulations will be 
administered or interpreted, or how future laws or regulations will affect us or our properties. For example, we may be required to 
make substantial capital expenditures to comply with applicable fire and safety regulations, building codes, the ADA, environmental 
regulations, and other land use regulations, and may be required to obtain approvals from various authorities with respect to our 
properties, including prior to acquiring a property or when undertaking improvements of any of our existing properties. Compliance 
with new laws or regulations, or stricter interpretation of existing laws, may require us or our tenants to incur significant 
expenditures, impose significant liability, restrict or prohibit business activities, and could materially and adversely affect us.
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Compliance with the ADA may require us to make unanticipated expenditures that could materially and adversely affect us.

Our properties are subject to the ADA. Under the ADA, all public accommodations must meet federal requirements related to 
access and use by disabled persons. Compliance with the ADA requirements could require removal of access barriers and non-
compliance could result in imposition of fines by the U.S. government or an award of damages to private litigants, or both. While 
our tenants are obligated by law to comply with the ADA and typically obligated under our leases to cover costs associated with 
compliance, if required changes involve greater expenditures than anticipated or if the changes must be made on a more accelerated 
basis than anticipated, the ability of our tenants to cover costs could be adversely affected. We could be required to expend our own 
funds to comply with the provisions of the ADA, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Compliance with fire, safety, environmental, and other regulations may require us to make unanticipated expenditures that 
could materially and adversely affect us.

We are required to operate our properties in compliance with fire and safety regulations, building codes, environmental 
regulations, and other land use regulations, as they may be adopted by governmental agencies and bodies and become applicable 
to our properties. We may be required to make substantial capital expenditures to comply with those requirements and may be 
required to obtain approvals from various authorities with respect to our properties, including prior to acquiring a property or when 
undertaking improvements of any of our existing properties. We cannot assure you that existing laws and regulatory policies will 
not materially and adversely affect us or the timing or cost of any future acquisitions or improvements, or that additional regulations 
will not be adopted that increase such delays or result in additional costs. Additionally, failure to comply with any of these 
requirements could result in the imposition of fines by governmental authorities or awards of damages to private litigants. While 
we intend to only acquire properties that we believe are currently in substantial compliance with all regulatory requirements, these 
requirements may change and new requirements may be imposed which would require significant unanticipated expenditures by 
us and could materially and adversely affect us.

We may obtain only limited warranties when we acquire a property and may only have limited recourse if our acquisitions 
subject us to unknown liabilities.

The seller of a property often sells the property in its “as is” condition on a “where is” basis and “with all faults,” without any 
warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular use or purpose. In addition, purchase agreements may contain only limited 
warranties, representations and indemnifications that will survive for only a limited period after the closing. The acquisition of, or 
purchase of, properties with limited warranties increases the risk that we may lose some or all of our invested capital in the property, 
lose rental income from that property or may be subject to unknown liabilities with respect to such properties.

Risks Related to Debt Financing

As of December 31, 2024, we had approximately $266.5 million principal balance of indebtedness outstanding (net of fees), 
which may expose us to the risk of default under our debt obligations.

As of December 31, 2024, we had approximately $266.5 million of total debt outstanding (net of fees), consisting of 
borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan with a variable interest rate of Adjusted SOFR plus 1.2% and a 
maturity date of October 2027. We have incurred, and plan to incur in the future, financing through borrowings under an acquisition 
line, our Revolving Credit Facility, our Term Loan, and mortgage loans secured by some or all of our properties. In some cases, the 
mortgage loans we incur are guaranteed by us, the OP, or both. We may also borrow funds if necessary to satisfy the requirement 
that we distribute to stockholders as dividends at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable income (computed without regard to the 
dividends paid deduction and our net capital gain), or otherwise as is necessary or advisable to assure that we maintain our 
qualification as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Our level of debt and the limitations imposed on us by our debt 
agreements could have significant adverse consequences, including the following:

our cash flow may be insufficient to meet our required principal and interest payments;
cash interest expense and financial covenants relating to our indebtedness, including covenants in our Revolving Credit 
Facility and Term Loan restrict us from paying distributions if a default or event of default exists, other than 
distributions required to maintain our REIT status, may limit or eliminate our ability to make distributions to holders 
of our Common Stock;
we may be unable to borrow additional funds as needed or on favorable terms, which could, among other things, 
adversely affect our ability to capitalize upon investment opportunities or meet operational needs;
we may be unable to refinance our indebtedness at maturity or the refinancing terms may be less favorable than the 
terms of our original indebtedness;
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because a portion of our debt bears interest at variable rates, increases in interest rates would increase our interest 
expense;
we may be unable to hedge floating rate debt, counterparties may fail to honor their obligations under any hedge 
agreements we enter into, such agreements may not effectively hedge interest rate fluctuation risk, and, upon the 
expiration of any hedge agreements we enter into, we would be exposed to then-existing market rates of interest and 
future interest rate volatility;
we may be forced to dispose of properties, possibly on unfavorable terms or in violation of certain covenants to which 
we may be subject;
we may default on our obligations and the lenders or mortgagees may foreclose on our properties or our interests in the 
entities that own the properties that secure their loans and receive an assignment of rents and leases;
any foreclosures by lenders of our properties could create taxable income without accompanying cash proceeds, which 
could hinder our ability to meet the REIT distribution requirements imposed by the Code;
we may be restricted from accessing some of our excess cash flow after debt service if certain of our tenants fail to 
meet certain financial performance metric thresholds;
fluctuations in interest rates and available liquidity in the marketplace;
we may violate restrictive covenants in our loan documents, which would entitle the lenders to accelerate our debt 
obligations; and
our default under any loan with cross default provisions could result in a default on other indebtedness.

The occurrence of any of these events could materially and adversely affect us.

Market conditions could adversely affect our ability to refinance existing indebtedness on acceptable terms or at all, which 
could materially and adversely affect us.

We use external financing to refinance indebtedness as it matures and to partially fund our acquisitions. Credit markets may 
experience significant price volatility, displacement, and liquidity disruptions, including the bankruptcy, insolvency, or 
restructuring of certain financial institutions. As a result, we may be unable to fully refinance maturing indebtedness with new 
indebtedness, which could materially and adversely affect us. Furthermore, if prevailing interest rates or other factors at the time of 
refinancing result in higher interest rates upon refinancing, then the interest expense relating to that refinanced indebtedness would 
increase. Currently, our Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan carry variable interest rates and are scheduled to mature in 
October 2027. We cannot assure you that we will be able to refinance our debt on acceptable terms, or at all, and any inability to 
refinance will materially and adversely affect us. Higher interest rates on newly incurred debt may negatively impact us as well. If 
interest rates increase, our interest costs and overall costs of capital will increase, which could materially and adversely affect us 
and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

In addition, we have entered into hedging arrangements and may enter into additional hedging arrangements in the future. Our 
hedging arrangements may include interest rate swaps, caps, floors and other interest rate hedging contracts. Our hedging 
arrangements could reduce, but may not eliminate, the impact of rising interest rates, and they could expose us to the risk that other 
parties to our hedging arrangements will not perform or that the agreements relating to our hedges may not be enforceable.

Our debt obligations may make it difficult to meet the REIT distribution requirements and avoid entity-level taxes.

To qualify as a REIT, we generally must distribute to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income each year 
(computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and our net capital gain) and we will be subject to corporate income tax 
on our undistributed taxable income to the extent that we distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income each year (computed 
without regard to the dividends paid deduction). In addition, we will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the amount, if 
any, by which distributions paid by us in any calendar year are less than the sum of 85% of our ordinary income, 95% of our capital 
gain net income and 100% of our undistributed income from prior years. Payments of principal on our borrowings, which are not 
deductible for tax purposes, may leave us with insufficient cash resources to make the distributions to our stockholders necessary 
to maintain our REIT status and avoid the payment of income and excise taxes. Furthermore, foreclosures could create taxable 
income without accompanying cash proceeds, which also could hinder our ability to meet those REIT distribution requirements and 
avoid those entity-level taxes.
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An increase in market interest rates could increase our interest costs on existing and future debt and could adversely affect our 
stock price, and a decrease in market interest rates could lead to additional competition for the acquisition of real estate, any of 
which could materially and adversely affect us.

Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors that are beyond our control, including general economic conditions and 
policies of various governmental and regulatory agencies and, in particular, the Federal Reserve Board. Interest rate increases would 
increase our interest costs for any new debt and our variable rate debt obligations we have, which could, in turn, make the financing 
of any acquisition more expensive as well as lower our current period earnings. Rising interest rates could limit our ability to 
refinance existing debt when it matures or cause us to pay higher interest rates upon refinancing. In addition, an increase in interest 
rates could decrease the access third parties have to credit, thereby decreasing the amount they are willing to pay to lease our assets 
and consequently limiting our ability to reposition our portfolio promptly in response to changes in economic or other conditions. 
Furthermore, the dividend yield on shares of our Common Stock, as a percentage of the price of such shares, will influence the 
price of our Common Stock. Thus, an increase in market interest rates may lead prospective purchasers of our shares to expect a 
higher dividend yield, which could adversely affect the market price of our Common Stock.

In addition, decreases in interest rates may lead to additional competition for the acquisition of real estate due to a reduction 
in desirable alternative income-producing investments. Increased competition for the acquisition of real estate may lead to a 
decrease in the yields on real estate we have targeted for acquisition. In such circumstances, if we are not able to offset the decrease 
in yields by obtaining lower interest costs on our borrowings, our results of operations will be adversely affected.

Consequently, increases or decreases in market interest rates could materially and adversely affect us.

Disruptions in the financial markets and deteriorating economic conditions could adversely affect our ability to obtain debt 
financing on commercially reasonable terms and adversely impact our ability to implement our investment strategy and achieve 
our investment objectives.

The United States and global financial markets have experienced significant volatility and disruption in the past. Recent 
increases in interest rates have and may continue to adversely affect acquisition yields. During the mid-2000s, there was a 
widespread tightening in overall credit markets, devaluation of the assets underlying certain financial contracts, and increased 
borrowing by governmental entities. The turmoil in the capital markets resulted in constrained equity and debt capital available for 
investment in the real estate market, resulting in fewer buyers seeking to acquire properties, increases in capitalization rates, and 
lower property values. While capital has generally become more available, future events or sustained negative conditions may also 
reduce the availability of financing, make financing terms less attractive, as well as impact the value of our investments in properties. 
If sufficient sources of external financing are not available to us on cost effective terms, we could be forced to limit our planned 
business activities or take other actions to fund our business activities and repayment of debt such as selling assets or reducing our 
cash distributions. Uncertainty in the credit markets could also negatively impact our ability to make acquisitions, make it more 
difficult or impossible for us to sell properties, or adversely affect the price we receive for properties that we do sell, as prospective 
buyers may experience increased costs of debt financing or difficulties in obtaining debt financing.

We may incur mortgage debt on our properties, which may subject us to certain risks, and the occurrence of any such risk could 
materially and adversely affect us.

We may incur mortgage debt on a particular property, especially if we believe the property’s projected cash flow is sufficient 
to service the mortgage debt. In addition, incurring mortgage debt may increase the risk of loss since defaults on indebtedness 
secured by a property may result in foreclosure actions initiated by lenders and our loss of the property securing the loan that is in 
default. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, a foreclosure of any of our properties would be treated as a sale of the property for 
a purchase price equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage. If the outstanding balance of the debt secured 
by the mortgage exceeds our tax basis in the property, we would recognize taxable income on foreclosure but would not receive 
any of the proceeds. We may give full or partial guarantees to lenders to the OP or its affiliates. If we give a guaranty on behalf of 
the OP, we will be responsible to the lender for satisfaction of the debt if it is not paid by the OP. If any mortgages contain cross-
collateralization or cross-default provisions, there is a risk that more than one of our real properties may be affected by a default. If 
any of our properties are foreclosed upon due to a default, we could be materially and adversely affected.

Failure to hedge effectively against interest rate changes may materially and adversely affect us.

To reduce our exposure to variable-rate debt, we have entered into interest rate swap agreements to fix the rate of interest as a 
hedge against interest rate fluctuations on floating-rate debt. These arrangements involve risks and may not be effective in reducing 
our exposure to interest rate changes. In addition, the counterparties to any hedging arrangements we enter into may not honor their 
obligations. Failure to hedge effectively against changes in interest rates relating to the interest expense of our future floating-rate 
borrowings may materially and adversely affect us.
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Our Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan contain various covenants which, if not complied with, could accelerate our 
repayment obligations, thereby materially and adversely affecting us.

We are subject to various financial and operational covenants and financial reporting requirements pursuant to the agreements 
we have entered into governing our Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan. These covenants require us to, among other things, 
maintain certain financial ratios, including leverage, fixed charge coverage, and debt service coverage, among others. As of 
December 31, 2024, we believe we were in compliance with all such covenants. Our continued compliance with these covenants 
depends on many factors and could be impacted by current or future economic conditions, and thus there are no assurances that we 
will continue to comply with these covenants. Failure to comply with these covenants would result in a default which, if we were 
unable to cure or obtain a waiver from the lenders, could accelerate our repayment obligations and thereby have a material and 
adverse impact on us.

Further, these covenants, as well as any additional covenants to which we may be subject in the future because of additional 
borrowings, could cause us to forego investment opportunities, reduce or eliminate distributions to our holders of our Common 
Stock, or obtain financing that is more expensive than financing we could obtain if we were not subject to the covenants. 
Additionally, these restrictions may adversely affect our operating and financial flexibility and may limit our ability to respond to 
changes in our business or competitive environment, all of which may materially and adversely affect us. 

We may be adversely affected by changes in SOFR reporting practices, the method in which SOFR is determined or the use of 
alternative reference rates.

On July 27, 2017, the FCA which regulates LIBOR, announced its intention to stop compelling banks to submit rates for the 
calculation of LIBOR after June 30, 2023. Our $250 million Revolving Credit Facility and $200 million Term Loan bear interest 
at floating rates based on SOFR plus an applicable margin. The Federal Reserve Board and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York 
organized the Alternative Reference Rates Committee, which identified SOFR, a new index calculated by short-term repurchase 
agreements, backed by Treasury securities, as its preferred alternative rate for LIBOR. There can be no assurances as to whether 
such interest rates will be more or less favorable than LIBOR and any other unforeseen impacts of the discontinuation of LIBOR.

Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure

Our charter contains provisions, including ownership and transfer restrictions, that may delay, discourage, or prevent a takeover 
or change of control transaction that could otherwise result in a premium price to our stockholders.

Our charter contains various provisions that are intended to facilitate our qualification as a REIT. For example, our charter 
restricts the direct or indirect ownership by one person or entity to no more than 9.8% of the value of our then outstanding shares 
of capital stock and no more than 9.8% of the value or number of shares, whichever is more restrictive, of our then outstanding 
shares of Common Stock unless exempted by our board of directors. This restriction may discourage a change of control of us and 
may deter individuals or entities from making tender offers for shares of our Common Stock on terms that might be financially 
attractive to stockholders or which may cause a change in our management. In addition to deterring potential change of control 
transactions that may be favorable to our stockholders, these provisions may also decrease our stockholders’ ability to sell their 
shares of our Common Stock. As a result, these charter provisions may negatively impact the market price of our Common Stock.

We may issue preferred stock or separate classes or series of common stock, which could adversely affect the holders of our 
Common Stock.

Our charter authorizes us to issue up to 500,000,000 shares of capital stock, including up to 450,000,000 shares of Common 
Stock and up to 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share (“preferred stock”), and our board of directors, 
without any action by our stockholders, may amend our charter from time to time to increase or decrease the aggregate number of 
shares or the number of shares of any class or series of stock that we have authority to issue. Holders of shares of our Common 
Stock do not have preemptive rights to acquire any shares issued by us in the future.

In addition, our board of directors may classify or reclassify any unissued shares of our Common Stock or preferred stock and 
establish the preferences, rights, and powers of any such stock. As a result, our board of directors could authorize the issuance of 
preferred stock or separate classes or series of common stock with terms and conditions that could have priority, with respect to 
distributions and amounts payable upon our liquidation, over the rights of our Common Stock. The issuance of shares of such 
preferred or separate classes or series of common stock could dilute the value of an investment in shares of our Common Stock. 
The issuance of shares of preferred stock or a separate class or series of common stock could provide the holders thereof with 
specified dividend payments and payments upon liquidation prior to or senior to those of the Common Stock, and could also have 
the effect of delaying, discouraging, or preventing a change in control of us, including an extraordinary transaction (such as a 
merger, tender offer, or sale of all or substantially all of our assets) that might provide a premium price for holders of our Common 
Stock.
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Termination of our employment agreements with certain members of our senior management team could be costly.

The employment agreements that we entered into with certain members of our senior management team provide that if their 
employment with us terminates under certain circumstances (including in connection with a change in control of our Company), 
we may be required to pay them significant amounts of severance compensation, thereby making it costly to terminate their 
employment.

In the event the executive’s termination of employment by the Company without “cause,” by the executive for “good reason” 
or due to the executive’s death or “disability” (as such terms are defined in the Employment Agreement) outside of the period 
beginning three months prior to or and ending 24 months following a change in control of the Company (the “Change in Control 
Window”), the executive is entitled to receive: (i) accrued benefits consisting of unpaid base salary and accrued but unused vacation 
or paid time off through the date of termination, reimbursement for all reasonable out-of-pocket business expenses incurred and 
paid by the executive through date of termination, and vested benefits under Company benefit plans (collectively, the “Accrued 
Benefits”); (ii) a lump sum payment equal to (a) in the case of termination by the Company without “cause” or by the employee for 
“good reason,” two times and (b) in the case of termination due to death or “disability,” one and one-half times the sum of the 
executive’s base salary and two-year average annual bonus, in the case of Messrs. Starr and Preston, or one times the sum of the 
executive’s base salary and two-year average annual bonus, in the case of Messrs. Dieffenbacher and Ireland; (iii) any earned but 
unpaid annual bonus for the prior calendar year; (iv) an amount equal to the executive’s target bonus for the year of termination, 
prorated through the date of termination; (v) reimbursement for the executive’s health insurance continuation coverage at the active-
employee rate for 18 months, in the case of Messrs. Starr and Preston, or 12 months, in the case of Messrs. Dieffenbacher and 
Ireland; and (vi) full vesting of any outstanding equity awards that are subject solely to time-based vesting conditions.

In the event of the executive’s termination of employment by the Company without cause or by the executive for good reason 
during the Change in Control Window, the executive is entitled to receive: (i) the Accrued Benefits; (ii) a lump sum payment equal 
to three times the sum of the base salary and two-year average annual bonus, in the case of Messrs. Starr and Preston, or two times 
the sum of the executive’s base salary and two-year average annual bonus, in the case of Messrs. Dieffenbacher and Ireland; (iii) 
any earned but unpaid annual bonus for the prior calendar year; (iv) an amount equal to the executive’s target bonus for the year of 
termination, prorated through the date of termination; (v) payment for the executive’s health insurance continuation coverage at the 
active-employee rate for 24 months, in the case of Messrs. Starr and Preston, or 18 months, in the case of Messrs. Dieffenbacher 
and Ireland; and (vi) full vesting of any outstanding equity awards that are subject solely to time-based vesting conditions.

Also in the event of a change in control of the Company, if any of the payments or benefits provided for under the Employment 
Agreement or otherwise payable to the executive would constitute “parachute payments” within the meaning of Section 280G of 
the Code and would be subject to the related excise tax under Section 4999 of the Code, then the executive will be entitled to receive 
either the full payment of such payments and benefits or a reduced amount of payments and benefits, where the reduced amount 
would result in no portion of the payments or benefits being subject to the excise tax, whichever results in the greater amount of 
after-tax benefits being retained by the executive.

In the event of the executive’s termination of employment by the Company for cause, or the executive voluntarily terminates 
employment (without good reason), the executive will be entitled to receive the Accrued Benefits.

All the severance payments and benefits are conditioned on the executive executing and not revoking a general release of 
claims for the benefit of the Company and the executive’s continued compliance with the restrictive covenants set forth in the 
Employment Agreements.

The severance payments included in our employment agreements described above could be costly.

We may experience adverse consequences as a result of the Internalization.

In connection with the closing of the initial public offering, we completed the Internalization, through which we acquired the 
affiliates of North American Realty Services LLLP (“NARS”) that previously performed external advisory and management 
services for our predecessor and the assets reasonably necessary to operate and manage our business. In connection with the 
Internalization, we onboarded certain employees of NARS or its affiliates, including our entire senior management team, assumed 
certain contractual relationships, including the assumption of an office lease and certain operating liabilities, and terminated the 
contractual relationship with NARS and its affiliates. There is no guarantee that the Internalization will be successful or achieve 
the results in the timeframe we expect or at all.
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In addition, as a self-managed REIT, we may encounter unforeseen costs, expenses, and difficulties associated with providing 
these services on a self-advised basis, which may materially and adversely affect us. While we no longer bear the costs of the 
various fees and expenses we previously paid to affiliates of NARS under our management arrangement, our direct expenses include 
general and administrative costs, including legal, accounting, employee compensation and benefits, and other expenses related to 
corporate governance, including SEC reporting and compliance.

We may have incurred unknown liabilities in connection with the 50/50 Joint Venture Acquisition, which could materially and 
adversely affect us.

In connection with the 50/50 Joint Venture Acquisition, we may have incurred unknown liabilities. The Interest Purchase 
Agreement provided that we are responsible for any liabilities associated with the 50/50 Joint Venture Acquisition. To the extent 
that we incurred any unknown liabilities in connection with the 50/50 Joint Venture Acquisition, it could materially and adversely 
affect us.

Our ability to recover any loss that we may suffer as a result of the REIT Contribution Transactions and Internalization may be 
limited.

In connection with the closing of the initial public offering, we entered into the Internalization Agreement and the Contribution 
Agreements, which contain customary representations and warranties. The representations and warranties of our counterparties to 
the Contribution Agreements did not survive the closing of the REIT Contribution Transactions and any alleged inaccuracies in or 
breaches of these representations and warranties, including those made to us, will not serve as the basis for any post-closing 
indemnification claims. The representations and warranties of our counterparties to the Internalization Agreement will survive until 
six months following the closing of the Internalization and any alleged inaccuracies in or breaches of these representations and 
warranties, including those made to us, will serve as the basis for any post-closing indemnification claims, which are subject to a 
cap and minimum amount to make such claims. There can be no assurance that we would be able to successfully recover any loss 
that we may suffer arising from a breach of a representation or warranty under the Internalization Agreement, and as a result, we 
may be materially adversely affected.

Our board of directors may change our investment and financing policies without stockholder approval, which could materially 
and adversely alter the nature of an investment in us.

The methods of implementing our investment policies and strategy may vary as new real estate development trends emerge, 
new investment techniques are developed, and market conditions evolve. Our investment and financing policies are exclusively 
determined by our board of directors and the Real Estate Investment Committee, which is comprised of three members, including 
each of our co-Chief Executive Officers. Accordingly, our stockholders do not control these policies. Further, our organizational 
documents do not limit the amount or percentage of indebtedness, funded or otherwise, that we may incur. Our long-term goal is 
to target a net debt-to-annualized adjusted EBITDAre ratio of 6.0x or below. Our board of directors and Real Estate Investment 
Committee may alter or eliminate our current policy on borrowing at any time without stockholder approval. If this policy changed, 
we could become more highly leveraged, which could result in an increase in our debt service costs and obligations. Higher leverage 
also increases the risk of default on our obligations. In addition, a change in our investment policies, including the manner in which 
we allocate our resources across our portfolio or the types of assets in which we seek to invest, may increase our exposure to interest 
rate risk, real estate market fluctuations, and liquidity risk. Changes to our policies with regard to the foregoing could materially 
and adversely affect us.

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to take action against our directors and officers are limited.

Maryland law provides that a director of a Maryland corporation will not have any liability as a director if he or she performs 
his or her duties in good faith, in a manner he or she reasonably believes to be in our best interests and with the care that an ordinary 
prudent person in a like position would use under similar circumstances. A director who performs his or her duties in accordance 
with the foregoing standards should not be liable to us or any other person for failure to discharge his or her obligations as a director. 
Our charter eliminates the liability of our directors and officers to us and our stockholders for money damages to the maximum 
extent permitted by Maryland law. Therefore, our directors and officers are subject to monetary liability resulting only from:

actual receipt of an improper personal benefit or profit in money, property, or services; or
active and deliberate dishonesty by the director or officer that was established by a final judgment as being material to 
the cause of action adjudicated.

As a result, we and our stockholders have rights against our directors and officers that are more limited than might otherwise 
exist. Accordingly, in the event that actions taken by any of our directors or officers impede the performance of our Company, your 
and our ability to recover damages from such director or officer will be limited. Our charter also requires us to indemnify and 
advance expenses to our directors and our officers for actions taken by them in those and certain other capacities subject to any 
limitations under Maryland law or in our charter.
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Moreover, we have entered into separate indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive officers. As a 
result, we and our stockholders may have more limited rights against these persons than might otherwise exist absent these 
provisions in our charter. In addition, we may be obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by these persons in some cases, which 
would reduce the cash available for distributions.

Our bylaws designate specific courts in Baltimore, Maryland and the federal district courts of the United States as the exclusive 
forum for certain litigation that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a 
favorable judicial forum for disputes with us.

Our bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Circuit Court for Baltimore 
City, Maryland, or, if that court does not have jurisdiction, the United States District Court for the District of Maryland, will be the 
sole and exclusive forum for (a) any Internal Corporate Claim, as such term is defined in the MGCL, or any successor provision 
thereof, and any action or proceeding asserting any Internal Corporate Claim, including without limitation: (i) any derivative action 
or proceeding brought on our behalf (ii) any claim, or any action or proceeding asserting a claim, based on an alleged breach of any 
duty owed by any director or officer or other employee of ours to us or to our stockholders; or (iii) any claim, or any action or 
proceeding asserting a claim, against us or any director or officer or other employee of ours arising under or pursuant to any 
provision of the MGCL, our charter or our bylaws; or (b) any action or proceeding asserting a claim against us or any director or 
officer or other employee of ours that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. These exclusive forum provisions will not apply 
to suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, or any other claim for which federal 
courts have exclusive jurisdiction. Furthermore, our bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an 
alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America shall be the exclusive forum for any action or proceeding 
asserting claims arising under the Securities Act, including all causes of action asserted against any defendant to such action or 
proceeding. The exclusive forum provision could limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds 
favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which could discourage such lawsuits against us and 
our directors, officers and other employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find the exclusive forum provision contained in our 
bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we could incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in 
other jurisdictions.

We are a holding company with no direct operations and rely on funds received from the OP to pay liabilities.

We are a holding company and conduct substantially all of our operations through the OP. We do not have, apart from an 
indirect interest in the OP, any independent operations. As a result, we rely on distributions from the OP to pay any distributions 
we might declare on shares of our Common Stock. We will also rely on distributions from the OP to meet any of our obligations, 
including any tax liability on taxable income allocated to us from the OP. In addition, because we are a holding company, your 
claims as stockholders are structurally subordinated to all existing and future liabilities and obligations (whether or not for borrowed 
money) of the OP and its subsidiaries. Therefore, in the event of our bankruptcy, liquidation, or reorganization, our assets and those 
of the OP and its subsidiaries will be able to satisfy the claims of our stockholders only after all of our, the OP and its subsidiaries’ 
liabilities and obligations have been paid in full.

Our UPREIT structure may result in potential conflicts of interest between the interests of our stockholders and limited partners 
in the OP, which may materially and adversely impede business decisions that could benefit our stockholders.

Conflicts of interest could arise in the future as a result of the relationships between us and our affiliates, on the one hand, and 
the OP or any future member thereof, on the other. Our directors and officers have duties to our Company under applicable Maryland 
law in connection with the management of our Company. At the same time, we, as the general partner of the OP, will have fiduciary 
duties and obligations to the OP and its limited partners under Delaware law and the OP Agreement in connection with the 
management of the OP. Our fiduciary duties and obligations, as the general partner of the OP and its limited partners may come 
into conflict with the duties of our directors and officers to our Company.

While we intend to avoid situations involving conflicts of interest, there may be situations in which the interests of the OP 
may conflict with our interests. Our activities specifically authorized by or described in the OP Agreement may be performed by 
us, directly or indirectly, and will not, in any case or in the aggregate, be deemed a breach of the OP Agreement or any duty owed 
by us to the OP or any of their respective limited partners. In exercising our authority under the OP Agreement, we may, but are 
under no obligation to, take into account the tax consequences of any action we take. We and the OP have no liability to a limited 
partner under any circumstances as a result of an income tax liability incurred by such limited partner as a result of an action (or 
inaction) by us pursuant to our authority under the OP Agreement.

The OP Agreement provides that the general partner will not be liable to the OP, its limited partners, or any other person bound 
by the OP Agreement for monetary damages for losses sustained, liabilities incurred, or benefits not derived by the OP or any of 
its limited partners, except for liability for the general partner’s gross negligence or willful misconduct. Moreover, the OP 
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Agreement provide that the OP, as applicable, is required to indemnify us, the direct or indirect general partner, our affiliates, and 
certain related persons, and any of our officers, stockholders, directors, employees, representatives, or agents from and against any 
and all claims that relate to the operations of the OP, except if (i) the act was committed in bad faith, (ii) the act was the result of 
active and deliberate dishonesty and was material to the cause of action involved, or (iii) it personally gained in fact a financial 
income or other advantage to which it was not entitled under law.

We are an “emerging growth company,” and we cannot be certain if the reduced SEC reporting requirements applicable to 
emerging growth companies will make our Common Stock less attractive to investors, which could make the market price and 
trading volume of our Common Stock more volatile and decline significantly.

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act. We will remain an “emerging growth company” until the 
earliest to occur of (i) the last day of the fiscal year during which we have total annual gross revenue of $1.235 billion or more 
(subject to adjustment for inflation), (ii) the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the first sale of our Common 
Stock pursuant to an effective registration statement, (iii) the date on which we have, during the previous three-year period, issued 
more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt, or (iv) the date on which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer.” We intend 
to take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to most other public companies, whether 
or not they are classified as “emerging growth companies,” including, but not limited to, an exemption from the provisions of 
Section 404(b) of Sarbanes-Oxley requiring that our independent registered public accounting firm provide an attestation report on 
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. An attestation report by our auditor would require additional 
procedures by them that could detect problems with our internal control over financial reporting that are not detected by 
management. If our system of internal control over financial reporting is not determined to be appropriately designed or operating 
effectively, it could require us to restate financial statements, cause us to fail to meet reporting obligations, and cause investors to 
lose confidence in our reported financial information, all of which could lead to a significant decline in the market price of our 
Common Stock. The JOBS Act also provides that an “emerging growth company” can take advantage of the extended transition 
period provided in the Securities Act, for complying with new or revised accounting standards. We have elected to take advantage 
of this extended transition period. As a result of this election, our financial statements may not be comparable to companies that 
comply with public company effective dates for such new or revised standards. We may elect to comply with public company 
effective dates at any time, and such election would be irrevocable pursuant to Section 107(b) of the JOBS Act. We cannot predict 
if investors will find our Common Stock less attractive because we intend to rely on certain of these exemptions and benefits under 
the JOBS Act. If some investors find our Common Stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active, liquid, and/or orderly 
trading market for our Common Stock and the market price and trading volume of our Common Stock may be more volatile and 
decline significantly.

The value of an investment in our Common Stock may be reduced if we or any of our subsidiaries are required to register as an 
investment company under the Investment Company Act and, if we are subject to registration under the Investment Company 
Act, we will not be able to continue our business.

Neither we, the OP, nor any of our subsidiaries intend to register as an investment company under the Investment Company 
Act. If we were obligated to register as an investment company, we would have to comply with a variety of substantive requirements 
under the Investment Company Act that would impose significant and onerous limitations on our operations, as well as require us 
to comply with various reporting, record keeping, voting, proxy disclosure, and other rules and regulations that would significantly 
alter our operations and significantly increase our operating expenses.

We believe that we, the OP, and the subsidiaries of the OP do not and will not fall within the definition of “investment 
company” under Section 3(a)(1) of the Investment Company Act as we intend to invest primarily in real property through our 
wholly or majority-owned subsidiaries. Accordingly, we believe that we and the OP are and will be primarily engaged in the non-
investment company business of such subsidiaries and therefore will not fall within the aforementioned definition of “investment 
company.”

To ensure that neither we nor any of our subsidiaries, including the OP, are required to register as an investment company, 
each entity may be unable to sell assets that it would otherwise want to sell and may need to sell assets that it would otherwise wish 
to retain. In addition, we, the OP, or our subsidiaries may be required to acquire additional income- or loss-generating assets that 
we might not otherwise acquire or forego opportunities to acquire interests in companies that we would otherwise want to acquire. 
Although we, the OP, and our subsidiaries intend to monitor our portfolio periodically and prior to each acquisition and disposition, 
any of these entities may not be able to remain outside the definition of investment company or maintain an exclusion from the 
definition of investment company. If we, the OP, or our subsidiaries are required to register as an investment company but fail to 
do so, the unregistered entity would be prohibited from engaging in our business, and criminal and civil actions could be brought 
against such entity. In addition, the contracts of such entity would be unenforceable unless a court required enforcement, and a 
court could appoint a receiver to take control of the entity and liquidate its business.
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U.S. Federal Income Tax Risks

Failure to qualify as a REIT would materially and adversely affect us and the value of our Common Stock.

We intend to elect to qualify to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code and the applicable U.S. 
Treasury regulations, which contain the requirements for qualifying as a REIT and we refer to those requirements in this Form 10-
K as the “REIT Requirements,” commencing with our short taxable year ending December 31, 2024. We believe that we have been 
organized and have operated in a manner to qualify for taxation as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes commencing with 
such year. We intend to continue to operate as a REIT in the future, but we cannot provide an assurance that we have been or will 
be able to do so. If we lose our REIT status, we will face significant tax consequences that would substantially reduce our cash 
available for distribution to our stockholders for each of the years involved because:

we would not be allowed a deduction for distributions to stockholders in computing our taxable income and would be 
subject to U.S. federal income tax at the corporate rate;
we could be subject to increased state and local income taxes;
unless we are entitled to relief under applicable statutory provisions of the Code, we (and our successor) could not elect 
to be taxed as a REIT for four taxable years following the year during which qualification was lost; and
for the five years following re-election of REIT status, upon a taxable disposition of an asset owned as of such re-
election, we would be subject to corporate level tax with respect to any built-in gain inherent in such asset at the time 
of re-election.

Any such corporate tax liability could be substantial and would reduce our cash available for, among other things, our 
operations and distributions to stockholders. If this occurs, we may need to borrow funds or liquidate some of our properties in 
order to pay any applicable taxes. However, if we fail to qualify as a REIT, we will not be required to make distributions to our 
stockholders. As a result of all these factors, our failure to qualify as a REIT also could impair our ability to execute our growth 
strategy and raise capital, and could materially and adversely affect the trading price of our Common Stock.

Qualification as a REIT involves the application of technical and complex Code provisions for which there are only limited 
judicial and administrative interpretations. The determination of various factual matters and circumstances not entirely within our 
control may affect our ability to qualify as a REIT. In order to qualify as a REIT, we must satisfy a number of REIT Requirements, 
including requirements regarding the ownership of our stock, requirements regarding the composition of our assets and a 
requirement that at least 75% or 95% of our gross income in any year must be derived from qualifying sources, such as “rents from 
real property.” Also, we must make distributions to stockholders aggregating annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, 
computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and our net capital gain. In addition, legislation, new regulations, 
administrative interpretations, or court decisions may materially and adversely affect our investors, our ability to qualify as a REIT 
for U.S. federal income tax purposes, or the desirability of an investment in a REIT relative to other investments.

The OP owns all of the common units of two subsidiary REITs (the “Subsidiary REITs”). One Subsidiary REIT elected to be 
taxed as a REIT, beginning with its taxable year ended December 31, 2016. The other Subsidiary REIT elected to be taxed as a 
REIT, beginning with its taxable year ended December 31, 2021. If either of the Subsidiary REITs failed to qualify as a REIT, or 
fails to continue to qualify as a REIT in the future, that Subsidiary REIT would face the same tax consequences described above. 
In addition, the failure of either of the Subsidiary REITs to qualify as a REIT may prevent us from qualifying as a REIT.

Even if we qualify and remain qualified as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we may be subject to other tax 
liabilities that reduce our cash flow and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

Even if we qualify and remain qualified as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we may still be subject to some U.S. 
federal, state, and local income, property, and excise taxes on our income or property. For example:

In order to qualify as a REIT, we must distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our stockholders 
(computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and our net capital gain), and to the extent that we satisfy 
the distribution requirement but distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income (computed without regard to the 
dividends paid deduction and including our net capital gain), we will be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax 
on the undistributed income, as well as applicable state and local income taxes.
If we should fail to distribute, or fail to be treated as having distributed, with respect to each calendar year at least the 
sum of (i) 85% of our REIT ordinary income for such year, (ii) 95% of our REIT capital gain net income for such year, 
and (iii) any undistributed taxable income from prior periods, we would be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax 
on the excess of such required distribution over the sum of (a) the amounts actually distributed and (b) the amounts we 
retained and upon which we paid U.S. federal income tax at the corporate level.
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If we have (i) net income from the sale or other disposition of “foreclosure property” that is held primarily for sale to 
customers in the ordinary course of business or (ii) other non-qualifying net income from foreclosure property, we will 
be subject to tax at the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate on such income. To the extent that income from 
“foreclosure property” is otherwise qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test, this tax is not 
applicable.
If we have net income from prohibited transactions (which are, in general, certain sales or other dispositions of property 
held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, other than sales of foreclosure property and 
sales that qualify for certain statutory safe harbors), such income will be subject to a 100% tax.
We may be subject to tax on gain recognized in a taxable disposition of assets acquired from a non-REIT C corporation 
by way of a carryover basis transaction, when such gain is recognized on a disposition of an asset during a five-year 
period beginning on the date on which we acquired the asset. To the extent of any “built-in gain,” such gain will be 
subject to U.S. federal income tax at the federal corporate income tax rate. Built-in gain means the excess of (i) the fair 
market value of the asset as of the beginning of the applicable recognition period over (ii) our adjusted basis in such 
asset as of the beginning of such recognition period.

Similarly, even if the Subsidiary REITs remain qualified as REITs for U.S. federal income tax purposes, they may be subject 
to the same U.S. federal, state and local income, property, and excise taxes on their income or property. In addition, the earnings of 
our TRSs are subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax, and state and local income tax in the jurisdictions in which they operate.

If the OP fails to qualify as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we would cease to qualify as a REIT and 
suffer other adverse consequences.

We believe that the OP will be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a partnership, the OP would 
generally not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on its income. Instead, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, if the OP is treated 
as a partnership, each of its partners, including us, would be allocated, and may be required to pay tax with respect to, such partner’s 
share of its income. The OP may be required to determine and pay an imputed underpayment of tax (plus interest and penalties) 
resulting from an adjustment of the OP’s items of income, gain, loss, deduction, or credit at the partnership level. We cannot assure 
you that the IRS will not challenge the status of the OP or any other subsidiary partnership in which we own an interest as a 
disregarded entity or partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, or that a court would not sustain such a challenge. If the IRS 
were successful in treating the OP or any such other subsidiary partnership as an entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal 
income tax purposes, we would fail to meet the gross income tests and certain of the asset tests applicable to REITs and, accordingly, 
we would cease to qualify as a REIT. Also, the failure of the OP or any subsidiary partnerships to qualify as a disregarded entity or 
partnership could cause it to become subject to U.S. federal and state corporate income tax, which would reduce significantly the 
amount of cash available for debt service and for distribution to its partners, including us.

To satisfy the REIT distribution requirements, we may be forced to take certain actions to raise funds if we have insufficient 
cash flow which could materially and adversely affect us and the trading price of our Common Stock.

To qualify as a REIT, we generally must distribute to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income each year, 
computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and our net capital gain, and we will be subject to corporate income tax 
on our undistributed taxable income to the extent that we distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income each year and 
including our net capital gain, computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction. In addition, we will be subject to a 4% 
nondeductible excise tax on the amount, if any, by which distributions paid by us in any calendar year are less than the sum of 85% 
of our ordinary income, 95% of our capital gain net income and 100% of our undistributed income from prior years. In order to 
satisfy these distribution requirements to maintain our REIT status and avoid the payment of income and excise taxes, we may need 
to take certain actions to raise funds if we have insufficient cash flow, such as borrowing funds, raising additional equity capital, 
selling a portion of our assets or finding another alternative to make distributions to our stockholders. We may be forced to take 
those actions even if the then-prevailing market conditions are not favorable for those actions. This situation could arise from, 
among other things, differences in timing between the actual receipt of cash and recognition of income for U.S. federal income tax 
purposes, or the effect of non-deductible capital expenditures or other non-deductible expenses, the creation of reserves, or required 
debt or amortization payments. Such actions could increase our costs and reduce the value of our Common Stock. These sources, 
however, may not be available on favorable terms or at all. Our access to third-party sources of capital depends on a number of 
factors, including the market’s perception of our growth potential, our current debt levels, the market price of our Common Stock, 
and our current and potential future earnings. We cannot assure you that we will have access to such capital on favorable terms at 
the desired times, or at all, which may cause us to curtail our investment activities and/or to dispose of assets at inopportune times, 
and could materially and adversely affect us and the trading price of our Common Stock.
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Further, to qualify as a REIT, we must also satisfy tests on an ongoing basis concerning, among other things, the sources of 
our income, nature of our assets, and the amounts we distribute to our stockholders. We may be required to make distributions to 
stockholders at times when it would be more advantageous to reinvest cash in our business or when we do not have funds readily 
available for distribution. Compliance with the REIT Requirements may hinder our ability to operate solely on the basis of 
maximizing profits.

The ownership of our TRSs, and any other TRS we form, are subject to limitations, and our transactions with our TRSs, and 
any other TRS we form, may cause us to be subject to a 100% penalty tax on certain income or deductions if those 
transactions are not conducted on arm’s-length terms.

Overall, no more than 20% of the value of a REIT’s assets may consist of stock or securities of one or more TRSs. The Code 
also imposes a 100% excise tax on certain transactions between a TRS and its parent REIT that are not conducted on an arm’s-
length basis. It is our policy to evaluate material intercompany transactions and to attempt to set the terms of such transactions so 
as to achieve substantially the same result as they believe would have been the case if they were unrelated parties. As a result, we 
believe that all material transactions between and among us and the entities in which we own a direct or indirect interest have been 
and will be negotiated and structured as arm’s-length transactions and that the potential application of the 100% excise tax will not 
have a material effect on us. There can be no assurance, however, that we will be able to comply with the TRS limitation or to avoid 
application of the 100% excise tax.

The IRS may treat sale-leaseback transactions as loans, which could jeopardize our REIT status or require us to make an 
unexpected distribution.

We have purchased properties and leased them back to the sellers of such properties, and may do so in the future. The IRS 
may take the position that certain of these sale-leaseback transactions that we treat as leases are not “true leases” but are, instead, 
financing arrangements or loans for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

If a sale-leaseback transaction were so re-characterized, the Subsidiary REITs and we might fail to satisfy the REIT asset tests, 
the income tests, or distribution requirements and consequently the Subsidiary REITs and we could lose REIT status effective with 
the year of re-characterization unless the Subsidiary REITs and we elect to make additional distributions to maintain REIT status. 
The primary risk relates to the disallowance of deductions for depreciation and cost recovery relating to such property, which could 
affect the calculation of REIT taxable income and could cause the Subsidiary REITs and us to fail the REIT distribution requirement 
that requires a REIT to distribute at least 90% of its REIT taxable income, computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction 
and any net capital gain. In this circumstance, the Subsidiary REITs and we may elect to distribute additional dividends of the 
increased taxable income so as not to fail the REIT distribution test. This distribution would be paid to all stockholders at the time 
of declaration rather than the stockholders that held our shares in the taxable year affected by the re-characterization.

Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends.

The maximum U.S. federal income tax rate applicable to income from “qualified dividends” payable to U.S. stockholders that 
are individuals, trusts, and estates is 20%. Ordinary dividends payable by REITs, however, generally are not eligible for the 20% 
rate applicable to “qualified dividends” except to the extent the REIT dividends are attributable to “qualified dividends” received 
by the REIT itself or generally attributable to income upon which we (or a predecessor) have paid U.S. federal corporate income 
tax. However, for non-corporate U.S. stockholders, ordinary dividends payable by REITs that are not designated as capital gain 
dividends or treated as “qualified dividends” generally are eligible for a deduction of 20% of the amount of such ordinary REIT 
dividends, for taxable years beginning before January 1, 2026. The deduction, if allowed in full, equates to a maximum effective 
U.S. federal income tax rate on ordinary REIT dividends of 29.6%, based on currently applicable rates. More favorable rates will 
nevertheless continue to apply for regular corporate “qualified dividends.” Although these rules do not adversely affect the taxation 
of REITs or dividends payable by REITs, to the extent that the 20% rate continues to apply to regular corporate qualified dividends, 
investors who are individuals, trusts and estates may regard investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than investments 
in the stocks of non-REIT corporations.

The tax imposed on REITs engaging in “prohibited transactions” may limit our ability to engage in transactions which would 
be treated as sales for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

A REIT’s net income from prohibited transactions is subject to a 100% penalty tax. In general, prohibited transactions are 
sales or other dispositions of property, other than foreclosure property, held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course 
of business. Although we do not intend to hold any properties that would be characterized as held for sale to customers in the 
ordinary course of our business, unless a sale or disposition qualifies under certain statutory safe harbors, such characterization is 
a factual determination and no guarantee can be given that the IRS would agree with that characterization of those properties or that 
we will always be able to make use of the available safe harbors.
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Complying with the REIT Requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively and may cause us to incur tax liabilities.

The REIT provisions of the Code substantially limit our ability to hedge our assets and liabilities. Any income from a hedging 
transaction that we enter into to manage the risk of interest rate changes with respect to borrowings made or to be made to acquire 
or carry real estate assets, or from certain terminations of such hedging positions, does not constitute “gross income” for purposes 
of the 75% or 95% gross income tests that apply to REITs, provided that certain identification requirements are met. To the extent 
that we enter into other types of hedging transactions or fail to properly identify such transaction as a hedge, the income is likely to 
be treated as non-qualifying income for purposes of the 75% and 95% gross income tests. As a result of these rules, we may be 
required to limit our use of advantageous hedging techniques or implement those hedges through a TRS. This could increase the 
cost of our hedging activities because any TRS in which we own an interest may be subject to tax on its income or gains or expose 
us to greater risks associated with changes in interest rates than we would otherwise want to bear. In addition, losses in any TRS in 
which we own an interest will generally not provide any tax benefit, except that such losses may only be carried forward and may 
only be deducted against 80% of future taxable income in such TRS.

Complying with the REIT Requirements may force us to liquidate or forgo otherwise attractive investments.

To qualify as REITs, the Subsidiary REITs and we must continually satisfy tests concerning, among other things, the nature 
and diversification of its assets, the sources of its income, and the amounts it distributes to its stockholders. In connection with the 
internalization transaction in connection with our IPO we were treated as having acquired substantial amounts of goodwill that may 
not qualify for the 75% asset test. Compliance with these limitations, particularly given the goodwill that we acquire in the 
Internalization, may hinder our ability to make, and, in certain cases, maintain ownership of certain attractive investments that 
might not qualify for the 75% asset test. If the Subsidiary REITs and we fail to comply with the REIT asset test requirements at the 
end of any calendar quarter, it must correct the failure within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter or qualify for certain 
statutory relief provisions to avoid losing its REIT qualification and suffering adverse tax consequences. As a result, we may be 
required to liquidate or forgo otherwise attractive investments in order to satisfy the asset and income tests or to qualify under 
certain statutory relief provisions. These actions could have the effect of reducing our income, increasing our income tax liability, 
and reducing amounts available for distribution to our stockholders. In addition, we may be required to make distributions to 
stockholders at disadvantageous times or when we do not have funds readily available for distribution, and may be unable to pursue 
investments (or, in some cases, forego the sale of such investments) that would be otherwise advantageous to the Subsidiary REITs 
and us in order to satisfy the REIT Requirements. Accordingly, satisfying the REIT Requirements could materially and adversely 
affect us. Moreover, if we are compelled to liquidate our investments to meet any of these asset, income, or distribution tests, or to 
repay obligations to our lenders, we may be unable to comply with one or more of the REIT Requirements or may be subject to a 
100% tax on any resulting gain if such sales constitute prohibited transactions.

Changes to the U.S. federal income tax laws could have a material and adverse effect on us and our stockholders.

There may be changes in U.S. federal tax laws, regulations, rules, and judicial and administrative interpretations applicable to 
us, our subsidiaries and their businesses, the effect of which cannot be predicted. Our stockholders and prospective investors are 
urged to consult with their own tax advisors with respect to the status of legislative, regulatory, or administrative developments and 
proposals and their potential effect on an investment in shares of our Common Stock.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

The market price and trading volume of shares of our Common Stock may be volatile.

The market price of shares of our Common Stock may fluctuate. In addition, the trading volume in shares of our Common 
Stock may fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur. Historically, these changes frequently appear to occur without 
regard to the operating performance of the affected companies. Hence, the price of our Common Stock could fluctuate based upon 
factors that have little or nothing to do with us in particular. If the market price of shares of our Common Stock declines 
significantly, you may be unable to resell your shares of our Common Stock at or above the public offering price. We cannot assure 
you that the market price of shares of our Common Stock will not fluctuate or decline significantly, including a decline below the 
public offering price, in the future.

Some of the factors that could negatively affect our share price or result in fluctuations in the market price or trading volume 
of shares of our Common Stock include:

actual or anticipated declines in our quarterly operating results or distributions;
changes in government regulations;
changes in laws affecting REITs and related tax matters;
the announcement of new contracts by us or our competitors;
reductions in our FFO, adjusted funds from operations (“AFFO”), or earnings estimates;
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publication of research reports about us or the real estate industry;
increases in market interest rates that lead purchasers of shares of our Common Stock to demand a higher yield;
future equity issuances, or the perception that they may occur, including issuances of Common Stock upon exercise or 
vesting of Awards under the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan or redemption of OP Units;
changes in market valuations of similar companies;
adverse market reaction to any increased indebtedness we incur in the future;
additions or departures of key management personnel;
actions by institutional stockholders;
differences between our actual financial and operating results and those expected by investors and analysts;
changes in analysts’ recommendations or projections;
speculation in the press or investment community; and
the realization of any of the other risk factors presented in this report.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the 
price of their common stock. This type of litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and 
resources, which could have a material adverse effect on our cash flows, our ability to execute our business strategy, and our ability 
to make distributions to our stockholders.

We may not be able to make distributions to our stockholders at the times or in the amounts we expect, or at all.

We intend to make cash distributions to our stockholders in amounts such that all or substantially all of our taxable income in 
each year, subject to adjustments, is distributed. However, we may not be able to continue to generate sufficient cash flow from our 
properties to permit us to make the distributions we expect. Our ability to continue to make distributions in the future may be 
adversely affected by the risk factors described in this report. We can provide no assurance that we will be able to make or maintain 
distributions and certain agreements relating to our indebtedness may, under certain circumstances, limit or eliminate our ability to 
make distributions to holders of our Common Stock. For instance, our credit agreement contains provisions that restrict us from 
paying distributions if an event of default exists, other than distributions required to maintain our REIT status. We can give no 
assurance that rents from our properties will increase, or that future acquisitions of real properties or other investments will increase 
our cash available for distributions to stockholders. In addition, any distributions will be authorized at the sole discretion of our 
board of directors, and the form, timing, and amount, if any, will depend upon a number of factors, including our actual and projected 
results of operations, FFO, AFFO, liquidity, cash flows and financial condition, the revenue we actually receive from our properties, 
our operating expenses, our debt service requirements, our capital expenditures, prohibitions and other limitations under our 
financing arrangements, our REIT taxable income, the annual REIT distribution requirements, applicable law, and such other factors 
as our board of directors deems relevant.

Distributions are expected to be based upon our FFO, AFFO, financial condition, cash flows and liquidity, debt service 
requirements, and capital expenditure requirements for our properties. If we do not have sufficient cash available for distributions, 
we may need to fund the shortage out of working capital or borrow to provide funds for such distributions, which would reduce the 
amount of proceeds available for real estate investments and increase our future interest costs. Our inability to make distributions, 
or to make distributions at expected levels, could result in a decrease in trading price of our Common Stock.

We may change the dividend policy for our Common Stock in the future.

The decision to declare and pay dividends on our Common Stock, as well as the form, timing, and amount of any such future 
dividends, will be at the sole discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our earnings, cash flows, liquidity, financial 
condition, capital requirements, contractual prohibitions or other limitations under our indebtedness, the annual distribution 
requirements under the REIT provisions of the Code, state law, and such other factors as our board of directors considers relevant. 
Any change in our dividend policy could have a material adverse effect on the market price of our Common Stock.

Increases in market interest rates may result in a decrease in the value of shares of our Common Stock.

One of the factors that will influence the price of shares of our Common Stock will be the distribution yield on shares of our 
Common Stock (as a percentage of the price of shares of our Common Stock) relative to market interest rates. An increase in market 
interest rates, which are currently at low levels relative to historical rates, may lead prospective purchasers of shares of our Common 
Stock to expect a higher distribution yield and higher interest rates would likely increase our borrowing costs and potentially 
decrease funds available for distribution. Thus, higher market interest rates could cause the per share trading price of our Common 
Stock to decrease.
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There may be future dilution to earnings related to shares of our Common Stock.

The market price of shares of our Common Stock could decline as a result of issuances or sales of a large number of shares of 
our Common Stock in the market or the perception that such issuances or sales could occur. Additionally, future issuances or sales 
of substantial amounts of shares of our Common Stock may be at prices below the initial public offering price of the shares of our 
Common Stock and may result in further dilution in our earnings and FFO per share and/or materially and adversely impact the per 
share trading price of our Common Stock. 

Future offerings of debt, which would be senior to shares of our Common Stock upon liquidation, and/or preferred equity 
securities that may be senior to shares of our Common for purposes of distributions or upon liquidation, may materially and 
adversely affect the market price of shares of our Common Stock.

In the future, we may attempt to increase our capital resources by making additional offerings of debt or preferred equity 
securities (or causing the OP to issue debt securities). Upon liquidation, holders of our debt securities and preferred stock and 
lenders with respect to other borrowings will receive distributions of our available assets prior to our stockholders. Additionally, 
any convertible or exchangeable securities that we issue in the future may have rights, preferences, and privileges more favorable 
than those of our Common Stock and may result in dilution to owners of our Common Stock. Our stockholders are not entitled to 
preemptive rights or other protections against dilution. Our preferred stock, if issued, could have a preference on liquidating 
distributions or a preference on distribution payments that could limit our right to make distributions to our stockholders. Because 
our decision to issue securities in any future offering will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we 
cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing, or nature of our future offerings. Our stockholders bear the risk of our future offerings 
reducing the per share trading price of our Common Stock.

Sales of substantial amounts of our Common Stock in the public markets, or the perception that they might occur, could reduce 
the price of our Common Stock.

Prior to the initial public offering, our Common Stock was not listed on any national securities exchange and the ability of 
stockholders to liquidate their investments was limited. As a result, there may be increased demand to sell shares of our Common 
Stock when shares of our Common Stock owned by the contributing investors are listed on the NYSE and freely tradable. A large 
volume of sales of shares (or short sales) of our Common Stock (whether they are shares of Common Stock that were issued in the 
initial public offering, shares of Common Stock that are held by contributing investors upon the closing of the REIT Contribution 
Transactions, or shares of Common Stock issued upon redemption of OP Units) could decrease the prevailing market price of our 
Common Stock and could impair our ability to raise additional capital through the sale of equity securities in the future. Even if a 
substantial number of sales of our Common Stock are not affected, the mere perception of the possibility of these sales could depress 
the market price of our Common Stock and have a negative effect on our ability to raise capital in the future.

The shares of our Common Stock that we sold in the initial public offering may be resold immediately in the public market 
unless they are held by “affiliates,” as that term is defined in Rule 144 of the Securities Act. The Common Stock and OP Units 
issued as consideration in connection with the Internalization are “restricted securities” within the meaning of Rule 144 under the 
Securities Act and may not be sold in the absence of registration under the Securities Act unless an exemption from registration is 
available, including the exemptions contained in Rule 144. Certain of our existing stockholders (as well as our directors and officers) 
have agreed, subject to certain exceptions, not to sell or otherwise dispose of any of their shares of Common Stock or OP Units 
through April 1, 2025, except with the prior written consent of the representatives of the underwriters. Sales of a substantial number 
of such shares upon expiration of the lock-up agreements, the perception that such sales may occur, or early release of these 
agreements, could cause the market price of our Common Stock to fall or make it more difficult for you to sell your shares of our 
Common Stock at a time and price that you deem appropriate.

Sales of substantial amounts of our capital stock in the public markets may dilute your voting power and your ownership 
interest in us.

Our charter provides that we may issue up to 450,000,000 shares of Common Stock and 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock, 
$0.01 par value per share. Moreover, under Maryland law and as provided in our charter, a majority of our entire board of directors 
has the power to amend our charter to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares of stock or the number of shares of stock 
of any class or series that we are authorized to issue without stockholder approval. Future issuances of shares of our Common Stock, 
securities convertible or exchangeable into Common Stock, or shares of our preferred stock may dilute the ownership interest of 
the holders of our Common Stock. Because our decision to issue additional equity or convertible or exchangeable securities in any 
future offering will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, 
timing or nature of our future issuances. In addition, we are not required to offer any such securities to existing stockholders on a 
preemptive basis. Therefore, it may not be possible for existing stockholders to participate in such future issuances, which may 
dilute the existing stockholders’ interests in us.
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The holders of outstanding OP Units have the right to have their OP Units exchanged for cash or (at our option) shares of 
Common Stock and any disclosure of such exchange or the subsequent sale (or any disclosure of an intent to enter into such an 
exchange or subsequent sale) of such shares of Common Stock may cause volatility in our stock price.

The exchange of OP Units for Common Stock, including OP Units granted to certain directors, executive officers and other 
employees, or the issuance of our Common Stock or OP Units in connection with future property, portfolio or business acquisitions, 
or the perception that such exchanges might occur, could adversely affect the market price of our Common Stock. In addition, the 
existence of shares of our Common Stock reserved for issuance under the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan may adversely affect the 
terms upon which we may be able to obtain additional capital through the sale of equity securities. Future issuances of shares of 
our Common Stock may also be dilutive to existing stockholders. Any of these events may materially and adversely affect the 
market price of our Common Stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments. 

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity.

Risk Management and Strategy 

Cybersecurity Processes

We have implemented various information security processes designed to identify, assess, and manage material risks from 
cybersecurity threats to our critical computer networks, third-party hosted services, communications systems, hardware and 
software, and our critical data, including sensitive and confidential information (including intellectual property and tenant and 
property-related information) that is proprietary, strategic, or competitive in nature (“Information Systems and Data”). Our 
information security processes are overseen by an outsourced IT Manager, with oversight from our Chief Operating Officer, who 
works to help identify, assess, and manage the Company’s cybersecurity threats and risks by monitoring and evaluating our threat 
environment using various methods. We have implemented and maintain technical, physical, and organizational measures and 
processes designed to manage and mitigate material risks from cybersecurity threats to our Information Systems and Data, including 
with respect to incident response, network security controls, access controls, periodic back-ups of data, and employee training 
addressing awareness of cybersecurity risks and how to detect certain cyberattacks. Some of these measures and processes involve 
the assistance of additional third-party service providers. For example, we rely on third-party service providers to assist us with our 
employee phishing testing and cybersecurity awareness training.

Risk Assessment 

Our assessment and management of material risks from cybersecurity threats are integrated into the Company’s overall risk 
management processes. For example, the Company’s overall risk management processes include an assessment of risks posed to 
data that is critical to our business operations (e.g., to support financial reporting, process payroll, and collect and maintain property 
and lease information). 

Third Party Risk Management 

We use third-party service providers to perform a variety of functions throughout our business, including application providers 
and hosting companies. The Company has implemented a risk-based approach designed to help identify and mitigate cybersecurity 
threats associated with the use of third-party service providers, including an assessment of the security protocols of certain service 
providers. Depending on the nature of the services provided, the sensitivity of the Information Systems and Data at issue, and the 
identity of the provider, our third-party service provider risk management process involves different levels of assessment designed 
to identify cybersecurity risks associated with the provider and imposes contractual obligations related to cybersecurity on the 
provider. 

Cyber Threats

As of the date of this Report, we have not identified risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any prior 
cybersecurity incident, that has materially affected us, or is reasonably likely to affect us, including our business strategy, results 
of operations, or financial condition. For a description of the risks from cybersecurity threats that we face, see our risk factors under 
Part 1. Item 1A. Risks Related to our Business and Properties - Security breaches and other technology disruptions could disrupt 
our operations, compromise our confidential information or information systems and expose us to liability, which could materially 
and adversely affect us.
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Governance 

Our board of directors addresses the Company’s cybersecurity risk management as part of its general risk oversight function, 
and has delegated responsibility to the audit committee for overseeing the Company’s cybersecurity risk management processes, 
including oversight and mitigation of risks from cybersecurity threats. The audit committee reviews the processes developed by 
management to assess, monitor, manage, and mitigate risks from cybersecurity threats to the Company.  The audit committee will 
review our cybersecurity processes and cybersecurity threats, and will brief the entire board of directors on these processes and 
threats, in each case on at least an annual basis.

Our cybersecurity risk assessment and management processes are overseen by our Chief Operating Officer and the IT 
Manager, who has worked in various roles responsible for securing networks, hardware, and other application systems. Our 
outsourced IT team is responsible for hiring appropriate personnel, helping to integrate cybersecurity risk considerations into the 
Company’s overall risk management strategy, and communicating key priorities to relevant personnel. 

Our cybersecurity incident response processes are designed to escalate cybersecurity incidents to members of management 
depending on the circumstances, including senior management. The Company has identified and designated a group of Company 
employees as members of a cybersecurity incident response team, which includes the Chief Financial Officer. This team is intended 
to help the Company mitigate and remediate cybersecurity incidents of which they are notified. In addition, the Company’s incident 
response process also requires reporting to the audit committee about certain cybersecurity incidents. 

Item 2. Properties.

Please refer to Item 1. “Business” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information concerning our properties. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, we are subject to various lawsuits, claims, and other legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of 
our business. We are not currently a party to legal proceedings that we believe would reasonably be expected to have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations. We are not aware of any material legal proceedings to 
which we or any of our subsidiaries are a party or to which any of our property is subject, nor are we aware of any such legal 
proceedings contemplated by government agencies.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable. 
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information 

Our Common Stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “FVR.”

Stockholders 

As of March 17, 2025 there were approximately 218 holders of record of our Common Stock. However, because many of our 
shares of Common Stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of shareholders, we believe there are considerably 
more beneficial holders of our Common Stock than record holders.

We intend to pay regular quarterly dividends to our stockholders, although all future distributions will be declared and paid at 
the discretion of the our board of directors, and their form, timing and amount, if any, will depend upon a number of factors, 
including our actual and projected results of operations, liquidity, cash flows and financial condition, our REIT taxable income, the 
annual REIT distribution requirements, applicable law, including restrictions on distributions under Maryland law, and such other 
factors as our board of directors deems relevant. The holders of OP Units are entitled to an equal distribution per each OP Unit held 
as of each record date.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities 

Use of Proceeds from Initial Public Offering

In October 2024, the Company issued and sold 13,200,000 shares of common stock in the IPO, at a public offering price of 
$19.00 per share and on October 23, 2024 the Company issued and sold an additional 1,090,846 shares of common stock pursuant 
to the partial exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option to purchase additional shares at the same public offering 
price.

The offer and sale of all the shares in the IPO, inclusive of the underwriters’ partial exercise of their over-allotment option, 
were registered under the Securities Act pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333- 282015), as amended, 
which was declared effective by the SEC on October 1, 2024. Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Wells 
Fargo Securities, LLC and BofA Securities, Inc. acted as joint book-running managers for the offering. The IPO commenced on 
October 1, 2024 and terminated upon the closing of the sale of shares to the underwriters pursuant to their partial exercise of their 
over-allotment option on October 23, 2024. Upon completion of the IPO, inclusive of the underwriters' partial exercise of their 
over-allotment option, we received approximately $248.0 million in net proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and 
commissions and other offering expenses payable by us of approximately $5.2 million. No payments for any expenses were made 
directly or indirectly to (i) any of our officers or directors or their associates, (ii) any persons owning 10% or more of any class of 
our equity securities or (iii) any of our affiliates.

There has been no material change in the expected use of the net proceeds from our IPO as described in our final prospectus, 
dated October 1, 2024, filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) relating to our registration statement on Form S-11. We used 
$159.9 million of the net proceeds to fully repay the outstanding borrowings and accrued interest under our then existing revolving 
credit agreement and $16.0 million of the proceeds to fully repay the outstanding principal and accrued interest associated with our 
then existing term loan.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The information concerning our Equity Compensation Plan will be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed relating to our 
2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

Performance Graph 

The following graph is a comparison of the cumulative total return of shares of our Common Stock, the S&P 500, and the 
MCSI US REIT Index. The graph assumes that $100 was invested on October 3, 2024, in each of shares of our Common Stock, the 
S&P 500 and the MCSI US REIT Index, and that all dividends were reinvested. There can be no assurance that the performance of 
our shares will continue in line with the same or similar trends depicted in the graph below. The MCSI US REIT Index is a free 
float-adjusted market capitalization index that is comprised of equity REITs. The index is based on MSCI USA Investable Market 
Index (IMI), its parent index, which captures large, mid, and small capitalization securities. While funds used in this benchmark 
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typically target institutional investors and have characteristics that differ from us (including differing fees), we feel that the MCSI 
US REIT Index is an appropriate and accepted index for the purpose of evaluating returns on investments in direct real estate funds.
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FY2024
October 3 October 31 November 30 December 31

FrontView Reit 100.00 96.28 100.05 93.55
S&P 500 100.00 100.10 105.83 103.19
MSCI US REIT Index 100.00 98.16 103.45 95.17

The information in this “Performance Graph” section is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed “filed” with the SEC, and is 
not to be incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, whether made before or 
after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing, except as shall be expressly 
set forth by specific reference in such filing.

Item 6. [Reserved] 
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Except where the context suggests otherwise, as used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the terms “FVR,” “we,” “us,” “our,” 
and “our company” refer to FrontView REIT, Inc., a Maryland corporation incorporated on June 23, 2023, and, as required by 
context, FrontView Operating Partnership LP, a Delaware limited partnership, which we refer to as the or our “OP”, and to their 
respective subsidiaries. 

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) is 
intended to help the reader understand our results of operations and financial condition. This MD&A is provided as a supplement 
to, and should be read in conjunction with, our Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements appearing in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplemental Data” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are an internally-managed net-lease REIT that is experienced in acquiring, owning and managing properties that are net 
leased to a diversified group of tenants. We are a growing net-lease REIT and owned a well-diversified portfolio of 307 properties 
across 35 U.S. states as of December 31, 2024. Our tenants include service-oriented businesses, such as restaurants, cellular stores, 
financial institutions, automotive stores and dealers, medical and dental providers, convenience and gas stores, car washes, home 
improvement stores, grocery stores, fitness operators, professional services as well as general retail tenants. 

We currently derive a majority of our revenue from rents received from individual tenants of each of our properties in our 
portfolio. Our properties are typically leased under long-term net leases. As of December 31, 2024, the ABR weighted average 
remaining term of our leases was approximately 7.2 years, excluding renewal options. Approximately 97.3% of our leases (based 
on ABR) had contractual rent escalations, including, in some cases, pursuant to option terms. As of December 31, 2024, we had 
320 tenants that represented 150 different brands. Our top 10 tenant brands (based on ABR) represented approximately 21.8% of 
our portfolio ABR as of December 31, 2024. 

In connection with our IPO on October 2, 2024, we completed the Internalization pursuant to which we began directly 
employing 15 employees and entered into employment agreements with each of our named executive officers. In addition, the 
Internalization eliminated the management and other fees and carried interest provisions that were previously paid by our 
Predecessor. The historical results of operations for our Predecessor through October 2, 2024, include the payment of management 
fees that we will no longer pay following the Internalization and do not include the direct compensation expense associated with 
our aforementioned approximately 15 employees, or other asset management, acquisition or general and administrative expenses 
not previously incurred based upon our externally managed structure.

As of December 31, 2024, we had total debt of $268.5 million, Net Debt of $263.4 million, a Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted 
EBITDAre ratio of 5.2x, and a pro forma Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre ratio of 5.5x after giving effect to the 
repayment of debt with the net proceeds of our IPO and borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan. Over time 
we plan to target a net debt to annualized adjusted EBITDAre ratio below 6.0x on a sustained basis. Net Debt and Annualized 
Adjusted EBITDAre are non-GAAP financial measures, and Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre is calculated based upon EBITDA, 
EBITDAre, and Adjusted EBITDAre, each of which is also a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to Non-GAAP Measures below 
for further details concerning our calculation of non-GAAP measures and reconciliations to the comparable GAAP measure.

Factors that Affect Our Results of Operations and Financial Condition

Our results of operations and financial condition are affected by numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control. Key 
factors that impact our results of operations and financial condition include rental rates, lease renewals and occupancy, land values, 
acquisition volume, tenant growth, demand, expansion, construction costs, net-lease terms, market liquidity, financing arrangements 
and leverage, property dispositions, general and administrative expenses, inflation, interest rates, consumer confidence, the overall 
economic environment and the financial strength of our tenants.

Rental Rates

Our ability to grow rental revenue from our existing portfolio will depend on our ability to realize the rental escalations built 
into our leases and execute lease renewals and lease extensions. As of December 31, 2024, approximately 97.3% of our leases 
(based on ABR) had contractual rent escalations, including, in some cases, pursuant to options terms, with an ABR weighted 
average annual minimum increase of approximately 1.6%. As of December 31, 2024, approximately 95.1% of our leases (based on 
ABR) contained fixed annual rent increases or periodic escalations over the term of the lease (e.g. a 10% increase every five years), 
approximately 2.2% of our leases (based on ABR) contained annual lease escalations based on increases in the CPI, and the 
remaining approximately 2.7% of our leases (based on ABR) did not contain rent escalation provisions. During periods of inflation, 
our fixed rent increases may not keep pace with the rate of inflation while the limited number of our leases that include CPI-based 
increases may fare better. Conversely, during periods where inflation is more limited, our leases with fixed rate increases may fare 
better than our leases with CPI-based increases.
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Property Dispositions

From time to time, we may seek to sell any of our properties, in particular, where we believe the risk profile may have changed 
and become misaligned with our then current portfolio acquisition objectives. We also may selectively decide to sell properties that 
no longer meet one or more of our investment criteria or that may be sold opportunistically. The resulting gains or losses on any 
future dispositions may materially impact our operating results. The recognition of a gain or loss on the sale of real estate varies 
from transaction to transaction based on fluctuations in asset prices and demand in the real estate market at the time a property is 
listed for sale. As of the date of this Annual Report, we have sold 11 properties.

Lease Renewals and Occupancy

As of December 31, 2024, the weighted average remaining term of our leases was approximately 7.2 years, excluding renewal 
options. One lease representing approximately 0.2% of our leases (based on ABR) expired prior to December 31, 2024. The stability 
of the rental revenue generated by our properties depends principally on our tenants’ ability to pay rent and our ability to collect 
rent, our ability to renew expiring leases or re-lease space upon the expiration or other termination of leases, our ability to lease 
properties that become vacant and maintain or increase rental rates at our leased properties. To the extent our properties become 
vacant, we would forego rental income while remaining responsible for the payment of property taxes, insurance, maintenance and 
other related costs and maintaining the property until it is re-leased, which could negatively impact our operating results. As of 
December 31, 2024, we had seven vacant properties. 

Acquisition Volume

Our historical growth in revenues and earnings has been achieved through rent escalations associated with existing in-place 
leases, coupled with rental income generated from property acquisitions. Our ability to grow revenue will depend, to a significant 
degree, on our ability to acquire additional properties. Our ability to grow requires us to identify and complete acquisitions that 
meet our investment criteria. Changes in capitalization rates, interest rates, inflation, market competition, economic changes, 
property inventory, and other factors may impact our acquisition opportunities in the future. Market conditions may also impact the 
total returns we can achieve on our investments. Our acquisition volume also depends on our ability to successfully access third-
party debt and equity financing to fund our capital needs.

Net-Lease Terms

Substantially all of our leases are net leases pursuant to which our tenants generally are obligated to pay customary expenses 
associated with the leased property such as real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance and repairs, and in many cases capital costs. 
Some leases contain exceptions that require us to pay specified expenses such as the cost of roof, parking lot, heating, ventilation 
and air conditioning and structure and non-structural repairs and replacement costs, off-site improvements, lease covenants affecting 
off-site property, and remediation activities (unless necessitated by the tenant), as well as costs related to the operation of a property 
in excess of certain caps contained within the underlying lease. In certain instances, a landlord’s reimbursement obligation may 
include reimbursing the tenant for the unamortized costs of certain expenses incurred by the tenant for the development of the 
premises. In some leases, this type of reimbursement obligation is triggered by the default of the landlord under the lease, but other 
leases require reimbursement of the tenant due to circumstances outside of the landlord’s control. For the year ended December 31, 
2024, we incurred approximately $1.7 million in aggregate of expenses that were not tenant obligations. To the extent that our 
properties experience an increase in roof and structure, capital or other repairs or costs for which we are contractually responsible 
under some leases, it could negatively impact our future operating results. In addition, an increase in the number of leases in which 
we are responsible for some or all of these expenses could negatively influence our future operating results.

Interest Expense

As of December 31, 2024, our debt capital was comprised of a floating rate Term Loan and a floating rate Revolving Credit 
Facility. Accordingly, we are subject to interest rate risk. We also expect to continue to incur debt in the future in order to fund 
future acquisitions, which we expect will increase the amount of interest expense we incur. In addition, although we plan to manage 
our total floating-rate debt exposure, changes in the interest rate environment could either increase or decrease our weighted average 
interest rate in the future or impact any refinancing initiatives, which could also result in principal reduction requirements and 
ultimate refinancing risks. Any changes to our debt structure, including borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility and Term 
Loan, or debt financing associated with property acquisitions, could materially influence our operating results.
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Property Management and Asset Management Fees

Following completion of the Internalization, we no longer pay property management and asset management fees that were 
previously paid by our Predecessor, which historically increased as the size of our portfolio grew.

General and Administrative Expenses

Following completion of the Internalization, our general and administrative expenses include direct employee compensation 
costs for our approximately 15 employees. In addition, our general and administrative expenses include certain professional fees, 
consulting, portfolio servicing costs, board costs, public company expenses, increased audit, tax and other costs, insurance costs, 
and other general and administrative expenses not previously incurred by our predecessor based upon its externally managed 
structure. 

Impact of Inflation

Our rental revenues may be impacted by inflation. Approximately 95.1% of our leases (based on ABR) contain rent escalators 
that increase rent at a fixed amount and may not be sufficient during periods of inflation. As of December 31, 2024, leases that 
contributed approximately 2.2% of our leases (based on ABR), contained rent escalators based on increases in CPI and the 
associated increases in rental revenue may be limited during periods of low inflation. The impact of inflation on our property and 
operating expenses is mitigated since substantially all of our leases are net leases, and property-level expenses are generally paid 
for or reimbursed to us by our tenants. Some leases contain exceptions that require us to pay specified expenses such as the cost of 
roof, parking lot, heating, ventilation, and air-conditioning, and structure and non-structural repairs and replacement costs, off-site 
improvements, lease covenants affecting off-site property, and remediation activities (unless necessitated by the tenant), as well as 
costs related to the operation of a property in excess of certain caps contained within the underlying lease. To the extent we bear 
the cost of such expense, in certain cases, warranties are in place to help mitigate future significant capital outlays, though typically 
such warranties only cover certain limited items and do not provide comprehensive coverage. Inflation and increased costs may 
also have an adverse impact on our tenants’ businesses and their creditworthiness.

Tenant Bankruptcies

Adverse economic conditions, in addition to general economic downturns, particularly those that affect the markets in which 
our properties are located, or downturns in our tenants’ industries could impair our tenants’ ability to meet their lease obligations 
to us and our ability to renew expiring leases or re-lease space. In particular, the bankruptcy or deterioration of operational 
performance of one or more of our tenants could adversely affect our ability to collect rents from such tenant and maintain our 
portfolio’s occupancy.
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Results of Operations

The following discussion includes the results of our operations for the periods presented. 

Period from January 1, 2024 to October 2, 2024 and from October 3, 2024 to December 31, 2024 Compared to Year Ended 
December 31, 2023

Successor Predecessor Predecessor

(in thousands)

Period from 
October 3, 2024 

through December 
31, 2024

Period from 
January 1, 2024 

through October 2, 
2024

Year Ended 
December 31, 2023

Revenues
Rental revenues $ 15,177 $ 44,740 $ 48,266

Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization 7,468 21,581 24,730
Property operating expenses 2,170 5,742 5,825
Property management fees — 1,561 1,616
Asset management fees — 3,124 4,139
General and administrative expenses 2,787 2,122 8,055
Total operating expenses 12,425 34,130 44,365

Other expenses (income)
Interest expense 3,452 19,896 18,377
Gain on sale of real estate — (337) (725)
Impairment loss 3,891 591 407
Income taxes 231 349 316
Total other expenses 7,574 20,499 18,375

Operating loss (4,822) (9,889) (14,474)
Internalization expense — (16,498) —
Gain from acquisition of equity method investment — — 12,988
Equity loss from investment in an
   unconsolidated entity — — (38)
Net loss $ (4,822) $ (26,387) $ (1,524)

Rental Revenues 

Successor Predecessor Predecessor

(in thousands)

Period from 
October 3, 2024 

through December 
31, 2024

Period from 
January 1, 2024 

through October 2, 
2024

Year Ended 
December 31, 2023

Revenues:
Contractual rental amounts billed $ 14,629 $ 43,312 $ 47,901
Adjustment to recognize contractual rental amounts on a straight-line 
basis 322 971 1,350
Variable rental amounts earned 378 1,555 185
Above/below market lease amortization, net (164) (1,341) (1,469)
Other income 12 243 299
Total rental revenues $ 15,177 $ 44,740 $ 48,266

Contractual rental amounts billed for the period from January 1, 2024 to October 2, 2024 of $43.3 million and for the period 
from October 3, 2024 to December 31, 2024 of $14.6 million, increased by $10.0 million from $47.9 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023. This $10.0 million increase was attributable to (i) the increase in contractual base rent from the consolidation 
of the 54 properties acquired as part of the 50/50 Joint Venture Acquisition in October 2023, (ii) recognizing a full year of revenue 
for all acquisitions made during 2023, (iii) growth of our real estate portfolio through 29 acquisitions during 2024 and (iv) same-
store rent growth from our in-place lease escalations. This increase was partially offset by the decrease in contractual base rent from 
the five properties sold throughout 2024.
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Variable rental amounts earned for the period from January 1, 2024 to October 2, 2024 of $1.6 million and for the period from 
October 3, 2024 to December 31, 2024 of $0.4 million, increased by $1.8 million from $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 
2023. This $1.8 million increase was mainly due to lease termination fee income received during the period from January 1, 2024 
to October 2, 2024 and for the period from October 3, 2024 to December 31, 2024. The timing and amount of lease termination 
income fluctuates each period.

Operating Expenses 

Depreciation and amortization 

Depreciation and amortization for the period from January 1, 2024 to October 2, 2024 of $21.6 million and for the period from 
October 3, 2024 to December 31, 2024 of $7.5 million, increased by $4.4 million from $24.7 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023. This $4.4 million increase in depreciation and amortization was primarily due to the consolidation of the 54 
properties acquired as part of the 50/50 Joint Venture Acquisition and the growth of our real estate portfolio through new 
acquisitions in 2024. This increase was partially offset by the decrease in depreciation and amortization from the five properties 
sold in the current year not having a full year of depreciation.

Property operating expenses 

Property operating expenses for the period from January 1, 2024 to October 2, 2024 of $5.7 million and for the period from 
October 3, 2024 to December 31, 2024 of $2.2 million, increased by $2.1 million from $5.8 million for the year ended December 31, 
2023. This $2.1 million increase in property operating expenses was mainly due to the increase in the number of properties in our 
portfolio. For the periods from January 1, 2024 to October 2, 2024 and October 3, 2024 to December 31, 2024, we incurred $1.3 
million and $0.4 million, respectively, in aggregate of expenses that were not tenant obligations, which includes non-recurring legal 
costs and property operating expenses incurred on vacant properties.

Property Management and Asset Management Fees 

Property management and asset management fees for the period from January 1, 2024 to October 2, 2024 of $4.7 million. 
decreased by $1.1 million from $5.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The $1.1 million decrease in property 
management and asset management fees was due to the completion of the Internalization on October 2, 2024 which terminated the 
agreements for property management and asset management fees. Following completion of the Internalization, we no longer pay 
property management and asset management fees.

General and Administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses for the period from January 1, 2024 to October 2, 2024 of $2.1 million and for the period 
from October 3, 2024 to December 31, 2024 of $2.8 million, decreased by $3.2 million from $8.1 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023. This $3.2 million decrease in general and administrative expenses is primarily due to decreases of $2.6 million 
in structuring and public company readiness costs and $2.2 million in Internalization expenses compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2023. This decrease was partially offset by $1.1 million for employee compensation, and $0.6 million for stock-
based compensation incurred during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Other expenses and income 

Interest expense 

Interest expense for the period from January 1, 2024 to October 2, 2024 of $19.9 million and for the period from October 3, 
2024 to December 31, 2024 of $3.5 million, increased by $5.0 million from $18.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.  
The increase was primarily due to the increase in weighted average debt of $383.3 million in 2024 compared to $323.0 million in 
2023. The increase is also due to the increase in interest rates during 2023. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the weighted 
average interest rate was 5.65% and 5.17%, respectively.

Gain on sale of real estate

During the period from January 1, 2024 to October 2, 2024, we sold five properties at a net gain of approximately 
$0.3 million.  During the year ended December 31, 2023, we sold two properties at a net gain of approximately $0.7 million. 
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Impairment loss

The following table presents the impairment for the respective periods:

Successor Predecessor Predecessor

(in thousands, except number of properties)

Period from 
October 3, 2024 

through December 
31, 2024

Period from 
January 1, 2024 

through October 2, 
2024

Year Ended 
December 31, 2023

Number of properties 3 1 2
Carrying value prior to impairment loss $ 8,933 $ 1,961 $ 1,036
Fair value 5,042 1,370 629
Impairment loss $ 3,891 $ 591 $ 407

During the period from January 1, 2024 to October 2, 2024, we recorded an impairment loss of $0.6 million relating to an 
asset held for investment. During the period from October 3, 2024 to December 31, 2024, we recorded impairment losses of $3.9 
million relating to three assets held for sale. For the year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded an impairment loss of $0.2 million 
relating to an asset held for sale and an impairment loss of $0.2 million with respect to an asset held for investment. The timing and 
amount of impairment fluctuates each period based on existing facts and circumstances. 

Internalization expense

On October 2, 2024, the Company completed the Internalization and the Company’s management team and corporate staff, 
who were previously employed by NARS, became employees of a subsidiary of the OP, the management and other fees in the 
Predecessor’s Sub OP agreement were terminated, and the Company acquired the assets necessary to operate and manage the 
portfolio of properties. The termination of the management arrangement of $16.5 million was expensed in the period from January 
1, 2024 to October 2, 2024.

Gain from acquisition of equity method investment 

On October 20, 2023, we acquired the remaining 50% interest of the 50/50 Joint Venture. We recorded the assets and liabilities 
acquired at fair value and realized a gain of approximately $13.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. Commencing 
October 20, 2023, the results of the 50/50 Joint Venture have been consolidated into the Company.

Equity loss from investment in an unconsolidated entity

The loss for the year ended December 31, 2023 consists of the 50/50 Joint Venture’s operations from January 1, 2023 to 
October 20, 2023 when we closed on the 50/50 Joint Venture Acquisition to acquire the remaining 50% interest in the 54 underlying 
properties. The results from October 21, 2023 to December 31, 2023 are consolidated into the Company.

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Liquidity/REIT Requirements 

Liquidity is a measure of our ability to meet potential cash requirements, including our ongoing commitments to repay debt, 
fund our operations, acquire properties, make distributions to our stockholders, and other general business needs. As a REIT, we 
are required to distribute to our stockholders at least 90% of our taxable income determined without regard to the dividends paid 
deduction and excluding net capital gain, on an annual basis. As a result, it is unlikely that we will be able to retain substantial cash 
balances to meet our liquidity needs from our annual taxable income. Instead, we expect to meet our liquidity needs primarily by 
relying upon external sources of capital, such as borrowings under our debt facilities or additional equity or preferred offerings or 
other capital raises, which would all be subject to a number of market and other factors in order to be successfully accessible. 

Short-term Liquidity Requirements 

Our short-term liquidity requirements consist primarily of funds necessary to pay for our operating expenses, including our 
general and administrative expenses as well as interest payments on our outstanding debt and to pay distributions. Since our 
portfolio has had a historically strong occupancy level and substantially all of our leases are net leases, we do not currently anticipate 
making significant capital expenditures or incurring other significant property operating costs (unless vacancies adjust beyond 
historical norms) that would materially adversely impact short-term financial liquidity. We expect to meet our short-term liquidity 
requirements primarily from cash and cash equivalents balances, net cash provided by operating activities, and borrowings under 
our Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan or through the issuance of debt or equity instruments subject to market conditions. 
As of December 31, 2024, we have $181.5 million of available capacity under our Revolving Credit Facility.
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Long-term Liquidity Requirements 

Our long-term liquidity requirements consist primarily of funds necessary to repay debt and to invest in additional revenue 
generating properties. Debt capital is provided through our Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan, as well as potentially through 
the issuance of debt and equity instruments subject to market conditions and Company operating performance. The source and mix 
of our debt capital in the future will be impacted by market conditions. We plan to prudently balance our debt portfolio with a 
combination of fixed and floating rate debt and will evaluate opportunities to hedge certain interest rate risk where appropriate. 

We expect to meet our long-term liquidity requirements primarily from borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility and 
Term Loan, any future debt and equity financings, and proceeds from limited sales of our properties. Our ability to access these 
capital sources may be impacted by unfavorable market conditions, particularly in the debt and equity capital markets and the real 
estate market in general, that are outside of our control. In addition, our success will depend on our operating performance, our 
borrowing restrictions, our degree of leverage, market perceptions of the Company, our access to debt, equity or other capital 
instruments and other factors. Our acquisition growth strategy significantly depends on our ability to obtain acquisition-financing 
on favorable terms. We seek to reduce the risk that long-term debt capital may be unavailable to us by strengthening our balance 
sheet by investing in real estate with creditworthy tenants and lease guarantors, and by maintaining an appropriate mix of debt and 
equity capitalization. 

Target Leverage

As of December 31, 2024, we have total debt outstanding of $268.5 million, Net Debt of $263.4 million, and a Net Debt-to-
Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre ratio of approximately 5.2x. Our long-term goal is to target a net debt-to-annualized adjusted 
EBITDAre ratio of 6.0x over time. We may from time to time modify our leverage policy in light of then current economic 
conditions, relative costs and availability of debt and equity capital, changes in the market price of our Common Stock, acquisition 
opportunities, and other factors. 

Equity Capital Resources

As a new publicly traded REIT we plan to access the public equity markets to maintain an appropriate mix of debt and equity 
in line with our leverage policy, primarily through follow-on equity offerings and eventually through an at-the-market common 
equity offering program once we are shelf eligible. We anticipate that the net proceeds from our public offerings will be used to 
repay debt, fund acquisitions, and for other general corporate purposes.

Description of Existing Debt Outstanding 

The following is a summary of the material provisions of our Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan.

Revolving Credit Facility 

Upon closing of our IPO, a group of lenders, including JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. acting as administrative agent, provided 
commitments for our Revolving Credit Facility, allowing borrowings of up to $250.0 million, including $20.0 million available for 
issuance of letters of credit. Our Revolving Credit Facility has an initial maturity in October 2027 together with two 12-month 
extension options, subject to certain conditions, including payment of a 0.125% fee on the aggregate outstanding amount of the 
revolving commitments.

The Revolving Credit Facility contains a commitment fee of 0.15% per annum if average daily usage in such quarter is over 
50% of total revolving commitments and 0.25% per annum if average daily usage in such quarter is equal to or less than 50% of 
total revolving commitments. Borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility will bear interest at floating rates based on Adjusted 
SOFR plus an applicable margin based on our leverage ratio ranging between 1.20% and 1.75% per annum. As of December 31, 
2024, the applicable margin was 1.20%.

The Revolving Credit Facility contains an applicable facility fee based on our credit rating ranging between 0.125% and 0.30% 
per annum. As of December 31, 2024, the applicable facility fee was 0.30%.

Term Loan 

Upon closing of our IPO, a group of lenders, including JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as administrative agent, provided 
commitments for our Term Loan, allowing borrowings of up to $200.0 million. Our Term Loan is available to be drawn until 
October 2025 and has an initial maturity of October 2027 together with two 12-month extension options, at our election, subject to 
certain conditions including payment of a 0.125% fee on the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the term loan. On December 
30, 2024, we borrowed $200.0 million from the Term Loan to repay our ABS Notes when they matured in December 2024. Our 
Term Loan includes a ticking fee of 0.20% per annum on the average daily amount of unfunded term loan commitments.
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Borrowings under our Term Loan bear interest at floating rates based on Adjusted SOFR plus an applicable margin based on 
our leverage ratio ranging between 1.20% and 1.75% per annum. As of December 31, 2024, the applicable margin was 1.20%.

Covenants

We are subject to various covenants and financial reporting requirements pursuant to our Revolving Credit Facility and Term 
Loan. The table below summarizes the applicable financial covenants. If a default or event of default exists, either through default 
on payments or breach of covenants, we may be restricted from paying dividends to our stockholders in excess of dividends required 
to maintain our REIT qualification. As of December 31, 2024, we believe we were in compliance with our covenants.

Covenants Required
Total Leverage Ratio  60%
Adjusted EBITDA to Fixed Charges Ratio  1.50 to 1.00
Secured Leverage Ratio  40%
Unencumbered NOI to Unsecured Interest Expense Ratio  1.75 to 1.00
Unsecured Leverage Ratio  60%

Tangible Net Worth
 sum of 75% of the Tangible Net Worth on completion of 

this offering plus 70% of equity issuance proceeds

Contractual Obligations 

The following table provides information with respect to our contractual commitments and obligations as of December 31, 
2024. Refer to the discussion in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section above for further discussion over our short and long-
term obligations. 

(in thousands)

Year of Maturity
Revolving Credit 

Facility (1) Term Loan (1)
Interest 

Expense (2) Dividend (3)

Commitments 
to Fund 

Investments (4) Total
2025 $ — $ — $ 15,163 $ 6,101 $ 19,493 $ 40,757
2026 — — 15,163 — — 15,163
2027 68,500 200,000 12,636 — — 281,136
2028 — — — — — —
2029 — — — — — —
Thereafter — — — — — —
Total $ 68,500 $ 200,000 $ 42,962 $ 6,101 $ 19,493 $ 337,056

(1) Our Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan contain two 12-month extension options subject to certain conditions, 
including the payment of an extension fee equal to 0.125% of the commitments.

(2) Interest expense is projected based on the outstanding borrowings and interest rates in effect as of December 31, 2024. 
(3) Amounts include dividends declared as of December 31, 2024 of $0.215 per Common Stock and OP Unit. Future undeclared 

dividends are excluded.
(4) Amounts include acquisitions under contract.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities 

We may be exposed to interest rate risk arising from changes in interest rates on any floating-rate borrowings that we make 
under our Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan or other debt or capital instruments that bear interest. Borrowings under our 
Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan will bear interest at floating rates based on Adjusted SOFR plus an applicable margin. 
Accordingly, fluctuations in market interest rates may increase or decrease our interest expense, which will in turn, decrease or 
increase our net income and cash flow. 



56

In the future, we may attempt to manage our interest rate risk by entering into interest rate swaps or other hedging 
arrangements. Under these agreements, we will receive monthly payments from the counterparties equal to the related variable 
interest rates multiplied by the outstanding notional amounts. In turn, we pay the counterparties each month an amount equal to a 
fixed interest rate multiplied by the related outstanding notional amounts. The intended net impact of these transactions is that we 
pay a fixed interest rate on our variable-rate borrowings. We have not entered, and do not intend to enter, into derivative or interest 
rate transactions for speculative purposes. 

Cash Flows 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash totaled $5.1 million as of December 31, 2024 as compared to $17.1 million as of 
December 31, 2023. The table below shows information concerning cash flows for the periods from January 1, 2024 to October 2, 
2024, October 3, 2024 to December 31, 2024 and for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Successor Predecessor Predecessor

(in thousands)

Period from 
October 3, 2024 

through December 
31, 2024

Period from 
January 1, 2024 

through October 2, 
2024

Year Ended 
December 31, 2023

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 2,685 $ 17,844 $ 17,224
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (105,103) 7,934 (93,812)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 95,045 (30,440) 52,640
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash $ (7,373) $ (4,662) $ (23,948)

Net cash provided by operating activities for the period from January 1, 2024 to October 2, 2024 of $17.8 million and for the 
period from October 3, 2024 to December 31, 2024 of $2.7 million, increased by $3.3 million from $17.2 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023. The $3.3 million increase in net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2024 
as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023 was mainly due to growth in our real estate portfolio and increase in rental 
receipts offset by increased interest expense.

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities for the period from January 1, 2024 to October 2, 2024 of $7.9 million and 
for the period from October 3, 2024 to December 31, 2024 of $(105.1) million, decreased by $3.4 million from $(93.8) million for 
the year ended December 31, 2023. The $3.4 million decrease in net cash provided by investing activities was due to increased 
acquisitions in the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. During the year ended 
December 31, 2024, there were five properties sold and 29 properties acquired compared to two properties sold and 26 properties 
acquired during the year ended December 31, 2023. The Company also acquired the 50/50 Joint Venture in the previous year, which 
is reflected in the change in net cash used in investing activities.

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities for the period from January 1, 2024 to October 2, 2024 of $(30.4) million 
and for the period from October 3, 2024 to December 31, 2024 of $95.0 million, increased by $12.0 million from $52.6 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2023. The $12.0 million increase in net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended 
December 31, 2024 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023 was mainly due to the proceeds received from the IPO 
issuance and borrowings the Company made from the Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility. These were used to repay the 
CIBC Revolving Credit Facility, CIBC Term Loan, and ABS Notes during 2024.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures 

Our reported results and net earnings per diluted share are presented in accordance with GAAP. We also disclose FFO, AFFO, 
EBITDA, EBITDAre, adjusted EBITDAre, annualized adjusted EBITDAre and net debt, each of which are non-GAAP measures. 
We believe these non-GAAP financial measures are industry measures used by analysts and investors to compare the operating 
performance of REITs. 

We compute FFO in accordance with the standards established by the Board of Governors of the National Association of Real 
Estate Investment Trusts (“Nareit”). Nareit defines FFO as GAAP net income or loss adjusted to exclude net gains (losses) from 
sales of certain depreciated real estate assets, depreciation and amortization expense from real estate assets, gains and losses from 
change in control, and impairment charges related to certain previously depreciated real estate assets. To derive AFFO, we modify 
the Nareit computation of FFO to include other adjustments to GAAP net income related to certain non-cash or non-recurring 
revenues and expenses, including straight-line rents, cost of debt extinguishments, amortization of lease intangibles, amortization 
of debt issuance costs, amortization of net mortgage premiums, (gain) loss on interest rate swaps and other non-cash interest 
expense, realized gains or losses on foreign currency transactions, Internalization expenses, structuring and public company 
readiness costs, extraordinary items, and other specified non-cash items. We believe that such items are not a result of normal 
operations and thus we believe excluding such items assists management and investors in distinguishing whether changes in our 
operations are due to growth or decline of operations at our properties or from other factors. 
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Our leases typically include cash rents that increase through lease escalations over the term of the lease. Our leases do not 
typically include significant front-loading or back-loading of payments, or significant rent-free periods. Therefore, we find it useful 
to evaluate rent on a contractual basis as it allows for comparison of existing rental rates to market rental rates. We further exclude 
costs or gains recorded on the extinguishment of debt, non-cash interest expense and gains, the amortization of debt issuance costs, 
net mortgage premiums, and lease intangibles, realized gains and losses on foreign currency transactions, Internalization expenses, 
and structuring and public company readiness costs, as these items are not indicative of ongoing operational results. We use AFFO 
as a measure of our performance when we formulate corporate goals. 

FFO is used by management, investors, and analysts to facilitate meaningful comparisons of operating performance between 
periods and among our peers, primarily because it excludes the effect of real estate depreciation and amortization and net gains on 
sales, which are based on historical costs and implicitly assume that the value of real estate diminishes predictably over time, rather 
than fluctuating based on existing market conditions. We believe that AFFO is a useful supplemental measure for investors to 
consider because it will help them to better assess our operating performance without the distortions created by one-time cash and 
non-cash revenues or expenses. FFO and AFFO may not be comparable to similarly titled measures employed by other REITs, and 
comparisons of our FFO and AFFO with the same or similar measures disclosed by other REITs may not be meaningful. FFO and 
AFFO should not be considered alternatives to net income as a performance measure or to cash flows from operations, as reported 
on our statement of cash flows, or as a liquidity measure, and should be considered in addition to, and not in lieu of, GAAP financial 
measures. 

Neither the SEC nor any other regulatory body has passed judgment on the acceptability of the adjustments to FFO that we 
use to calculate AFFO. In the future, the SEC, Nareit or another regulatory body may decide to standardize the allowable 
adjustments across the REIT industry and in response to such standardization we may have to adjust our calculation and 
characterization of AFFO accordingly. 
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The following is a reconciliation of historical and pro forma net income (which is the most comparable GAAP measure) to 
FFO and AFFO:

Reconciliation of Historical and pro forma net income to FFO and AFFO

Successor Successor Predecessor Predecessor
Pro Forma Historical Historical Historical

(in thousands)

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2024

Period from 
October 3, 2024 

through 
December 31, 

2024

Period from 
January 1, 2024 

through 
October 2, 2024

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2023
Net loss $ (26,613) $ (4,822) $ (26,387) $ (1,524)
Depreciation on real property and amortization of real estate 
intangibles 33,357 7,468 21,581 24,730
Share of 50/50 Joint Venture's depreciation on real property 
and amortization of real estate intangibles — — — 1,798
Gain on sale of real estate — — (337) (725)
Share of 50/50 Joint Venture's gain on sale of real estate — — — (260)
Impairment loss on real estate held for investment 4,482 3,891 591 407
Gain from acquisition of equity method
   investment — — — (12,988)
FFO $ 11,226 $ 6,537 $ (4,552) $ 11,438
Straight-line rent adjustments (1,806) (322) (971) (1,350)
Share of 50/50 Joint Venture's straight-line rent adjustments — — — (43)
Amortization of financing transaction and discount costs 1,601 1,588 3,145 2,792
Share of 50/50 Joint Venture's amortization of debt issuance 
cost — — — 226
Amortization of above/below market lease intangibles 2,048 164 1,341 1,469
Share of 50/50 Joint Venture's amortization of above/below 
market lease intangibles — — — 90
Stock-based compensation 2,496 608 — —
Lease termination fees (1,726) (342) (1,384) —
Adjustment for structuring and public company readiness 
costs — 662 487 4,092
Adjustment for Internalization expenses 16,498 — 16,498 2,169
Other non-recurring expenses — 84 — 172
AFFO $ 30,337 $ 8,979 $ 14,564 $ 21,055

We compute EBITDA as earnings before interest, income taxes and depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is a measure 
commonly used in our industry. We believe that this ratio provides investors and analysts with a measure of our leverage that 
includes our operating results unaffected by the differences in capital structures, capital investment cycles and useful life of related 
assets compared to other companies in our industry. In 2017, Nareit issued a white paper recommending that companies that report 
EBITDA also report EBITDAre in financial reports. We compute EBITDAre in accordance with the definition adopted by Nareit. 
Nareit defines EBITDAre as EBITDA (as defined above) excluding gains (loss) from the sales of depreciable property and 
provisions for impairment on investment in real estate. We believe EBITDA and EBITDAre are useful to investors and analysts 
because they provide important supplemental information about our operating performance exclusive of certain non-cash and other 
costs. 

EBITDA and EBITDAre are not measures of financial performance under GAAP, and our EBITDA and EBITDAre may not 
be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. You should not consider our EBITDA and EBITDAre as alternatives 
to net income or cash flows from operating activities determined in accordance with GAAP. 

We compute adjusted EBITDAre as EBITDAre for the applicable quarter, as adjusted to (i) reflect all investment and 
disposition activity that took place during the applicable quarter as if each transaction had been completed on the first day of the 
quarter, (ii) exclude certain GAAP income and expense amounts that we believe are infrequent and unusual in nature because they 
relate to unique circumstances or transactions that had not previously occurred and which we do not anticipate occurring in the 
future, (iii) eliminate the impact of lease termination fees from certain of our tenants, and (iv) exclude non-cash stock-based 
compensation expense. Annualized adjusted EBITDAre is calculated by multiplying adjusted EBITDAre for the applicable quarter 
by four, which we believe provides a meaningful estimate of our current run rate for all of our investments as of the end of the most 
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recently completed quarter given the contractual nature of our long term net leases. You should not unduly rely on this measure as 
it is based on assumptions and estimates that may prove to be inaccurate. Our actual reported EBITDAre for future periods may be 
significantly different from our annualized adjusted EBITDAre. 

The following table reconciles net income (which is the most comparable to GAAP measure) to EBITDA, EBITDAre, adjusted 
EBITDAre, and annualized adjusted EBITDAre.

Reconciliation of net income to EBITDA and EBITDAre 

Successor

Combined 
Successor and 
Predecessor Predecessor

Pro Forma Historical Historical

(unaudited, in thousands)

Three Months 
Ended December 

31, 2024

Three Months 
Ended December 

31, 2024

Three Months 
Ended December 

31, 2023
Net (loss) income $ (22,009) $ (21,488) $ 8,429
Depreciation and amortization 8,410 7,634 7,993
Share of 50/50 Joint Venture's depreciation and
   amortization — — 122
Interest expense 4,517 3,593 6,498
Share of 50/50 Joint Venture's interest expense — — 130
Income taxes 236 236 110
Share of 50/50 Joint Venture's income taxes — — 2
EBITDA $ (8,846) $ (10,025) $ 23,283
Gain on sale of real estate — — (1,057)
Impairment loss on real estate held for investment 3,891 3,891 407
Gain from acquisition of equity method investment — — (12,988)
EBITDAre $ (4,955) $ (6,134) $ 9,645
Adjustment for current period investment activity (1) — 1,354 —
Adjustment for current period disposition activity (2) — — (36)
Adjustment for non-cash compensation expense (3) 624 608 —
Adjustment to exclude non-recurring (income) expenses (4) 16,238 16,760 1,361
Adjustment to exclude net write-offs of accrued rental income 63 63 —
Adjusted EBITDAre 11,970 12,651 10,970
Annualized EBITDAre (19,820) (24,536) 38,580
Annualized adjusted EBITDAre $ 47,880 $ 50,604 $ 43,880

(1) Reflects an adjustment to give effect to all acquisitions during the period as if they had been acquired as of the beginning of 
the period. 

(2) Reflects an adjustment to give effect to all dispositions during the period as if they had been sold as of the beginning of the 
period.

(3) Reflects an adjustment to exclude non-cash stock-based compensation expense.
(4) Reflects an adjustment to exclude non-recurring expenses including IPO costs, lease termination fees and non-recurring 

income and expense.
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Net Debt is a non-GAAP financial measure. We define Net Debt as our Gross Debt less cash, cash equivalents and restricted 
cash. The ratios of Net Debt to EBITDAre and Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre represent Net Debt as of the end of 
the applicable period divided by EBITDAre or Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre for the period, respectively. We believe that these 
ratios are useful to investors and analysts because they provide information about Gross Debt less cash and cash equivalents, which 
could be useful to repay debt, compared to our performance as measured using EBITDAre and Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre, 
which are described above.

The following table reconciles total debt (which is the most comparable GAAP measure) to Net Debt, and presents the ratios 
of Net Debt to EBITDAre and Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre: 

Reconciliation of total debt to Net Debt and ratio of Net Debt to Annualized EBITDAre and Net Debt to Annualized 
Adjusted EBITDAre

December 31,
Pro Forma Historical Historical

(in thousands) 2024 2024 2023
Debt
Term Loan $ 200,000 $ 200,000 $ —
Revolving Credit Facility 68,500 68,500 —
ABS Notes — — 254,489
CIBC Revolving Credit Facility — — 168,890
CIBC Term Loan — — 17,000

Gross Debt 268,500 268,500 440,379
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (5,094) (5,094) (17,129)
Net Debt $ 263,406 $ 263,406 $ 423,250
Leverage Ratios:
Net Debt to Annualized EBITDAre (13.3) (10.7) 11.0
Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre 5.5 5.2 9.6

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of the historical consolidated financial statements in conformance with GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that are subjective in nature and affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses 
as well as other disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various 
other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates and 
assumptions, however, our actual results could differ materially from our estimates. A summary of our significant accounting 
policies is included in Note 2—Accounting Policies for Financial Statements, contained in the consolidated financial statements 
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. Management believes the following critical accounting policies affect its more significant 
estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. 

Purchase Price Allocation of Acquired Properties 

Upon acquisition of real estate held for investment considered to be an asset acquisition, we capitalized the purchase price 
(including related acquisition costs) as part of the cost basis. We allocate the purchase price between land, buildings and 
improvements, site improvements, and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities such as amounts related to in-place leases and 
origination costs acquired, above- and below-market leases, based upon their fair values. The allocation of the purchase price 
requires judgment and significant estimates. The fair value of the land and building assets is determined on an as-if-vacant basis. 

Above- and below-market leases are based upon a comparison between existing leases upon acquisition and current market 
rents for similar real estate. The fair value of above- and below-market leases is equal to the aggregate present value of the spread 
between the contract and the market rate of each of the in-place leases over their remaining term. The fair values of in-place leases 
and origination costs are determined based on the estimates of carrying costs during the expected lease-up periods and costs that 
would be incurred to put the existing leases in place under the same market terms and conditions. 

We use multiple sources to estimate fair value, including information obtained about each property as a result of our pre-
acquisition due diligence and marketing and leasing activities. We also consider information and other factors that impact the 
determination of fair value such as market conditions, industry conditions that the tenant operates in, characteristics of the real 
estate (e.g., location, size, value of comparative rental rates, traffic count) and tenant credit profile. 
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value 
of an asset may not be recoverable. If such impairment is present, an impairment loss is recognized based on the excess of the 
carrying amount of the asset over its fair value. The net recoverable amount represents the undiscounted estimated future cash flow 
expected to be earned from the long-lived asset. In the case of real estate, the undiscounted estimated future cash flows are based 
on expected cash flows from the use and eventual disposition of the property. We estimate fair value using data such as operating 
income, estimated capitalization rates or multiples, and with regards to assets held for sale, negotiated selling price, less estimated 
costs of disposal.

Impact of Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

For information on the impact of recent accounting pronouncements on our business, see Note 2 of the Notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K. 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are exposed to interest rate risk arising from changes in interest rates on any floating-rate borrowings we make under our 
Revolving Credit Facility or Term Loan or other debt or other capital instruments that bear interest. Borrowings under our Revolving 
Credit Facility and Term Loan will bear interest at floating rates based on SOFR plus an applicable margin. Accordingly, 
fluctuations in market interest rates may increase or decrease our interest expense, which will in turn, decrease or increase our net 
income and cash flow. In the future, we may manage a portion of our interest rate risk by entering into interest rate swaps or other 
hedging arrangements. To the extent that we seek to do so, our interest rate risk management strategy will be intended to stabilize 
cash flow requirements by maintaining interest rate swaps to convert certain variable-rate debt to a fixed rate. We have not entered, 
and do not intend to enter, into derivative or interest rate transactions for speculative purposes. Refinancing of any of our debt 
instruments would also be subject to market conditions at the time of such refinancing and our operational performance, which 
could require principal paydowns and equity injections due to limited financing sources being available at the time. 

As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, our financial instruments were not exposed to significant market risk due 
to foreign currency exchange risk. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors
FrontView REIT, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of FrontView REIT, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as 
of December 31, 2024 (Successor) and 2023 (Predecessor), the related consolidated statements of income (loss), equity, and 
cash flows for the periods from October 3, 2024 to December 31, 2024 (Successor period), and the periods from January 1, 
2024 to October 2, 2024 and for the year ended December 31, 2023 (Predecessor periods), and the related notes and financial 
statement schedule III Real Estate Assets and Accumulated Depreciation (collectively, the consolidated financial 
statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Company as of December 31, 2024 (Successor) and 2023 (Predecessor), and the results of its operations and its cash 
flows for the period from October 3, 2024 to December 31, 2024 (Successor), and the period from January 1, 2024 to October 
2, 2024 and the year ended December 31, 2023 (Predecessor periods), in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to 
the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond 
to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that 
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2023.

Dallas, Texas
March 20, 2025
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FRONTVIEW REIT INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Successor Predecessor
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023
ASSETS

Real estate held for investment, at cost
Land $ 332,944 $ 314,748
Buildings and improvements 386,462 332,432

Total real estate held for investment, at cost 719,406 647,180
Less accumulated depreciation (40,398) (28,734)

Real estate held for investment, net 679,008 618,446
Assets held for sale 5,898 2,859
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 5,094 17,129
Intangible lease assets, net 114,868 119,432
Other assets 16,941 14,141

Total assets $ 821,809 $ 772,007
LIABILITIES, CONVERTIBLE NON-CONTROLLING PREFERRED
   INTERESTS AND EQUITY
Liabilities

Debt, net $ 266,538 $ 436,452
Intangible lease liabilities, net 14,735 17,416
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 17,858 17,452

Total liabilities 299,131 471,320

Convertible non-controlling preferred interests — 103,616

Equity
Partners' capital — 197,071
FrontView REIT, Inc. equity

Common Stock, $0.01 par value 450,000 shares authorized, 17,291 shares
   issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 173 —
Additional paid-in capital 331,482 —
Accumulated deficit (6,834) —

Total FrontView REIT, Inc. equity 324,821 —
Non-controlling interests 197,857 —

Total equity 522,678 197,071
Total liabilities, convertible non-controlling preferred interests and equity $ 821,809 $ 772,007

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FRONTVIEW REIT INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS) 

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Successor Predecessor (1) Predecessor (1)

Period from 
October 3, 2024

through
December 31, 2024

Period from 
January 1, 2024

through
October 2, 2024

Year Ended 
December 31, 2023

Revenues
Rental revenues $ 15,177 $ 44,740 $ 48,266

Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization 7,468 21,581 24,730
Property operating expenses 2,170 5,742 5,825
Property management fees — 1,561 1,616
Asset management fees — 3,124 4,139
General and administrative expenses 2,787 2,122 8,055
Total operating expenses 12,425 34,130 44,365

Other expenses (income)
Interest expense 3,452 19,896 18,377
Gain on sale of real estate — (337) (725)
Impairment loss 3,891 591 407
Income taxes 231 349 316
Total other expenses 7,574 20,499 18,375

Operating loss (4,822) (9,889) (14,474)
Internalization expense — (16,498) —
Gain from acquisition of equity method investment — — 12,988
Equity loss from investment in an
   unconsolidated entity — — (38)
Net loss (4,822) (26,387) (1,524)
Less: Net loss attributable to convertible non-
   controlling preferred interests — 7,171 424
Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests 1,825 — —
Net loss attributable to NADG NNN Property Fund LP 
(Predecessor) and to FrontView REIT, Inc. (Successor) $ (2,997) $ (19,216) $ (1,100)

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding
Basic 16,259 — —
Diluted 27,578 — —

Net loss per share attributable to Common Stock holders
Basic $ (0.19) — —
Diluted $ (0.19) — —

(1) The Company determined that earnings per unit in the Predecessor period would not be meaningful to users of this 
filing, given the different unitholders in the Predecessor.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FRONTVIEW REIT INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Successor Predecessor Predecessor
Period from 

October 3, 2024 
through 

December 31, 
2024

Period from 
January 1, 2024 
through October 

2, 2024

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2023
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss $ (4,822) $ (26,387) $ (1,524)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 7,370 21,579 24,730
Amortization of above/ below market leases 164 1,341 1,469
Amortization of financing transaction and discount costs 1,588 3,145 2,792
Amortization of organization costs 100 — —
Amortization of software costs 8 25 —
Non-cash rental revenue adjustments (237) (970) (1,138)
Gain on sale of real estate — (337) (725)
Stock-based compensation 608 — —
Internalization expense — 16,498 —
Impairment loss 3,891 591 407
Allowance for doubtful accounts — — (328)
Gain from acquisition of equity method investment — — (12,988)
Equity loss from investment in an unconsolidated entity — — 38
Distributions of equity earnings received from investment in an
   unconsolidated entity — — 1,766

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Other assets (285) 214 311
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (5,700) 2,145 2,703
Related party payable — — (289)

Net cash provided by operating activities 2,685 17,844 17,224

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of partner's interest in the Joint Venture, net of cash received — — (23,390)
Acquisition fees paid — (523) —
Acquisition of real estate held for investment (104,184) — (75,039)
Deposits on real estate held for investment (438) (350) 74
Deferred leasing costs and other additions to real estate held for investment (629) (1,103) (1,412)
Net proceeds from sale of real estate held for investment 148 9,931 5,222
Distributions received from investment in an unconsolidated entity — — 816
Additions to software costs — (21) (83)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (105,103) 7,934 (93,812)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital contributions from Common Unit Holders — — 10,879
Issue costs — — (326)
Contributions from non-controlling convertible preferred interests — 108 5,052
Proceeds from issuance of Common Stock, net of $18,896 of offering 
   costs, discounts, and commissions 252,500 — —
Redemption of Common Units — — (7,081)
Proceeds from debt 268,500 — 110,390
Repayment of debt (419,466) (20,913) (41,783)
Financing transaction costs (4,804) (416) (161)
Deferred offering costs — (2,843) (1,953)
Cash distributions paid to Common Unit Holders — (1,500) (16,637)
Cash distributions paid to Preferred Unit Holders (16) (12) (16)
Cash distributions paid to non-controlling convertible preferred interests (1,669) (4,864) (5,724)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 95,045 (30,440) 52,640
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash during the period (7,373) (4,662) (23,948)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period 12,467 17,129 41,077
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period $ 5,094 $ 12,467 $ 17,129

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Successor Predecessor Predecessor
Period from 
October 3, 

2024 through 
December 31, 

2024

Period from 
January 1, 

2024 through 
October 2, 

2024

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2023
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid for interest $ 2,701 $ 16,531 $ 15,000
Non-cash disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities:

Deferred rent receivable classified as assets held for sale $ — $ — $ 5
Accrued real estate development and improvement costs $ 1,594 $ 1,627 $ 1,555
Accrued acquisition fees $ — $ — $ 523
Accrued deferred leasing fees $ 224 $ 559 $ 264
Accrued deferred offering costs $ 391 $ 225 $ 3,186
OP Units issued as consideration for Internalization $ 17,698 $ — $ —
Reclassification of non-controlling preferred interests to non-controlling 
interests $ 103,725 $ — $ —
Reclassification of partners' capital to non-controlling interests $ 82,733 $ — $ —
Reclassification of partners' capital to Common Stock and additional paid-in 
capital $ 40,693 $ — $ —
Conversion of OP Units to Common Stock and additional paid-in capital $ 25,612 $ — $ —
Distributions payable to convertible non-controlling preferred interests $ — $ 1,669 $ 1,633
Distributions reinvested in Common Units $ — $ — $ 640
Dividends payable $ 6,101 $ — $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FRONTVIEW REIT INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

1. BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

All amounts expressed in these consolidated financial statements are in U.S. currency and in thousands, except per unit 
amounts, number of properties and where indicated. 

FrontView REIT, Inc. (the “Company” or “Successor”) was formed on June 23, 2023 as a Maryland corporation and 
elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) commencing with its short taxable year ended December 31, 2024. 
FrontView Operating Partnership LP (the "OP"), is the entity through which the Company conducts its business and owns all 
of the Company's properties either directly or indirectly through subsidiaries. Upon the closing of the initial public offering 
("IPO") on October 3, 2024, the Company is the sole managing member of the OP. The units not owned by the Company in 
the OP are referred to as OP Units or non-controlling interests. 

FrontView REIT, Inc. is an internally-managed net-lease REIT that acquires, owns and manages primarily properties with 
frontage that are net leased to a diversified group of tenants. The Company is differentiated by an investment approach focused 
on properties that are in prominent locations with direct frontage on high-traffic roads that are highly visible to consumers. As 
of December 31, 2024, the Company owned a well-diversified portfolio of 307 properties with direct frontage across 35 U.S. 
states.

NADG NNN Property Fund LP (the “Predecessor”) was formed on January 6, 2016, to provide investors with the 
opportunity to invest in a portfolio of high quality, primarily single tenant net leased properties located in the United States 
(“U.S.”). NADG NNN Operating LP (the “Sub OP”) was the entity through which the Predecessor conducted its business and 
owned (either directly or through subsidiaries) all of the Predecessor’s properties. The Predecessor had a 72.89% ownership 
interest in the Sub OP as of December 31, 2023. The remaining ownership was referred to as convertible non-controlling 
preferred interests (“Preferred Unit Holders”).

On October 20, 2023, the Predecessor purchased the remaining 50% interest in NADG NNN 50/50 LP (the “Joint 
Venture”) for a purchase price of $26,910. The acquisition was accounted for as an asset acquisition and resulted in a gain of 
$12,988, which is recorded in gain on acquisition of equity method investment in the year ended December 31, 2023 
consolidated statements of income (loss). 

Prior to October 2, 2024, the Predecessor was externally managed by North American Realty Services LLLP (“NARS”) 
and affiliates. NARS and the Predecessor were related parties (see Note 13) and the Company’s Co-CEOs and COO were 
employees of NARS. 

Formation Transactions

On October 2, 2024, the Predecessor effected a 250-for-one split ("Stock Split") with no fractional units being issued that 
was approved by the Predecessor's general partner and executive committee, on its then outstanding 30 common units. After 
adjusting for the Stock Split, the Predecessor had 7,520 OP Units.

On October 2, 2024, the Company, through a series of REIT contribution transactions and completion of the internalization 
of the external management functions (“Internalization”), created an umbrella partnership real estate investment trust 
(“UPREIT”) structure with a publicly-traded REIT that is internally managed and owns all of its assets and conducts all of its 
business through the OP. Pursuant to the contribution agreements, (1) Common Unit Holders of the Predecessor exchanged 
their common units (or interest in the entity that owns the common units) for OP Units or Common Stock of the Company on 
a one-for-one basis and (2) existing Preferred Unit Holders exchanged their interests in the Predecessor’s Sub OP (or interest 
in the entity that owns the preferred interests in the Predecessor’s Sub OP) for OP Units. 

December 31, 2024

(in thousands, except ownership percentage)
Shares of Common 

Stock OP Units Total Diluted Shares
Ownership interest 17,291 10,532 27,823
Percent Ownership of OP 62.1% 37.9% 100.0%

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

a) Basis of presentation and principles of consolidation 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America (“GAAP”) and with the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
(the “SEC”). The consolidated financial statements include the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the 
Company and subsidiaries in which it has a controlling financial interest. All intercompany amounts have been eliminated in 
consolidation and the Company’s net income is reduced by the portion of net income attributable to noncontrolling interests. 
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Generally, a controlling financial interest reflects ownership of a majority of the voting interests. The Company 
consolidates a voting interest entity (“VOE”) in which it has a controlling financial interest and a variable interest entity (“VIE”) 
if it possesses both the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly affects its economic performance, and 
(a) is obligated to absorb the losses that could be significant to the VIE or (b) holds the right to receive benefits from the VIE 
that could be significant to the VIE. The Company has concluded that the OP is a VIE and consolidates its interest in the OP 
as the Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary. The portion of the OP not owned by the Company is presented as 
non-controlling interests as of December 31, 2024.

b) Use of estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of these consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. The most significant assumptions and estimates relate to the valuation of real estate and related intangible assets and 
liabilities upon acquisition, including the assessment of impairments, as well as depreciable lives, and the collectability of trade 
receivables. On an on-going basis, the Company's chief operating decision makers reviews its estimates and assumptions. These 
estimates are based on historical experience and various other assumptions that the Company's chief operating decision makers 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

c) Real estate held for investment 

Real estate held for investment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Upon acquisition 
of real estate held for investment considered to be an asset acquisition, the purchase price and related acquisition costs 
(collectively, “the purchase price”) is capitalized as part of the cost basis. The purchase price is allocated between land, 
buildings and improvements, site improvements, and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities such as amounts related to in-
place leases and origination costs acquired, above- and below-market leases, based upon their relative fair values. The allocation 
of the purchase price requires judgment and significant estimates. The fair values of the land and building assets are determined 
on an as-if-vacant basis. 

Above- and below-market leases are based upon a comparison between existing leases upon acquisition and current market 
rents for similar real estate. The fair value of above- and below-market leases is equal to the aggregate present value of the 
spread between the contract and the market rate of each of the in-place leases over their remaining term. The values of the 
above- and below-market leases are amortized to rental revenues over the remaining term of the related leases. 

The fair values of in-place leases and origination costs are determined based on the estimates of carrying costs during the 
expected lease-up periods and costs that would be incurred to put the existing leases in place under the same market terms and 
conditions. 

In the event a tenant terminates its lease, the unamortized portion of the related intangible values is written off immediately. 

Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the asset: 

Asset Estimated useful lives
Buildings and improvements 16 – 54 years
Site improvements 4 – 28 years
Tenant improvements Shorter of the lease term or useful life
In-place leases and origination costs Remaining lease term
Leasing fees Remaining lease term
Above- and below market leases Remaining lease term

Repairs and maintenance are charged to operations as incurred; major renewals and betterments that extend the useful life 
or improve the operating capacity of the asset are capitalized. 

d) Assets held for sale 

The Company classifies assets held for sale when all of the following criteria are met: (1) management commits to a plan 
to sell the property, (2) the property is available for immediate sale in its present condition, subject only to terms that are usual 
and customary for sale of real estate properties, (3) an active program to locate a buyer and conduct other actions required to 
complete the sale has been initiated, (4) the sale of the property is probable and is expected to qualify as a completed sale, (5) 
the property is actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its fair value, and (6) actions required to 
complete the sale indicate that it is unlikely that any significant changes will be made or that the plan to sell will be withdrawn. 



71

For properties classified as held for sale, the Company suspends depreciation and amortization of the real estate properties, 
including the related intangible lease assets and liabilities, as well as straight-line revenue recognition of the associated lease. 
Properties held for sale are carried as the lower of cost or fair value, less estimated selling costs. If the estimated fair value less 
selling costs is lower than the carrying value, the difference will be recorded as an impairment on assets held for sale in the 
consolidated statements of income (loss). As of December 31, 2024, there were four properties classified as held for sale of 
which three had impairment loss recorded in the amount of $3,891. As of December 31, 2023, there were two properties 
classified as held for sale of which one had an impairment loss recorded in the amount of $229. The Company estimated the 
fair value of the assets held for sale using Level 2 and Level 3 inputs based on the negotiated selling price, less costs of disposal, 
received from a third party and a capitalized fair value approach, less costs of disposal, based on market rents and capitalization 
rates from comparable transactions, respectively. The results of operations for properties disposed of or classified as held for 
sale were not reclassified as discontinued operations as these events are a normal part of the Company’s operations and do not 
represent strategic shifts in the Company’s operations. 

e) Impairment of long-lived assets 

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
value of an asset may not be recoverable. The net recoverable amount represents the undiscounted estimated future cash flow 
expected to be earned from the long-lived asset. In the case of real estate, the undiscounted estimated future cash flows are 
based on expected cash flows from the use and eventual disposition of the property. The review of anticipated cash flows 
involves subjective assumptions of estimated occupancy, rental rates and residual value. If such impairment is present, an 
impairment loss is recognized based on the excess of the carrying amount of the asset over its fair value.

All investments in real estate are subject to elements of risk and are affected by, but not limited to, the general prevailing 
economic conditions, local real estate markets, supply and demand for leased premises, competition and governmental laws 
and other requirements. 

During the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company recorded impairment losses of $591 
and $178, respectively, on real estate held for investment with remaining carrying value of $1,942 and $1,036, respectively, 
which declined due to the tenants' vacancy. The Company determined the fair value measurement using a range of significant 
unobservable inputs, including broker market information and recent comparable sales transactions. 

f) Revenue recognition and accounts receivable

The Company accounts for leases in accordance with ASC 842 , Leases ("ASC 842"). For property related contracts that 
contain leases, revenue is recognized when the lessee takes possession of or controls the physical use of the leased assets. At 
the time of lease assumption or inception of a new lease, including new leases that arise from amendments, the Company 
assesses the terms and conditions of the lease to determine the property lease classification. 

A lease is classified as an operating lease if none of the following criteria are met: (i) ownership transfers to the lessee at 
the end of the lease term, (ii) the lessee has a purchase option that is reasonably expected to be exercised, (iii) the lease term is 
for a major part of the economic life of the leased property, (iv) the present value of the future lease payments and any residual 
value guaranteed by the lessee that is not already reflected in the lease payments equals or exceeds substantially all of the fair 
value of the leased property, and (v) the leased property is of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no future 
alternative use to the Company at the end of the lease term. If one or more of these criteria are met, the lease will generally be 
classified as a sales-type lease, unless the lease contains a residual value guarantee from a third party other than the lessee, in 
which case, it would be classified as a direct financing lease under certain circumstances. 

As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, generally all of the Company's leases with tenants are accounted for 
as operating leases. Minimum rents are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the respective leases and reasonably 
certain renewal periods. The difference between rental revenue recognized and the cash rent due under the provisions of the 
lease is recorded as deferred rent receivable and included as a component of other assets in the consolidated balance sheets. If 
the Company determines that collectibility of the lease payments is not probable, the Company records an adjustment to rental 
revenues to reduce the outstanding receivables where collectibility is not probable including deferred rent receivables. Future 
revenue recognized is limited to amounts paid by the lessee.

The Company's property leases have been classified as operating leases and some have scheduled rent increases throughout 
the lease term. The Company's leases typically provide the tenant with one or more multi-year renewal options to extend their 
leases, subject to generally the same terms and conditions, including rent increases, consistent with the initial lease term.

Variable rental amounts include rent increases that are based on changes in the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”), percentage 
rent or lease terminations. Variable rental amounts are not recognized until the specific events that trigger the variable payments 
have occurred. 
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For the periods from January 1, 2024 to October 2, 2024, October 3, 2024 to December 31, 2024, and the year ended 
December 31, 2023, the Company had no individual tenants or common franchises that accounted for more than 10% of rental 
revenues, excluding lease termination fees.

In accordance with ASC 842, provisions for uncollectible rent are recorded as an offset to rental revenues in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of income (loss). 

g) Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise amounts held in operating bank and money market accounts. 

Restricted cash includes cash proceeds from sale of assets included in the asset backed securitization in anticipation of 
replacement properties and a maintenance reserve required as part of the asset backed securitization. As of December 31, 2024, 
the Company had no restricted cash. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $5,532 of restricted cash.

h) Financing transaction and discount costs 

Financing transaction costs incurred in connection with obtaining debt are deferred and amortized over the term of the 
related debt. For any debt acquired at a discount, where the fair value of debt is less than the carrying amount, the fair value 
discount is amortized over the term of the related debt using the effective interest method. The amortization of financing 
transaction costs and fair value discount is charged to interest expense on the accompanying consolidated statements of income 
(loss). The unamortized balance of deferred financing transaction costs and fair value discount associated with the ABS Notes, 
secured revolving facility and secured term loans are shown as a reduction of debt on the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets. The unamortized balance of deferred financing transaction costs associated with the revolving credit facility and term 
loan are reported within other assets and debt, net, respectively, in the consolidated balance sheets. 

i) Initial public offering costs

Prior to the close of the IPO on October 3, 2024, the Predecessor incurred and capitalized certain direct, incremental legal, 
professional, accounting and other third-party fees in connection with the IPO. The deferred IPO costs were offset against IPO 
proceeds, and reclassified as a component of additional paid-in capital on the consolidated balance sheets and consolidated 
statements of equity upon consummation of the offering. As of December 31, 2023, deferred IPO costs totaled $3,186 and were 
included within other assets on the consolidated balance sheets. 

j) Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests represents the interests held in the OP of 37.9% as of December 31, 2024, by third parties and 
related parties involved in the Internalization which are accounted for as a separate component of equity. 

The Company periodically adjusts the carrying value of non-controlling interests to reflect their share of the book value 
of the OP. Such adjustments are recorded to additional paid-in capital as a reallocation of non-controlling interests in the 
consolidated statements of equity.  

The OP units may be redeemed at the option of the holder or through certain change of control transactions and liquidation 
events. Approval of the Company’s Board of Directors would be required to effect any change in control transaction or 
liquidation event and the Company has the right to reject any redemption request received from OP unitholders. Additionally, 
the Company has the right to settle any approved redemption request of OP units through the issuance of Common Stock or 
cash, at the option of the Company. Therefore, the OP units are classified within permanent equity. The redemption value of 
OP units are calculated based on the market value of the Company’s Common Stock or the approved tender offer in the event 
of a change of control transaction.

k) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has issued restricted stock units ("RSUs") under its 2024 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan ("Equity and 
Incentive Plan"). The Company accounts for stock-based incentives in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation - Stock 
Compensation, which requires that such compensation expense be recognized based on the awards estimated grant date fair 
value. The value of such awards is recognized as compensation expense in general and administrative expenses in the 
consolidated statements of income (loss) over the appropriate vesting period on a straight-line basis or at the cumulative amount 
vested at each balance sheet date, if greater. The Company records forfeitures during the period in which they occur by reversing 
all previously recorded stock compensation expense associated with the forfeited shares. Dividends declared on RSUs issued 
under the Equity and Incentive Plan are recorded as cumulative distributions in excess of retained earnings in the consolidated 
balance sheets. 



73

l) Income taxes 

The Company has elected to be treated as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) under Sections 856 to 860 of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and expects to continue to qualify as a REIT. To qualify as a REIT, the 
Company is subject to various requirements including that it must distribute at least 90% of its taxable income to its shareholders 
as dividends. As a REIT, the Company will be subject to federal income tax on its undistributed REIT taxable income and net 
capital gain and to a 4% non-deductible excise tax on any amount by which distributions it pays with respect to any calendar 
year are less than the sum of (1) 85% of its ordinary income, (2) 95% of its capital gain net income and (3) 100% of its 
undistributed taxable income from prior years. The Company intends to operate in such a manner so as to qualify as a REIT, 
but no assurance can be given that the Company will operate in a manner so as to qualify as a REIT. If the Company fails to 
meet these requirements, it could be subject to federal income tax on all of the Company’s taxable income at regular corporate 
rates for that year. The Company would not be able to deduct distributions paid to shareholders in any year in which it fails to 
qualify as a REIT. Additionally, the Company will also be disqualified from electing to be taxed as a REIT for the four taxable 
years following the year during which qualification was lost unless the Company is entitled to relief under specific statutory 
provisions. As of December 31, 2024, the Company believes it is in compliance with all applicable REIT requirements. 

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has distributed 100% of its taxable income and, therefore, 
is not required to pay any federal income tax in its own right.

The Company is subject to state and local income or franchise taxes in certain jurisdictions in which some of its properties 
are located and records these within income taxes in the accompanying consolidated statements of income (loss).

Taxable income from certain non-REIT activities is managed through a taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS”) and is subject 
to applicable federal, state, and local income and margin taxes. The Company had no significant taxes associated with its TRS 
for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The Company is required to file income tax returns with federal and state taxing authorities. As of December 31, 2024, 
the Company’s U.S. federal and state income tax returns remain subject to examination by the respective taxing authorities for 
the 2023 tax year. 

m) Earnings per Share

Earnings per common share has been computed pursuant to the guidance in ASC 260, Earnings Per Share, which requires 
the classification of the Company's unvested shares of restricted Common Stock, which contain rights to receive non-forfeitable 
dividends as participating securities requiring the two-class method of computing earnings per share. The two-class method is 
an earnings allocation formula that determines earnings per share for each class of Common Stock and participating securities 
according to dividends declared (or accumulated) and participation rights in undistributed earnings. In accordance with the two-
class method, the Company's calculation of earnings per share excludes the income attributable to unvested shares of restricted 
Common Stock from the numerator of the calculation and the weighted average shares of Common Stock and potentially 
dilutive securities in accordance with the treasury stock method and /or if converted method. 

n) Concentration of credit risk 

Credit risk arises from the potential that a counterparty will fail to perform its obligations. The Company is not exposed 
to significant credit risk as the Company maintains a number of diverse tenants which mitigates the credit risk. 

o) Segment reporting 

The Company currently operates in a single reportable segment, which includes the acquisition, leasing and ownership of 
net leased properties. The Company's chief operating decision maker ("CODM") is the Company's executive management team, 
which consists of the Co-Chief Executive Officers. The CODM assesses, measures, and reviews the operating and financial 
results at the consolidated level for the entire portfolio, and therefore, each property or property type is not considered an 
individual operating segment. The Company does not evaluate the results of operations based on geography, size, or property 
type. 

p) Fair value measurement 

ASC 820 defines fair values as the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in 
the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the 
measurement date. ASC 820 also establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring 
fair value. In instances, where the determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from more than one level of 
the fair value hierarchy, the entire fair value measurement is classified based on the lowest-level input. 

The hierarchy is measured in three levels based on the reliability of inputs: 
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Level 1 – Quoted prices that are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2 – Pricing inputs other than quoted prices in active markets, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; 
quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market 
data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities. 

The fair value of the Company’s debt was estimated using recent secondary markets, recent financing transactions, 
estimates of the fair value of the property that serves as collateral for such debt, historical risk premiums for loans of comparable 
quality, current LIBOR/SOFR and discounted estimated future cash payments to be made on such debt. The discount rates 
estimated reflect the Company’s judgment as to the approximate current lending rates for loans with similar maturities and 
assumes that the debt is outstanding through maturity. 

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of 
the assets or liabilities. 

The following table summarizes the fair value of the Company’s aggregate debt: 

(in thousands) December 31, 2023
Carrying amount $ 440,379
Fair value (Level 2) $ 433,465

All of the Company's debt was entered into in the quarter ended December 31, 2024, post IPO. Given all of the Company's 
debt accrues interest at a variable rate as of December 31, 2024, the carrying amounts approximate fair value.

The Company has financial instruments which include cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, other assets, and accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities, which are carried at amortized cost and approximate their fair value unless otherwise noted. 

q) Subsequent events 

The Company evaluates subsequent events for disclosure in these consolidated financial statements through the date of 
the independent auditor’s report which is the date on which these consolidated financial statements were available to be issued. 

r) Recently adopted accounting pronouncements 

In September 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments” (“ASU 2016-
13”). ASU 2016-13 requires entities to use a forward-looking approach based on current expected credit losses (“CECL”) to 
estimate credit losses on certain types of financial instruments, including Accounts Receivables. This may result in the earlier 
recognition of allowances for losses. ASU 2016-13 was effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2023. The adoption of 
ASU 2016-13 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows. 

In March 2020, the FASB issued an Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848) 
– Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting”, which provides temporary, optional expedients 
and exceptions to the GAAP guidance on contract modifications and hedge accounting to ease the financial reporting burdens 
related to the expected market transition from London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) and other interbank offered rates to 
alternative reference rates. Further, in January 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-01, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848) – 
Scope”, to clarify that certain optional expedients and exceptions in Topic 848 for contract modifications and hedge accounting 
apply to derivative instruments that use an interest rate for margining, discounting or contract price alignment that is modified 
as a result of the reference rate reform. On December 31, 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-06, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 
848) – Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848”, which extends the sunset (or expiration) date of Topic 848 from December 
31, 2022 to December 31, 2024. The Company modified its debt, cap and floor agreements from LIBOR to SOFR during 2023 
and has elected to use the optional expedient for contract modifications. The Company has concluded that the amendments 
should be treated as non-substantial modifications of the existing contracts, resulting in no impact to the Company's 
consolidated financial statements.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting – Improvements to Reportable Segment 
Disclosures (“ASU 2023-07”), which requires a public entity to disclose significant segment expenses and other segment items 
in interim and annual periods and expands the ASC 280 disclosure requirements for interim periods. The ASU also explicitly 
requires public entities with a single reportable segment to provide all segment disclosures under ASC 280, including the new 
disclosures under ASU 2023-07. The amendments in ASU 2023-07 were effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2024. 
The Company has one reportable segment and the required disclosure updates have been reflected in the Segment Reporting 
section elsewhere in Note 2. 

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, “Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense 
Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses.” This ASU enhances expense 
disclosures on both an annual and interim basis by requiring public business entities to disclose additional information about 
specific expense categories in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. This ASU requires public entities to disclose, 
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in a tabular format, purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, intangible asset amortization and depletion, 
as applicable, for each income statement line item that contains those expenses. Specific expenses, gains and losses that are 
already disclosed under existing US GAAP are also required to be included in the disaggregated income statement expense 
line-item disclosures, and any remaining amounts will need to be described qualitatively. Additionally, the ASU requires 
disclosure of the total amount of selling expenses and the entity’s definition of selling expenses. This ASU is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2026 and for interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027. The 
Company is evaluating the impact of adopting this ASU.

3. REAL ESTATE HELD FOR INVESTMENT AND LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 

The Company acquires, owns, and manages net-leased properties with frontage. The leases are generally net leases, where 
the tenants are generally responsible for the payment of real estate taxes, insurance premiums and maintenance costs related to 
the leased property. The leases have been classified as operating leases and generally provide for limited increases in rent as a 
result of fixed increases, increases in CPI, or increases in tenant’s sales volume. 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has a portfolio of 307 and 283 real estate properties, respectively. The 
average remaining lease term for real estate properties owned by the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was 
approximately 7.4 years and 7.4 years, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company acquired 29 properties for an aggregate purchase price of 
$104,184. The majority of properties acquired during the year ended December 31, 2024, were leased at acquisition with an 
average remaining lease term of approximately 11.3 years.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company acquired 26 properties for an aggregate purchase price of 
$75,039, including acquisition costs totaling $1,380. All properties acquired during the year ended December 31, 2023, were 
leased at acquisition with an average remaining lease term of approximately 8.2 years. Additionally, the Company acquired the 
remaining 50% interest in the Joint Venture held by the Joint Venture Partner, which consists of 54 properties as of the date of 
acquisition. 

The acquisitions were all accounted for as asset acquisitions. The Company allocated the purchase price of these properties 
to the fair values of the assets and liabilities assumed, which is summarized in the following table: 

Successor Predecessor

(in thousands)
December 31, 

2024
December 31, 

2023
Land $ 28,597 $ 27,115
Buildings 51,138 33,934
Site improvements 8,423 4,695
Other assets 340 —
Intangible assets:
Above-market leases 7,311 1,262
In-place leases and origination costs 10,846 10,176

106,655 77,182
Liabilities assumed:

Below-market leases intangible liabilities (1,649) (1,793)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (822) (350)

Purchase price (including acquisition costs) $ 104,184 $ 75,039

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company sold five real estate properties for $11,005. The Company 
received net proceeds of $10,079 after paying closing costs of $926 and recorded a gain on sale of $337. The aggregate cost 
and associated accumulated depreciation and amortization of the properties sold, at the date of sales, were $10,248 and $739 
respectively.

The depreciation expense on real estate held for investment was as follows: 

Successor Predecessor Predecessor

(in thousands)

Period from 
October 3, 2024

through
December 31, 

2024

Period from 
January 1, 2024

through
October 2, 2024

Year Ended 
December 31, 2023

Depreciation $ 3,146 $ 8,853 $ 9,072
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The following table summarizes amounts reported as rental revenues on the accompanying consolidated statements of 
income (loss): 

Successor Predecessor Predecessor

(in thousands)

Period from 
October 3, 2024

through
December 31, 

2024

Period from 
January 1, 2024

through
October 2, 2024

Year Ended 
December 31, 2023

Revenues:
Contractual rental amounts billed $ 14,629 $ 43,312 $ 47,901
Adjustment to recognize contractual rental amounts on a straight-
line basis 322 971 1,350
Variable rental amounts earned 378 1,555 185
Above/below market lease amortization, net (164) (1,341) (1,469)
Other income 12 243 299
Total rental revenues $ 15,177 $ 44,740 $ 48,266

Total estimated future minimum rents to be received under non-cancelable tenant leases in effect as of December 31, 2024, 
are as follows: 

2025 $ 57,863
2026 56,141
2027 52,113
2028 46,291
2029 42,178
Thereafter 238,237
 $ 492,823

Since lease renewal periods are exercisable at the option of the tenant, the above amounts only include future lease 
payments due during the initial lease terms. Such amounts exclude any potential variable rent increases that are based on 
changes in the CPI or future variable rents which may be received under the leases based on a percentage of the tenant’s gross 
sales. 

4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

The following is a summary of intangible lease assets and liabilities and related accumulated amortization: 

(in thousands)
As of December 31, 2024 Cost

Accumulated 
Amortization Net Book Value

Intangible lease assets:
In-place leases and origination costs $ 138,256 $ 60,773 $ 77,483
Above-market leases 51,871 21,385 30,486
Leasing fees 7,235 336 6,899

Total intangible lease assets $ 197,362 $ 82,494 $ 114,868

Intangible lease liabilities:
Below-market leases $ 25,607 $ 10,872 $ 14,735

Total intangible lease liabilities $ 25,607 $ 10,872 $ 14,735

(in thousands)
As of December 31, 2023 Cost

Accumulated 
Amortization Net Book Value

Intangible lease assets:
In-place leases and origination costs $ 136,907 $ 47,328 $ 89,579
Above-market leases 45,513 16,641 28,872
Leasing fees 1,120 139 981

Total intangible lease assets $ 183,540 $ 64,108 $ 119,432

Intangible lease liabilities:
Below-market leases $ 26,292 $ 8,876 $ 17,416

Total intangible lease liabilities $ 26,292 $ 8,876 $ 17,416
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The amortization and net adjustment to rental revenue of intangibles lease assets and liabilities was as follows: 

Successor Predecessor Predecessor

(in thousands)

Period from 
October 3, 2024

through
December 31, 2024

Period from 
January 1, 2024

through
October 2, 2024

Year Ended 
December 31, 2023

Amortization:
Amortization of in-place leases and leasing fees $ 4,224 $ 12,726 $ 15,658

Net adjustment to rental revenue:
Above-market and below-market leases $ 164 $ 1,341 $ 1,469

The remaining weighted average amortization period for the Company’s intangibles assets and liabilities as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 by category are as follows: 

Successor Predecessor
Years remaining as at December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
In-place leases and origination costs 9.1 9.2
Leasing fees 12.0 8.3
Above-market leases 8.2 8.6
Below-market leases 10.5 9.7

The estimated future amortization expense for intangible lease assets, net of intangible lease liabilities, are as follows: 

2025 $ 17,716
2026 16,260
2027 13,541
2028 10,781
2029 9,071
Thereafter 32,764
 $ 100,133

5. DEBT, NET 

As of December 31, 2024
(in thousands, except interest rate) Note Maturity Interest Rate
JPMorgan Chase Bank, Revolving Credit 
Facility (d) 3-Oct-2027

Adjusted SOFR + 
1.20% * $ 68,500

JPMorgan Chase Bank, Term Loan (e) 3-Oct-2027
Adjusted SOFR + 

1.20% * 200,000
Unamortized financing transaction costs, 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, Term Loan (1,962)
 $ 266,538
* The approximate SOFR rate at December 31, 2024 was 4.37%, plus a 10 basis point adjustment (“Adjusted SOFR”). 

As of December 31, 2023
(in thousands, except interest rate) Note Maturity Interest Rate
Asset Backed Securities (a) 28-Dec-2024 3.37% $ 254,489

CIBC Bank USA, Revolving Credit Facility (b) 8-Mar-2025
Adjusted Term SOFR 

+ 2.25% ** 168,890

CIBC Bank USA, Term Loan (c) 31-Mar-2027
Term SOFR + 1.80% 

** 17,000
Unamortized financing transaction and discount 
costs (3,927)
 $ 436,452
** The approximate one-month Term SOFR rate (as defined below) at December 31, 2023 was 5.38%, plus a 10 basis point 
adjustment (“Adjusted Term SOFR”).

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the weighted average interest rate was 5.65% and 5.17%, respectively. 



78

The aggregate principal repayment of the Company’s debt, excluding the unamortized financing transaction costs of 
$1,962, due in each of the years under the remaining term, are as follows: 

2025 $ —
2026 —
2027 268,500
 $ 268,500

(a) Asset Backed Securities 

On December 9, 2019, the Predecessor and the Joint Venture issued 3.37% Series 2019-1, Class A (rated by Standard & 
Poors and Kroll Bond Rating Agency) Net-Lease Mortgage Notes (the “ABS Notes”) for gross proceeds of $192,935 and 
$71,065, respectively, pursuant to the Master Indenture Agreement, among the 95 and 40 properties directly or indirectly 
owned, as of that date, by the Predecessor and Joint Venture, respectively (collectively, the “Issuers”), and the Indenture 
Trustee. On October 20, 2023, the Predecessor acquired the remaining 50% interest in the Joint Venture held by the JV Partner 
and assumed debt at fair value of $66,907, net of a discount of $2,824. 

As of December 31, 2023, the ABS Notes are secured by 129 properties directly owned by the Predecessor having a 
carrying value of $316,322, an assignment of leases and rents and are guaranteed by the Predecessor in the aggregate. 

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, amortization of financing transaction costs recorded by the Company 
were $1,249 and $1,256, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, amortization of discount costs 
recorded by the Company were $2,440 and $384, respectively. 

On December 30, 2024, the Company used the proceeds from the JPMorgan Chase Bank, Revolving Credit Facility and 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, Term Loan to repay the outstanding borrowings on the ABS Notes in the amount of $252,953. 

(b) CIBC Bank USA Credit Facility 

The Predecessor entered into a credit facility agreement with CIBC Bank USA, which provides for a secured revolving 
line of credit of $65,000 (the “CIBC Revolving Credit Facility”). The CIBC Revolving Credit Facility had a three-year term 
expiring on March 8, 2024, with two one-year extensions. On March 8, 2024 the Company exercised its option to extend the 
term for one year to mature on March 8, 2025. The extension was in management’s control as the Predecessor was compliant 
with the required covenants and can pay the extension fee. The CIBC Revolving Credit Facility bore interest at a rate equal to 
LIBOR subject to a floor of 0.25% plus 2.25%. Interest only payments are due until maturity. The CIBC Revolving Credit 
Facility was also subject to an unused commitment fee equal to (1) 0.25% of the unused loan amount if utilization is less than 
50% of the CIBC Revolving Credit Facility or (2) 0.15% of the unused loan amount if the utilization is greater than or equal to 
50% of the CIBC Revolving Credit Facility. The unused commitment fee was payable quarterly in arrears on the first day of 
each calendar quarter and is included in interest expense on the accompanying consolidated statements of income (loss). 

On July 31, 2021, the CIBC Revolving Credit Facility was amended to increase the maximum commitment under the 
revolving line of credit to $202,500. In addition, Montgomery Bank, OceanFirst Bank N.A., Hancock Whitney Bank, Bank of 
Blue Valley, South State Bank N.A. and Woodforest National Bank were added as additional lenders under the CIBC Revolving 
Credit Facility. 

On March 17, 2023, the Predecessor amended the credit agreement for the CIBC Revolving Credit Facility to replace U.S. 
dollar LIBOR with the Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“Term SOFR”) plus an adjustment of 0.11% as of March 17, 
2023. Under this amendment, the loan bears interest at a rate equal to Adjusted Term SOFR plus 2.25%. 

The CIBC Revolving Credit Facility was secured by certain of the Predecessor’s properties having a carrying value of 
$354,571 as of December 31, 2023 and an assignment of rents and leases. The Predecessor was required to maintain minimum 
liquidity reserves of no less than the greater of: (1) $4,000 and (2) an amount equal to 4% of the principal amount outstanding 
under the CIBC Revolving Credit Facility, but up to a maximum of $8,000 pursuant to the terms of its guarantee. 

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded amortization of financing transaction costs of 
$653 and $1,152, respectively, relating to the CIBC Revolving Credit Facility. 

On October 3, 2024, the Company used the net proceeds of the IPO to repay the outstanding borrowings on the CIBC 
Bank USA Credit Facility, in the amount of $150,501, inclusive of accrued interest of $496. 

(c) CIBC Bank USA Term Loan 

On October 20, 2023, the Predecessor purchased the remaining 50% interest in the Joint Venture from the Joint Venture 
Partner. The Predecessor assumed a loan (the “CIBC Term Loan”) with CIBC Bank USA, which provides for a secured loan 
of $17,000. The CIBC Term Loan had a maturity date of March 31, 2027 and bore interest at a rate equal to Term SOFR plus 
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1.80%. The CIBC Term Loan was secured by certain of the Predecessor's properties having a carrying value of $28,506 as of 
December 31, 2023 and an assignment of rents and leases. 

On October 3, 2024, the Company used the net proceeds of the IPO to repay the outstanding borrowings on the CIBC 
Term Loan in the amount of $16,041, inclusive of accrued interest of $71. 

(d) JPMorgan Chase Bank, Revolving Credit Facility 

On October 3, 2024, the Company entered into a credit facility agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., which 
provides for an unsecured revolving line of credit of $250,000, including $20,000 available for issuance of letters of credit (the 
“ Revolving Credit Facility”). The Revolving Credit Facility has a three-year term expiring on October 3, 2027, with two 12-
month extensions, subject to certain conditions including payment of 0.125% fee on the aggregate outstanding amount of the 
revolving commitments. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility bears interest at floating rates based on adjusted SOFR 
plus an applicable margin based on the Company's leverage ratio ranging between 1.20% and 1.75% per annum. As of 
December 31, 2024, the applicable margin was 1.20%. The Revolving Credit Facility contains a commitment fee of 0.15% per 
annum if average daily usage in such quarter is over 50% of total revolving commitments. The commitment fee is payable 
quarterly in arrears on the first day of each calendar quarter and is included in interest expense on the accompanying 
consolidated statements of income (loss). 

(e) JPMorgan Chase Bank, Term Loan 

On October 3, 2024, the Company entered into a Term Loan Agreement ("Term Loan") with JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. 
as administrative agent, provided commitments for an unsecured Term Loan, allowing borrowings of up to $200,000. The Term 
Loan is available to be drawn until October 2025 and has an initial maturity of October 3, 2027, with two 12-month extensions, 
subject to certain conditions including payment of a 0.125% fee on the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Term 
Loan. The Term Loan bears interest at floating rates based on Adjusted SOFR plus an applicable margin based on the 
Company's leverage ratio ranging between 1.20% and 1.75% per annum. As of December 31, 2024, the applicable margin was 
1.20%.

On December 30, 2024, the Company borrowed $200,000 and used proceeds to repay the ABS Notes.

Debt Covenants 

The Company is subject to various financial and operational covenants and financial reporting requirements pursuant to 
its Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan agreements. These covenants require the Company to maintain certain financial 
ratios. As of December 31, 2024, the Company believes it was in compliance with all of its loan covenants. If a default or event 
of default exists, either through default on payments or breach of covenants, we may be restricted from paying dividends to our 
stockholders in excess of dividends required to maintain our REIT qualification.

6. PARTNERS’ CAPITAL 

Partner’s Capital is comprised of Common Units issued to investors by the Predecessor. As of December 31, 2023, 
investors had subscribed for 30 Common Units for a total committed capital of $306,978. As of December 31, 2023, all 
Common Units subscribed for had been issued. Upon completion of the contribution agreements described in Note 1, the 
Predecessor's Partner's Capital converted to non-controlling interests (see Note 8).

7. EQUITY

On October 3, 2024, the Company completed its IPO and issued 13,200 shares of Common Stock at an initial public 
offering price of $19.00 per share ("IPO Price") and received net proceeds of $233,871, which were net of underwriter fees and 
commissions of $16,929. The Company repaid the outstanding principal and accrued interest of the CIBC Revolving Credit 
Facility of $150,501 and CIBC Term Loan of $16,041 with the net proceeds. The remaining net proceeds were used for general 
business and working capital purposes, including acquisitions. As part of the IPO, the underwriters were granted an option, 
exercisable within 30 days from October 3, 2024, to purchase up to an additional 1,980 shares of Common Stock at the IPO 
Price, less underwriting discounts and commissions. On October 23, 2024, the underwriters partially exercised their option by 
purchasing an additional 1,091 shares of Common Stock. The Company received net proceeds of $19,327, which were net of 
underwriter fees and commissions of $1,399.

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Incorporation (the "Charter"), the Company is authorized to issue an aggregate of 
450,000 shares of Common Stock with a par value of $0.01 per share and 50,000 shares of preferred stock with a par value of 
$0.01 per share. The Company's board of directors, without any action by our stockholders, may amend the Company's Charter 
from time to time to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares or the number of shares of any class or series of stock 
that the Company has authority to issue.
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The shares of the Company’s Common Stock entitle the holders to one vote per share on all matters upon which 
stockholders are entitled to vote, to receive dividends and other distributions as authorized by the Board of Directors in 
accordance with the Maryland General Corporation Law, and to all rights of the stockholder pursuant to the Maryland General 
Corporation Law.

On November 12, 2024, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of $0.215 per share of Common Stock and 
OP Unit to holders of record as of December 31, 2024, payable on or before January 15, 2025.

8. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

In connection with the REIT contribution transactions and Internalization, non-controlling interests are comprised of the 
Predecessor's Common Units, the Convertible non-controlling preferred interests, OP units issued in the Internalization (Note 
9), and Preferred Units.

The OP Units are economically equivalent to the Company's Common Stock and, subject to certain restrictions, are 
redeemable into the Company's Common Stock at the option of the respective unit holders on a one-for-one basis. Holders of 
the OP Units do not have voting rights in the Company. The OP Units are redeemable at the option of the holder, however, the 
Company may issue Common Stock or cash, at the Company's election. Therefore the OP Units are considered to be permanent 
equity. Redemption of OP Units held by non-controlling interest holders are recorded by reducing non-controlling interest at 
historical cost basis with a corresponding increase in Common Stock and additional paid-in capital. For the period from October 
3, 2024 to December 31, 2024, there were 1,223 OP Units redeemed which the Company settled by issuing 1,223 shares of 
Common Stock. 

9. INTERNALIZATION

On October 2, 2024, the Company completed the Internalization and the Company's management team and corporate staff, 
who were previously employed by NARS, became employees of a subsidiary of the OP, the management and other fees in the 
Predecessor's Sub OP agreement were terminated, and acquired the assets necessary to operate and manage the portfolio of 
properties. The purchase price of the Internalization was 931 OP Units with a fair value of $17,698. This was allocated to:

(a)  Termination of the management arrangement of $16,498, which is included in internalization expense on the 
accompanying consolidated statements of income (loss);

(b)  Assembled work force of $1,200, which is included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets;
(c)  Right-of-use lease asset and liability of an operating lease of office space of $644, which are included in other assets 

and accounts payable and accrued liabilities, respectively in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded amortization of the assembled work force of $100. This 
is included in depreciation and amortization in the accompanying consolidated statements of income (loss).

10. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

For the period from October 3, 2024 through December 31, 2024, the Company granted one-time RSUs. The total amount 
of stock-based compensation expense recognized in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated 
statements of income (loss) was $608 for the period from October 3, 2024 through December 31, 2024. As of December 31, 
2024, the remaining unamortized stock-based compensation expense totaled $9,961, and as of December 31, 2024, these awards 
are expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted average period of 2.5 years. Stock-based compensation expense is 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the total requisite service period for the entire award.

One-time grant of RSUs

Pursuant to the Equity and Incentive Plan, the Company has made one-time grant of service-based RSUs on October 2, 
2024 to certain employees and non-employee directors. The RSUs have no rights as a common stockholder, but have dividend 
equivalent rights equal to the cash dividends paid with respect to the corresponding number of common shares to be issued in 
respect of the RSUs. The vesting terms of these grants are specific to the individual grant, with a maximum term of 5 years, are 
subject to the holder's continued service through the applicable vesting dates, and in accordance with the terms of the individual 
grant agreements. These grants vest over a remaining weighted average period of 2.5 years. The weighted average value of 
grants during the year ended December 31, 2024, was $19.00, which was based on the market price per share of the Company's 
Common Stock on the grant date.
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The following table presents one-time grant of RSU activity during the year ended December 31, 2024: 

December 31, 2024

(in thousands, except per share amounts) Number of Shares

Weighted Average 
Grant Date Fair Value 

per Share
Unvested RSU grants outstanding as of October 3, 2024 — —
Granted during the period 557 19.00
Vested during the period — —
Forfeited during the period (1) 19.00
Unvested RSU grants outstanding as of December 31, 2024 556 19.00

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table summarizes the components used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share ("EPS"):

Successor

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Period from 
October 3, 2024 through 

December 31, 2024
Basic earnings:
Net loss attributable to FrontView REIT, Inc. common 
   shareholders $ (2,997)
Less: loss allocated to participating unvested restricted stock units (120)
Net loss used to compute basic earnings per common share $ (3,117)

Diluted earnings:
Net loss used to compute basic earnings per common share $ (3,117)
Add: net loss attributable to non-controlling interests (1,825)
Net earnings used to compute diluted earnings per common share $ (4,942)

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 16,815
Less: weighted average unvested restricted stock units (1) (556)

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in 
   basic earnings per common share 16,259
Add: effects of convertible OP Units (2) 11,319
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in 
   diluted earnings per common share 27,578

Basic and Diluted earnings per share $ (0.19)

(1) Represents the weighted average effects of 556 unvested restricted stock units of Common Stock as of December 31, 
2024, which will be excluded from the computation of earnings per share until they vest.

(2) Represents the weighted average effects of 10,532 OP Units outstanding at December 31, 2024.

12. OTHER ASSETS 

Other assets consist of the following:

Successor Predecessor
(in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Accounts receivable, net $ 1,960 $ 1,747
Deferred rent receivables 8,969 7,546
Deferred offering costs — 3,186
Deferred financing transaction costs, net 2,452 —
Prepaid expenses and other assets 3,560 1,662
Total other assets $ 16,941 $ 14,141
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13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Predecessor transactions

Related parties consist of the Predecessor's general partner and the Sponsor, their employees, officers, directors and parties 
related to them and entities under their control. In addition to disclosures elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements: 

(a) During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Predecessor incurred structuring fees and placement fees (“Issue 
Costs”) of (1) $2 payable to NAPG Equities Inc. (“Equities”) in respect of Common Units issued to Canadian 
investors, and (2) $243 payable to North American Property Group (“NAPG”) and $81 payable to NARS, in each 
case, in respect of Common Units issued to U.S. investors. Equities and NAPG are owned by one of the directors 
of the Predecessor's general partner, and NARS is a partnership affiliated with the Predecessor's general partner. A 
director of NARS is also a director of the Predecessor's general partner. As of December 31, 2023, the Predecessor 
paid all Issue Costs to Equities, NAPG, and NARS. 

(b) During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Predecessor incurred asset management fees of $3,124 
and $4,139, respectively, acquisition fees of $0 and $1,080 respectively, and property management fees and direct 
costs of $1,561 and $1,616, respectively, payable to NARS. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had 
a payable to NARS relating to these fees of $4,105 and $2,055, respectively, which is included in accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

(c) The affiliate of the Predecessor (the "Sponsor") holds 1 Common Unit in the Predecessor. During the period from 
January 1, 2024 through October 2, 2024 and the year ended December 31, 2023, the Predecessor paid aggregate 
distributions to the Sponsor (in the same amount per Common Unit as are paid to all other investors) in the amount 
of $25 and $290, respectively, and to other related parties holding an aggregate of 1 Common Unit in the amount 
of $26 and $303, respectively. After adjusting for the effects of the Stock Split, the Sponsor and other related parties 
held 125 and 131 OP Units, respectively. 

(d) On October 2, 2024, the Company completed the Internalization and issued 931 OP Units as consideration (See 
Note 9).

Successor transactions

(a) For the period from October 3, 2024 through December 31, 2024, the Company incurred outsourcing service fees 
of $141 to North American Asset Management Corp. ("NAAM"), an affiliate of the Predecessor. The services are 
limited to property accounting and human resources support. As of December 31, 2024, the Company paid all 
service fees to NAAM.

14. INCOME TAXES

For federal income tax purposes, distributions to stockholders are characterized as ordinary dividends, capital gain 
distributions, or return of capital distributions. Return of capital distributions will reduce stockholders' basis in their shares, but 
not below zero. The following table shows the character of the Company's common stock distributions paid on a percentage 
basis:

Successor
Character of Distributions Year Ended December 31, 2024
Ordinary dividends 39%
Capital gain distributions —
Return of capital distributions 61%

100%

15. CONTINGENCIES 

Litigation 

From time to time, the Company is a party to various litigation matters incidental to the conduct of the Company’s 
business. While the resolution of such matters cannot be predicted with certainty, based on currently available information, the 
Company does not believe that the final outcome of any of these matters will have a material effect on its consolidated balance 
sheets, consolidated statements of income (loss) or liquidity. 

Environmental matters 

As an owner of real estate property, the Company is subject to various U.S. federal, state and municipal laws related to 
environmental matters. These laws could hold the Company liable for the costs of removal and remediation of certain hazardous 
substances or wastes released or deposited on or in its properties or disposed of at other locations. The failure to remove or 
remediate such substances, if any, could adversely affect the Company’s ability to sell its real estate or to borrow using real 
estate as collateral and could potentially result in claims or other proceedings against the Company. The Company engages 
third party consultants to review the environmental condition of such property as part of its due diligence review prior to 
acquisition and is not aware of any material non-compliance with environmental laws at any of its properties. 
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Property and acquisition related 

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into various types of commitments to purchase real estate properties 
or fund development projects. These commitments are generally subject to the Company’s customary due diligence process 
and, accordingly, a number of specific conditions must be met before the Company is obligated to purchase the properties. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company did not have any material commitments that could not be funded for re-leasing 
costs, recurring capital expenditures, non-recurring building improvements, or similar types of costs. 

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The Company identified the following events subsequent to December 31, 2024 that are not recognized in the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements: 

(a) On January 15, 2025, the Company paid distributions in the aggregate amount of $6,101.
(b) On March 18, 2025, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly distribution of $0.215 per share on the Company's 

Common Stock and OP Units for the quarter ended March 31, 2025, which will be payable on or before April 15, 
2025 to stockholders and unitholders of record as of March 31, 2025.  

(c) Subsequent to December 31, 2024, the Company continued to expand its operations through the acquisition of 
approximately $44,725 of additional rental property and associated intangible assets and liabilities.

(d) Subsequent to December 31, 2024, the Company sold one property with a carrying value of approximately $2,004 
for total proceeds of $2,050. The Company incurred additional expenses related to the sales of approximately $34, 
resulting in a gain on sale of real estate of approximately $12.

(e) Subsequent to December 31, 2024, the Company borrowed $39,000 on the Revolving Credit Facility, the proceeds 
of which were used to fund investments and for other general corporate purposes

(f) On March 4, 2025, the Company entered into a $200,000 1-month Term SOFR interest rate swap at a fixed rate of 
3.66%. The interest rate swap matures in February 2028.



















92

FRONTVIEW REIT, INC. 
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

As of December 31, 2024 and for the Three Months and Year Ended December 31, 2024

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements of FrontView REIT, Inc. (together with its consolidated 
subsidiaries, the “Company”) as of and for the three months and year ended December 31, 2024, prepared in accordance with 
Article 11 of Regulation S-X, were derived from the audited historical consolidated financial statements of the Company. The 
unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of income (loss) for the three months and year ended December 31, 2024 gives effect to 
the Company’s IPO and certain other completed and proposed transactions, as if these events had occurred on January 1, 2024. Refer 
to the Company's Prospectus filed with the SEC on October 2, 2024, for the 2023 unaudited pro forma consolidated financial 
statements.

The pro forma adjustments give effect to events that are (1) directly attributable to the transactions referred to below, (2) factually 
supportable, and (3) with respect to the unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of income (loss), expected to have a continuing 
impact on the Company. The adjustments necessary to fairly present the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements have 
been based on available information and assumptions that the Company believes are reasonable. The adjustments are described in the 
notes to the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements and present how our consolidated financial statements may have 
appeared had our capital structure reflected the below transactions as of the dates noted below.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the historical consolidated 
financial statements of the Company, including the notes thereto, and other financial information and analysis, including the section 
captioned “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” presented elsewhere in this 
Form 10-K. The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements (1) are based on available information and assumptions that 
the Company deems reasonable, (2) are presented for informational purposes only, (3) do not purport to represent the Company’s 
financial position or results of operations or cash flows that would actually have occurred assuming completion of the transactions 
described above on the dates specified, and (4) do not purport to be indicative of the Company’s future results of operations or financial 
position.

2024 Acquisitions and Dispositions 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company completed 29 property acquisitions with an aggregate purchase price 
of $104.2 million. The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of income (loss) for the three months and year ended December 31, 
2024 gives effect to these property acquisitions as if these events had occurred on January 1, 2024.

During the period from January 1, 2024 through October 2, 2024, the Predecessor completed five property dispositions with an 
aggregate sale price, including transaction costs, of $10.1 million. The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of income (loss) 
for the three months and year ended December 31, 2024 gives effect to these property dispositions as if these events had occurred on 
January 1, 2024.

Autonomous Entity Adjustments 

As a public company, the Company expects to incur incremental costs related to general and administrative costs, including 
employee compensation and benefits, board of directors’ fees and expenses, directors’ and officers’ insurance, and incremental legal, 
audit, tax, consulting and other costs related to the corporate infrastructure. The Company will also incur additional costs relating to 
its public reporting and compliance obligations as a public company. For the three months and year ended December 31, 2024, the 
Company estimates these incremental costs to amount to $0.6 million and $2.7 million, respectively. In order to determine these 
incremental costs, the Company performed an analysis of its anticipated organizational structure to estimate the cost of additional 
resources and third-party services deemed necessary to operate as a public company.
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FRONTVIEW REIT, INC.
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (LOSS) 

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED December 31, 2024 
(in thousands, except per share amounts) 

Pro Forma Adjustments

Historical 
Company

(A)

Completed 2024 
Acquisitions

 (B)

Adjustment for 
Interest Expense

(D)

Adjustment for 
General and 

Administrative 
Expenses

(E)

Company
Pro

Forma
Revenues
Rental revenues $ 15,514 $ 1,354 $ — $ — $ 16,868

Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization 7,634 776 — — 8,410
Property operating expenses 2,218 — — — 2,218
Property management fees 60 — — (60) —
Asset management fees 22 — — (22) —
General and administrative expenses 2,850 — — 257 3,107
Total operating expenses 12,784 776 — 175 13,735

Other expenses (income)
Interest expense 3,593 — 924 — 4,517
Gain on sale of real estate — — — — —
Impairment loss 3,891 — — — 3,891
Income taxes 236 — — — 236
Total other expenses 7,720 — 924 — 8,644
Operating loss (4,990) 578 (924) (175) (5,511)
Internalization expense (16,498) — — — (16,498)
Net loss (21,488) 578 (924) (175) (22,009)
Less: Net loss attributable to convertible 
non-
   controlling preferred interests 4,519 — — (4,519) —
Less: Net loss attributable to non-
controlling interests 1,825 — — 6,506 8,331
Net loss attributable to NADG NNN 
Property Fund LP (Predecessor) and to 
FrontView REIT, Inc. (Successor) $ (15,144) $ 578 $ (924) $ 1,812 $ (13,678)

Pro forma weighted average number 
of shares of Common Stock 
outstanding
Basic 17,291
Diluted 27,823

Pro forma net loss per share of 
Common Stock
Basic $ (0.79)
Diluted $ (0.79)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements.
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FRONTVIEW REIT, INC.
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (LOSS) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED December 31, 2024 
(in thousands, except per share amounts) 

Pro Forma Adjustments

Historical 
Company

(A)

Completed 
2024 

Acquisitions
(B)

Completed 
2024 

Dispositions
(C)

Adjustment 
for Interest 

Expense
(D)

Adjustment for 
General and 

Administrative 
Expenses

(E)

Company
Pro

Forma
Revenues
Rental revenues $ 59,917 $ 7,481 $ (713) $ — $ — $ 66,685

Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization 29,049 4,348 (40) — — 33,357
Property operating expenses 7,912 — (27) — — 7,885
Property management fees 1,561 — — — (1,561) —
Asset management fees 3,124 — — — (3,124) —
General and administrative 
expenses 4,909 — — — 7,519 12,428
Total operating expenses 46,555 4,348 (67) — 2,834 53,670

Other expenses (income)
Interest expense 23,348 — — (5,280) — 18,068
Gain on sale of real estate (337) — 337 — — —
Impairment loss 4,482 — — — — 4,482
Income taxes 580 — — — — 580
Total other expenses (income) 28,073 — 337 (5,280) — 23,130
Operating Loss (14,711) 3,133 (983) 5,280 (2,834) (10,115)
Internalization expense (16,498) — — — — (16,498)
Net loss (31,209) 3,133 (983) 5,280 (2,834) (26,613)
Less: Net loss attributable to 
convertible non-
   controlling preferred interests 7,171 — — — (7,171) —
Less: Net loss attributable to non-
controlling interests 1,825 — — — 8,249 10,074
Net loss attributable to NADG 
NNN Property Fund LP 
(Predecessor) and to FrontView 
REIT, Inc. (Successor) $ (22,213) $ 3,133 $ (983) $ 5,280 $ (1,756) $ (16,539)

Pro forma weighted average 
number of shares of Common 
Stock outstanding
Basic 17,291
Diluted 27,823

Pro forma net loss per share of 
Common Stock
Basic $ (0.96)
Diluted $ (0.96)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements.
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FRONTVIEW REIT, INC. 
NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

As of December 31, 2024 and for the Three Months and Year Ended December 31, 2024

Adjustments to the Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Balance Sheet 

There are no adjustments to the unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2024.

Adjustments to the Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Income (Loss)

The adjustments to the unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of income (loss) for the three months and year ended 
December 31, 2024 are as follows: 

A. Reflects the audited historical consolidated statement of income (loss) of the Successor for the three months and year 
ended December 31, 2024. The Company completed its IPO on October 3, 2024. The period from October 1 to October 
2, 2024 is deemed immaterial. As such, three months ended December 31, 2024 was used as the historical starting point 
for the purposes of the three months ended December 31, 2024 unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of income 
(loss).

B. Represents the net adjustments required to the historical results of the Company to reflect the following:

For the 29 properties acquired by the Company during the year ended December 31, 2024, the adjustment to the 
Company’s consolidated statement of income (loss) reflects the operations of these properties assuming the acquisitions 
occurred on January 1, 2024. 

This includes the following: 

(in thousands)
For The Three Months Ended 

December 31, 2024
For The Year Ended December 31, 

2024
Rental revenue $ 1,354 $ 7,481
Depreciation and amortization 776 4,348

C. Represents the net adjustments required to the historical results of the Company to reflect the following:

For the five properties disposed by the Predecessor during the period from January 1, 2024 through September 30, 2024, 
the results of these properties have been eliminated as they will not have a continuing impact on the Company’s 
consolidated statement of income (loss), assuming completion of the dispositions had occurred on January 1, 2024. No 
properties were disposed during the three months ended December 31, 2024.

This includes the following:

(in thousands) For the year ended December 31, 2024
Rental revenue $ (713)
Depreciation and amortization (40)
Property operating expense (27)

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the adjustment to rental revenue includes lease termination fees of approximately 
$0.6 million.

D. Represents the reversal of interest expense (including amortization of deferred financing fees) as a result of repayment of 
the CIBC Revolving Credit Facility, CIBC Term Loan Credit Facility and ABS Notes with the proceeds of this offering 
and funds drawn from the Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility as if the repayment occurred on January 1, 2024 for 
the year ended December 31, 2024. During the three months ended December 31, 2024, the Company borrowed an 
additional $68.5 million from the Revolving Credit Facility to fund new acquisitions during the quarter. The adjustment 
reflects the incremental interest expense on the additional borrowings. For the purposes of computing the pro forma 
adjustment on variable-rate debt, the Company used a one-month SOFR rate of 5.65% plus the applicable margins on the 
debt. A change in one-month SOFR of plus or minus 0.125%, would have increased or decreased the pro forma interest 
expense by approximately $0.3 million.

E. Represents the adjustments required to the historical results of the Company to reflect the costs incurred as a result of the 
Internalization. The total amount of consideration for the Internalization is $17.7 million, of which $16.5 million was 
determined to be a termination cost in accordance with ASC 420 of the management arrangement between the 
Predecessor, NARS, and certain affiliates of NARS and as such was expensed and was recognized at fair value and 
recorded as an expense at the time of the initial public offering. It should be noted that the unaudited pro forma 
consolidated statement of income (loss) may not be indicative of the Company’s future results of operations because the 
Company expects to incur additional recurring general and administrative expenses as a result of becoming a public 
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company, including, but not limited to, employee compensation and benefits, board of directors’ fees and expenses, 
directors’ and officers’ insurance, and incremental legal, audit, tax, consulting and other public reporting and compliance-
related fees and expenses.

The adjustment for general and administrative expenses includes stock-based compensation expense of $1.0 million and 
$3.9 million for the three months and year ended December 31, 2024, respectively. These amounts represent the 
amortization of one-time grants of RSUs that were issued to the Company's founder, executive officers, non-employee 
directors, and certain other employees, and annual grants of RSUs to be made in accordance with the employment 
agreements of the Company's executive officers. The RSUs will vest ratably over terms of approximately four and five 
years for the annual and one time grants, respectively.

The adjustment for general and administrative expenses also includes fees paid in connection with the Company’s 
outsourcing agreement with an entity of NADG not affiliated with the Company that will provide property accounting 
and human resource services in the amounts of $0.1 million and $0.6 million for the three months and year ended 
December 31, 2024. respectively.

This adjustment also reflects the reversal of management fees paid to NARS and certain affiliates of NARS.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act), that are 
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized, and 
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated 
to our management, including our Co-Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions 
regarding required disclosure. As of and for the quarter ended December 31, 2024, we carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness 
of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, under the supervision and with the participation of management, 
including our Co-Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer. Based on the foregoing, our Co-Chief Executive Officers and 
Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective and were operating at a reasonable 
assurance level.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

This annual report does not include a report of management's assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or 
an attestation report of the company's registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by rules of the Securities 
and Exchange Commission for newly public companies.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2024 that 
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

Not applicable.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this Item will be included in the definitive proxy statement and is incorporated herein by reference. 
The Company will file such definitive proxy statement with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the end 
of the Company’s 2024 fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item will be included in the definitive proxy statement and is incorporated herein by reference. 
The Company will file such definitive proxy statement with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the end 
of the Company’s 2024 fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this Item will be included in the definitive proxy statement and is incorporated herein by reference. 
The Company will file such definitive proxy statement with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the end 
of the Company’s 2024 fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this Item will be included in the definitive proxy statement and is incorporated herein by reference. 
The Company will file such definitive proxy statement with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the end 
of the Company’s 2024 fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item will be included in the definitive proxy statement and is incorporated herein by reference. 
The Company will file such definitive proxy statement with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the end 
of the Company’s 2024 fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

Financial Statements

See Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Financial Statement Schedules

See Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. All other schedules are omitted 
because they are not applicable or because the required information is shown in the financial statements or the notes thereto.

Exhibit Index

Exhibit
Number  Description

3.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement of FrontView REIT, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-11 filed September 9, 2024 and incorporated herein by reference).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of FrontView REIT, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's Registration 
Statement on Form S-11/A filed September 24, 2024 and incorporated herein by reference).

4.1* Description of the Company’s Securities.
10.1 Amended and Restated Partnership Agreement of FrontView Operating Partnership LP, dated as of October 3, 2024 

(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 7, 2024 and incorporated herein 
by reference).

10.2+ FrontView REIT, Inc. 2024 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the 
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, filed on October 4, 2024).

10.3+ Employment Agreement with Stephen Preston, dated as of October 3, 2024 (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 7, 2024 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.4+ Employment Agreement with Randall Starr, dated as of October 3, 2024 (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 7, 2024 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5+ Employment Agreement with Drew Ireland, dated as of October 3, 2024 (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 7, 2024 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.6+ Employment Agreement with Timothy Dieffenbacher, dated as of October 3, 2024 (filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 7, 2024 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.7 Form of Indemnification Agreement, between FrontView REIT, Inc. and each of its officers and directors 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, filed on 
September 9, 2024).

10.8 Amended and Restated Internalization Agreement, dated as of July 10, 2024, by and among FrontView REIT, Inc., 
FrontView Operating Partnership LP, NADG NNN Property Fund LP, NADG NNN Operating LP, NADG (US) 
LLLP, NADG (US), Inc., NADG NNN Property Fund GP, LLLP, NADG NNN Operating GP, LLLP and North 
American Realty Services, LLLP (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11/A 
filed September 30, 2024 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.9 Amended and Restated Outsourcing Agreement, dated as of September 27, 2024, by and between FrontView 
Operating Partnership LP and North American Asset Management Corp. (filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-11/A filed September 27, 2024 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.10 Credit Agreement, dated as of September 6, 2024, by and among FrontView Operating Partnership LP, as borrower, 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the other lenders and agents party thereto (filed as 
Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11 filed September 9, 2024 and incorporated 
herein by reference).

10.11* Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 19, 2024, by and among FrontView Operating 
Partnership LP, as borrower, FVR Subsidiary OP LP, as borrower, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative 
agent, and the other lenders and agents party thereto.

10.12* Waiver to Credit Agreement, dated as of September 26, 2024, by and among FrontView Operating Partnership LP, 
the Lenders signatory thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent.

10.13* Amendment to Waiver to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2024, by and among FrontView Operating 
Partnership LP, the Lenders signatory thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent.

19.1* Insider Trading Policy of FrontView REIT, Inc.
21.1* List of Subsidiaries of FrontView REIT, Inc.
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23.1* Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
31.1*  Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2*  Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.3* Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1*  Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2*  Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.3* Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of 

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
97.1* FrontView REIT, Inc. Clawback Policy.
101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because 

XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema With Embedded Linkbase Documents.
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).

* Filed herewith.
+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly 
caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

  FRONTVIEW REIT, INC.
    
Date: March 20, 2025  By: /s/ Stephen Preston
   Stephen Preston

   
Chairman, Co-Chief Executive Officer and Co-President
(Co-Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 20, 2025  By: /s/ Randall Starr
   Randall Starr

   
Co-Chief Executive Officer, Co-President and Director
(Co-Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by the 
following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name  Title  Date
     

/s/ Elizabeth Frank  Director  March 20, 2025
Elizabeth Frank

/s/ Noelle Leveaux  Director  March 20, 2025
Noelle Leveaux

/s/ Daniel Swanstrom  Director  March 20, 2025
Daniel Swanstrom

/s/ Robert S. Green   Director   March 20, 2025
Robert S. Green     
     

/s/ Ernesto Perez   Director   March 20, 2025
Ernesto Perez     
     

/s/ Timothy Dieffenbacher  

 Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting 
Officer)   March 20, 2025

Timothy Dieffenbacher     
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